
1 

Municipal Stability Board 
REGULAR MEETING 

Wednesday, January 16, 2019 at 10:00 a.m. 
Austin Building 

State Treasurer’s Boardroom 
430 W. Allegan Street 

Lansing, MI 48922 

I. Call to Order

A. Roll Call

B. Approval of December 19, 2018 Minutes

II. Public Comment

A. 2 minute limit

III. Correspondence

A. Treasury Update

B. Draft Board Single CAP Approval Resolution

C. Draft Board Single CAP Disapproval Resolution

D. Corrective Action Plan Withdrawal Request

i. Flint Charter Township

IV. Old Business

V. New Business

A. Approval of Updated Bylaws (Resolution 2019-1)

B. Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests

i. Monroe County Road Commission

C. Receipt of Corrective Action Plans:

i. Michigan Works! Region B Consortium

ii. City of Benton Harbor

iii. City of Battle Creek

iv. Wayne County Airport Authority



2 

v. City of Riverview

vi. Saginaw City Housing Commission (2 systems)

vii. Otsego County Road Commission (2 systems)

viii. City of Mount Clemens

ix. Saline Area Fire Department

x. Community Mental Health Authority of Clinton, Eaton, Ingham Counties

xi. City of Essexville

xii. City of Dearborn Heights

xiii. West Iron County Sewer Authority

xiv. Eastern Upper Peninsula Transportation Authority

xv. Marquette County Road Commission (2 systems)

xvi. City of Taylor (3 systems)

xvii. Presque Isle County Road Commission

xviii. City of Montrose

xix. City of Crystal Falls

xx. Bloomfield Township Public Library

xxi. Ottawa County Road Commission

xxii. Montcalm County Road Commission (2 systems)

xxiii. Lansing City Housing Commission

xxiv. Capital Area Transportation Authority

xxv. City of Center Line (2 systems)

xxvi. Jackson District Library

xxvii. Ontonagon County Road Commission

D. Approvals and Disapprovals of Corrective Action Plans (Resolution 2019-2)

i. City of Hastings

ii. Village of Union City



3 

iii. City of Davison (2 systems)

iv. Interurban Transit Partnership (2 systems)

v. Luce County Road Commission (2 systems)

vi. Mackinac County Road Commission

vii. City of New Baltimore

viii. City of Warren (2 systems)

ix. Newaygo County Road Commission

x. City of Oak Park (5 systems)

xi. St. Clair County Road Commission

xii. City of Milan

xiii. Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority

xiv. Charter Township of Redford (2 systems)

xv. City of Highland Park (3 systems)

xvi. City of Lincoln Park (3 systems)

xvii. City of Wayne (2 systems)

xviii. City of Woodhaven

xix. City of Wyandotte

xx. Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Authority

xxi. Cadillac Housing Commission

E. Public Act 202 of 2017 Corrective Action Plan Noncompliance (Resolution 2019-3)

VI. Public Comment

A. 2 minute limit

VII. Board Comment

VIII. Adjournment



 

  
    

  
 

  
   
 

 
 

    
 
 

 
 

   
 
 

 
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
     

    
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

     
   

 
  

 
 

 
    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Municipal Stability Board Minutes 
Wednesday, December 19, 2018 at 10:30 a.m. 

Richard H. Austin Building 
State Treasurer’s Boardroom 

430 W. Allegan Street 
Lansing, MI 48922 

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Eric Scorsone called the meeting to order at 10:30 a.m. 

ROLL CALL 

Members Present: Three 
Eric Scorsone 
Daryl Delabbio 
Barry Howard 

Let the record show that three Board members eligible to vote were present. A quorum 
was present. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Motion was made to approve the minutes regarding the November 14, 2018 board 
meeting. 

Motion moved by Barry Howard and supported by Daryl Delabbio, the Board 
unanimously approved the November 14, 2018 meeting minutes. 3 ayes, 0 nays. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

• No public comment. 

CORRESPONDENCE 

• Rod Taylor and chairman Eric Scorsone thanked Kevin Kubacki for his service to 
the Board and the Department of Treasury and presented him with a Governor’s 
Leadership Coin. 

• Dan Horn reintroduced Nick Brousseau to the Board and stated that he would be 
taking over Kevin Kubacki’s role. 

• Dan Horn introduced newly hired Departmental Analyst, Veronica Miller to the 
Board. 

• Treasury presented PA 202 updates and status tables to the Board. 



 
 

 
 

   
 

 
    

  
 

   
    

 
   

 
 

    
 
 

  
 

    
 

 
  
  
  
   
  
   
  
  
  
  
   
   
   
   
   
  
   
  
  
  
  

 
  

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS 

APPROVALS AND DISAPPROVALS OF CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN EXTENSION 
REQUESTS 

Kevin Kubacki provided the Board with the following two Local Units’ Corrective Action 
Plan Extension Requests: 

• Pathways Community Mental Health Authority (2 systems) (Approved) 
• City of Taylor (Approved) 

Motion was made to approve the two Local Units’ Corrective Action Plan Extension 
Requests. 

Motion moved by Daryl Delabbio and supported by Barry Howard, the Board 
unanimously approved the Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests. 3 ayes. 0 nays. 

RECEIPT OF CORRECTIVE ACTION PLANS 

Kevin Kubacki provided the Board with the following 21 Local Units’ Corrective Action 
Plans: 

• Newaygo County Road Commission 
• City of Lincoln Park (3 systems) 
• Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 
• City of Warren (2 systems) 
• Luce County Road Commission (2 systems) 
• St. Clair County Road Commission 
• City of Milan 
• City of Davison (2 systems) 
• Mackinac County Road Commission 
• City of Oak Park (5 systems) 
• Charter Township of Redford (2 systems) 
• City of Wayne (2 systems) 
• Flint Charter Township 
• City of Wyandotte 
• City of Hastings 
• City of Highland Park (3 systems) 
• City of Woodhaven 
• Cadillac Housing Commission 
• Village of Union City 
• Interurban Transit Partnership (2 systems) 
• City of New Baltimore 

Motion was made to receive the 21 Local Units’ Corrective Action Plans. 



 
    

  
 
 

     
 

 
     

    
        

   
    

 
  
  
  
  
   
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  
  
    
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  
  
   
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Motion moved by Barry Howard and supported by Daryl Delabbio, the Board 
unanimously received the Corrective Action Plans. 3 ayes. 0 nays. 

APPROVALS AND DISAPPROVALS OF CORRECTIVE ACTION PLANS 
(RESOLUTION 2018-18) 

Kevin Kubacki and Nick Brousseau were asked to review the 52 Treasury 
recommendations for approval or disapproval of the Corrective Action Plans (Resolution 
2018-18) with the Board. Mr. Brousseau highlighted the local units that Treasury felt 
partially met the Board’s criteria as well as local units that did not meet the Board’s 
criteria. Mr. Kubacki addressed questions from the Board. 

• L’Anse (Approved) 
• Bay City (Approved) 
• Marshall (Denied) 
• Dowagiac (Approved) 
• Sault Ste. Marie (Approved) 
• Crawford County Road Commission (Approved) 
• City of Gladstone (Approved) 
• City of Iron Mountain (2 systems) (Approved) 
• City of Norway (Approved) 
• City of Eaton Rapids (2 systems) (Approved) 
• Richfield Township (Approved) 
• City of Burton (Approved) 
• City of Flushing (2 systems) (Approved) 
• City of Ironwood (Approved) 
• Traverse City Light and Power Authority (Approved) 
• City of Lansing (3 systems) (Approved) 
• Capital Region Airport Authority (Approved) 
• Tawas Police Authority (Approved) 
• City of Jackson (Approved) 
• Vicksburg District Library (Approved) 
• City of Center Line (2 systems) (Approved) 
• City of St. Clair Shores (2 systems) (Approved) 
• Village of Romeo (Denied) 
• State of Michigan 41B District Court (Approved) 
• City of Midland (Approved) 
• City of Norton Shores (Approved) 
• Charter Township of Bloomfield (Denied) 
• City of Berkley (Approved) 
• City of Clawson (Approved) 
• City of Hazel Park (2 systems) (Approved) 
• City of Madison Heights (3 systems) (Approved) 
• City of Pontiac (Approved) 
• Village of Holly (Approved) 
• Ogemaw County Road Commission (Approved) 
• City of Rogers City (Approved) 



 
  
  
  
  
  
   
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
   
  

 
 

  
    

   
   
     
 

 
   

 
  

  
  

 
  

   
 

    
 

   
 

  
 

 
   
  

   
 

    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• City of Saginaw (2 systems) (Approved)
• City of Marine City (Approved)
• City of Marysville (Approved)
• City of Port Huron (Approved)
• City of Manistique (Approved)
• City of Allen Park (Approved)
• City of Dearborn (Approved)
• City of Gibraltar (Denied)
• City of Grosse Pointe Farms (2 systems) (Approved)
• City of Grosse Ponte Woods (Denied)
• City of Hamtramck (Approved)
• City of Rockwood (Denied)
• City of Romulus (Approved)
• City of Southgate (2 systems) (Approved)
• City of Trenton (Approved)
• City of Westland (2 systems) (Approved)
• Grosse Pointes-Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority (Denied)

Barry Howard had concerns over denying the Charter Township of Bloomfield because 
they are spending money for consulting to eventually get a plan in place. Mr. Howard 
felt it should be approved with possible denial during the monitoring period.  Due to this, 
he requested the Charter Township of Bloomfield be removed from the Resolution 
2018-18 and discussed separately from the other Treasury recommendations found in 
Appendix A. 

A motion was made to remove the Charter Township of Bloomfield from Appendix A. 

Motion moved by Barry Howard and supported by Daryl Delabbio, the Board 
unanimously approved the removal of the Charter Township of Bloomfield from 
Appendix A. 3 ayes. 0 nays. 

A motion was made to approve the Approvals and Denials of Corrective Action Plans 
(Resolution 2018-18) after removing the Charter Township of Bloomfield. 

Motion made by Barry Howard and supported by Daryl Delabbio, the Board 
unanimously approved the Approvals and Denials of Corrective Action Plans 
(Resolution 2018-18) after the removal of the Charter Township of Bloomfield. 

A motion was made to discuss the Charter Township of Bloomfield’s Corrective Action 
Plan and Treasury’s recommendation of denial. 

Motion was moved by Barry Howard and supported by Daryl Delabbio, the Board 
unanimously approved to discuss the Charter Township of Bloomfield’s Corrective 
Action Plan and Treasury’s recommendation of denial.  3 ayes. 0 nays. 

The Board discussed the Charter Township of Bloomfield’s Corrective Action Plan. 



 
  

   
 

      
 

   
 
 

 
 

  
    

 
 

 
 

   
 
 

 
 

    
 
 

 
 

   
      

 
    

 

 

A motion was made to vote to deny the Charter Township of Bloomfield’s Corrective 
Action Plan consistent with Treasury’s recommendation. 

Motion made by Barry Howard and supported by Daryl Delabbio, the Board denied the 
Charter Township of Bloomfield’s Corrective Action Plan.  A voice vote was made with 2 
ayes from Eric Scorsone and Daryl Delabbio and 1 nay from Barry Howard. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

One Public Comment was received: 
• Karl Kramer, the Genesee County Road Commission 

BOARD COMMENT 

Daryl Delabbio and Barry Howard thanked Mr. Kubacki for his service. 

NEXT MEETING 

Next regular meeting will be on January 16, 2019 at 10:00am. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion made to adjourn. Motion moved by Daryl Delabbio, supported by Barry Howard, 
the Board unanimously approved the motion to adjourn. 3 ayes. 0 nays, 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:14 a.m. 



P.A. 202 of 2017 Status Update from Treasury 
As of 1/10/2019 

 
Table 1: PA 202 of 2017 Corrective Action Plan Review FY 2017 

 
Table 2: Corrective Action Plan Review Schedule 

 PA 202: Corrective Action Plan Review Schedule 

LOCAL UNIT TYPE Tentative Month of Corrective Action Plan Review 
JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY TOTAL 

NON-PRIMARY 8 16 8 3 37 8 4 86 
PRIMARY 13 10 6 0 9 8 0 44 
TOTAL 21 26 14 3 46 16 4 130 

 
12/19/2019 Treasury Recommendation Update: Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Authority  
 
Proposed Bylaw Amendment (Resolution 2019-1) and Approval/Disapproval Procedure Update: 

• Resolution 2019-1 amends bylaws for the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) to simplify the 
procedure for a board member to remove a community from the Appendix A list of CAPs to be approved 
or disapproved to allow for further discussion.  

• The amended bylaws would allow any member of the Board to remove a corrective action plan (CAP) 
from a resolution of multiple CAP determinations to be individually voted upon without a motion. This 
would be used if a board member would like to separately consider a CAP(s) from Appendix A for a more 
detailed discussion or if the board member disagrees with Treasury’s recommendation.   

• If a board member takes this action, and after all board members have removed any CAP(s) for 
individual consideration, the board will then vote on the “Resolution to Approve Appendix A as 
Amended”.  

• The chair would then request that the Board discuss each CAP that was removed from the Appendix.  
• The chair would then motion for a resolution to either approve or disapprove the specific CAP that was 

removed from the Appendix, according to the original Treasury recommendation. If more than one CAP 
is removed, there would need to be a specific motion and resolution for each removed CAP to be 
individually voted upon.  

o For simplicity, we recommend that the motion for resolution is phrased as either an approval (or 
disapproval) “of the Corrective Action plan of [insert local unit] consistent with Treasury’s 
recommendation.” 

Example:  
Board Member A disagrees with Treasury’s recommendation to disapprove the CAP of Community X.  
Board Member A states that he would like to remove Community X from Appendix A to be discussed 
and voted upon individually. After approval of the amended resolution, the MSB Chair then asks for a 
motion to disapprove the CAP of Community X, consistent with Treasury’s recommendation.  

PA 202: Corrective Action Plan Analysis FY 2017 
 CAP Submission Status  CAP Approval Status 

LOCAL UNIT TYPE Required Submitted Approved Disapproved Split Pending Non-Compliant 
NON-PRIMARY 109 42 (37%) 18 (43%) 2 (5%) 0 (0%) 22 (52%) 7 (6%) 
PRIMARY 106 77 (71%) 46 (60%) 8 (10%) 0 (0%) 23 (30%) 10 (9%) 
TOTAL 215 119 (53%) 64 (54%) 10 (8%) 0 (0%) 45 (38%) 17 (8%) 



 

MUNICIPAL STABILITY BOARD 
RESOLUTION 2019-XX 

 
APPROVAL OF THE ___________________ 

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed the Protecting Local Government Retirement and 
Benefits Act, MCL 38.2801 et. seq., creating the Municipal Stability Board (the “Board”) for the purpose 
of reviewing and approving corrective action plans submitted by municipalities addressing the 
underfunded status of their municipal retirement systems (the “Corrective Action Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Treasury (“Treasury”) provides administrative services 
to the Board; 

 
WHEREAS, on September 12, 2018, by Resolution 2018-10, the Board adopted the Corrective 

Action Plans Best Practices and Strategies (the “Best Practices”) and Corrective Action Plans Approval 
Criteria (the “Approval Criteria”) pursuant to MCL 38.2808; 

 
WHEREAS, the Best Practices generally require that a plan (i) will sustain legacy costs and 

future retirement benefits; (ii) utilizes modern plan design; and (iii) is administered as effectively as 
possible to maintain a fiscally stable retirement system; 

 
 WHEREAS, the Approval Criteria generally requires that a plan (i) demonstrate how and when a 
retirement system will reach a sixty percent funded ratio for pension systems and/or a forty percent 
funded ratio for retirement health systems; (ii) address the underfunded status within a reasonable 
timeframe; (iii) is legal and feasible; and (iv) is affordable;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board previously received the [___________]’s (the “Municipality”) Corrective 
Action Plan; 
 

WHEREAS, Treasury and the Board have reviewed the Municipality’s Corrective Action Plan 
pursuant to the Best Practices and Approval Criteria; and  

 
WHEREAS, Treasury has provided a recommendation to the Board for the Municipality’s 

Corrective Action Plan. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board determines that the Municipality’s 
Corrective Action Plan sufficiently meets the Best Practices and the Approval Criteria; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board approves the Municipality’s Corrective Action Plan; 

and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Treasury is directed to oversee that the Corrective Action 
Plan is implemented pursuant to MCL 38.2810 and to report to the Board the status of the implementation 
on a regular basis. 

 
Ayes: 
Nays: 
Recused: 
Lansing, Michigan 
[______________] 



 

MUNICIPAL STABILITY BOARD 
RESOLUTION 2019-XX 

 
DISAPPROVAL OF THE _________________ 

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed the Protecting Local Government Retirement and 
Benefits Act, MCL 38.2801 et. seq. (the “Act”), creating the Municipal Stability Board (the “Board”) for 
the purpose of reviewing and approving corrective action plans submitted by municipalities addressing 
the underfunded status of their municipal retirement systems (the “Corrective Action Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Treasury (“Treasury”) provides administrative services 
to the Board; 

 
WHEREAS, on September 12, 2018, by Resolution 2018-10, the Board adopted the Corrective 

Action Plans Best Practices and Strategies (the “Best Practices”) and Corrective Action Plans Approval 
Criteria (the “Approval Criteria”) pursuant to MCL 38.2808; 

 
WHEREAS, the Best Practices generally require that a plan (i) will sustain legacy costs and 

future retirement benefits; (ii) utilizes modern plan design; and (iii) is administered as effectively as 
possible to maintain a fiscally stable retirement system; 

 
 WHEREAS, the Approval Criteria generally requires that a plan (i) demonstrate how and when a 
retirement system will reach a sixty percent funded ratio for pension systems and/or a forty percent 
funded ratio for retirement health systems; (ii) address the underfunded status within a reasonable 
timeframe; (iii) is legal and feasible; and (iv) is affordable;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board previously received the [___________]’s (the “Municipality”) Corrective 
Action Plan;  
 

WHEREAS, Treasury and the Board have reviewed the Municipality’s Corrective Action Plan 
pursuant to the Best Practices and Approval Criteria; and  

 
WHEREAS, Treasury has provided a recommendation to the Board for the Municipality’s 

Corrective Action Plan. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board determines that the Municipality’s 
Corrective Action Plan has failed to sufficiently meet the Best Practices and the Approval Criteria; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board denies the Municipality’s Corrective Action Plan;  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Treasury is directed to provide to the Municipality 

notification of the Board’s detailed reasons for the disapproval of the Municipality’s Corrective Action 
Plan (the “Disapproval Letter”) within fifteen days of this resolution pursuant to MCL 38.2810(4); and 

 



 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Municipality shall be deemed in noncompliance with the 
Act if it fails to resubmit a Corrective Action Plan materially addressing the reasons for disapproval 
within sixty days of the Disapproval Letter as required by MCL 38.2810(4).  

 
 
 

Ayes: 
Nays: 
Recused: 
Lansing, Michigan 
[____________] 



 

 
 

    
  

   

 
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

 

 
     

 
      

 
  

  
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4425 (Rev. 01-19) 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY GRETCHEN WHITMER RACHAEL EUBANKS 
GOVERNOR LANSING STATE TREASURER 

DATE: January 16, 2019 

TO: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 

FROM: Department of Treasury, Community Engagement and Finance Division 

SUBJECT: Flint Charter Township: Withdrawal Request for corrective action plan (CAP) 

The Board officially received the CAP for the Flint Charter Township at their December 2018 
meeting. Flint Charter Township has asked the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) to 
remove from consideration its CAP, so the township can provide additional supplemental 
information to the Board. Flint Charter Township's CAP is due March 29, 2019.

Suggested action: No action is required. Treasury did not include the Flint Charter Township 
from Resolution 2019-2. 

P.O. BOX 30728 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-8228 
www.michigan.gov/treasury 

http://www.michigan.gov/Treasury


 

 

 
 

 
 

From: bethtakacs 
To: LocalRetirementReporting 
Cc: kmiller 
Subject: Flint Charter Township MSB Withdraw Request 
Date: Monday, January 7, 2019 4:24:05 PM 

The Flint Charter Township is requesting that the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) delay action 
on our corrective action plan until we submit supplemental information by March 30, 2019. As a 
result of providing additional information, we request the MSB vote to approve or deny our 
corrective action plan the following month. 

Sincerely, 

Beth Takacs, Controller 
Flint Charter Township
1490 S Dye Road
Flint, MI  48532 
Direct Line:  810-600-3231 
Fax:  810-600-3244 
email:  bethtakacs@flinttownship.org 

mailto:LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov
mailto:kmiller@flinttownship.org
mailto:bethtakacs@flinttownship.org


 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

   
 
  

        
       

   
 

   
 

  

    
          

        
                

        
    

  
 

 
 

 

     
   

           
    

     
   

    
   

         
       

      
   

  
     

  
     

  

MUNICIPAL STABILITY BOARD 
FOR 

THE STATE OF MICHIGAN 

Amended and Restated Bylaws 

ARTICLE I 

Adoption of Bylaws 

The Municipal Stability Board for the State of Michigan (the "Board") adopts these Bylaws to 
govern its organization and operations pursuant to the Protecting Local Government Retirement and 
Benefits Act, Act No. 202, Michigan Public Acts of 2017 (the "Act"). 

ARTICLE II 

Members - Term of Office 

The members of the Board, their terms of office, and the method of selecting the members shall 
be as set forth in Sections 7(2) and (4) of the Act. Appointed members of the Board shall serve their term 
unless removed for cause or a member submits their resignation. A vacancy on the Board occurring other 
than by expiration of a term shall be filled by the Governor of the State of Michigan in the same manner 
as the original appointment for the balance of the unexpired term. Each member of the Board shall take 
and subscribe to the constitutional oath of office under Section 1 of Article XI of the Constitution of 
Michigan of 1963.  The oath shall be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Michigan. 

ARTICLE III  

Officers and Employees 

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Board shall be the Chairperson and other officers as 
may be designated by Board resolution. 

Section 2. Chairperson. The member of the Board appointed under subsection (2)(a) of the 
Act shall be the Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Board. 

Section 3. Vice-Chairperson. The Chairperson may select a Vice-Chairperson who shall 
serve at the pleasure of the Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Board 
upon request of the Chairperson, including in the absence of the Chairperson.  The Vice-Chairperson shall 
have the other duties and responsibilities as delegated by the Chairperson and as permitted by law. 

Section 4. Board Officer Vacancies. Should the office of Vice-Chairperson become vacant 
and the Board desires to appoint a replacement, the Board shall select a successor from its membership. 

Section 5. Retention of Professionals.  The Board may contract for professional services, as 
it requires, and shall determine the qualifications it considers necessary. "Professional services" means 
services that require a high degree of intellectual skill, an advanced degree, or professional licensing or 
certification. Those providing the professional services are distinguished based on their specialized 
knowledge, experience, and expertise.  Professional services include, but are not limited to, accounting, 
actuarial, appraisal, auditing, investment advisor, and legal services. Any use of or contract for legal 
services requires prior approval by the Department of Attorney General. 

1 



 

 
 

     
     

   
      

  

       
    

 

 
 

 

      
            

     
   

  
   

  
     

       
     

   

      
      

       
      

        
       

   

   
         

       
         

 

   
       

   
 

      
 

Section 6. Budgeting, Procurement, Personnel, and Related Management Functions. Except 
as otherwise provided in the Act, the Board shall exercise its powers, duties, functions, and 
responsibilities under the Act independently of the State Treasurer. The budgeting, procurement, 
personnel, and related management functions of the Board shall be performed under the direction and 
supervision of the State Treasurer. 

Section 7. Compensation. Members of the Board shall serve without compensation for their 
service on the Board, but may receive reasonable reimbursement for necessary travel and expenses 
incurred in the discharge of their official duties. 

ARTICLE IV  

Meetings 

Section 1. Regular and Special Meetings. Regular Meetings of the Board shall be held no 
less than quarterly at the times and places determined by the Chairperson. Special Meetings of the Board 
shall be held at such times and such places as may be determined by the Board at any Regular or Special 
Meeting, or at any other times and places as determined by the Chairperson. The call for a Regular 
Meeting, specifying the time and place of the meeting and the suggested agenda shall be delivered in 
person, mailed, faxed, or emailed to each member of the Board prior to the date of such meeting. The call 
for a Special Meeting specifying the time and place for such meeting may be emailed (confirmation 
required) or given by telephone to the business or home address or cell phone of each member of the 
Board not less than 18 hours before the time of the meeting. Notice, posting and other procedures for the 
call of Regular or Special Meetings shall always be performed in accordance with the Open Meetings 
Act, Act No. 267, Michigan Public Acts of 1976 (the “Open Meetings Act”). 

Section 2. Quorum. A majority of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum of 
the Board for the transaction of business at a meeting, or the exercise of a power or function of the Board. 

Section 3. Action by the Board. The Board shall only take the actions approved by a 
resolution or motion of the Board which had a concurring vote of a majority of the members of the Board. 

Section 4. Policies and Procedures. The Board may establish rules and procedures by 
resolution which govern the meetings and the members of the Board, provided such rules and procedures 
comply with the Act and the Open Meetings Act. 

Section 4.Section 5. Resolutions Involving Multiple Municipalitiesy Resolutions. Any 
member of the Board may unilaterally remove any municipality from resolutions involving multiple 
municipalities prior to voting on such resolution. This removal does not require a second or a vote by the 
Board. All removed municipalities shall be considered by separate individual resolutions at the same 
meeting. 

Section 5.Section 6. Manner of Voting. The voting on a resolution shall be by a roll call vote. 
The voting on all other questions at a meeting of the Board shall be by a voice vote, unless a member 
requests a roll call. In the case of either a roll call vote or a voice vote, the individual yeas and nays shall 
be entered in the minutes of that meeting. 

Section 6.Section 7. Public Meetings. All meetings of the Board shall be held in compliance 
with the Open Meetings Act. 

2 



 

 
 

    
       

    
           

    
   

   
      

    

 
 

  

   
   

      
 

   
 

 

       
  

  

     
   

  

     
            

 

     
     

    
   

   
 

  

   
 

 

Section 7.Section 8. Minutes. Minutes of all the Board meetings, including all votes, shall be 
kept on file in the Department of Treasury. Proposed minutes for a Board meeting shall be prepared 
within eight business days of the meeting. The minutes shall be corrected and approved at the succeeding 
meeting. If corrected, the minutes shall show both the original entry and the correction. The minutes for 
each meeting of the Board shall be open and available to the public in compliance with the Open 
Meetings Actand the Freedom of Information Act, Act No. 442, Michigan Public Acts of 1976. 

Section 8.Section 9. Resolutions and Effective Date. All resolutions shall be in writing and 
shall be kept on file in the Department of Treasury. Resolutions shall become effective on the day of 
passage, upon adjournment of the meeting, unless otherwise stated in the resolution. 

ARTICLE V  

Liability of Members, Officers, and Employees 

To the greatest extent authorized by law, no provision of these bylaws or any agreement or policy 
approved by the Board, shall be construed to waive the governmental immunity afforded to the Board 
under law. The Board, its agents and representatives, retain all governmental and official immunities 
conferred by law. 

ARTICLE VI 

Miscellaneous Provisions 

Section 1. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Board shall extend from October 1 of each 
calendar year to the ensuing September 30 of the following calendar year, unless the State's fiscal year 
changes, and then in that case, the Board's fiscal year shall be the same as the State's fiscal year. 

Section 2. Execution of Documents. The Board may authorize by resolution the execution 
of documents or certificates on behalf of the Board by the members of the Board and other authorized 
officers of the Board as it considers appropriate. 

Section 3. Conflict of Interest. Members of the Board and contractors or agents of the 
Board shall be subject to the provisions of Act No. 317, Michigan Public Acts of 1968 and Act No. 318, 
Michigan Public Acts of 1968. 

Section 4. Conflict with the Act. To the extent that there is any conflict between these 
Bylaws and the Act or the underlying statutes, the Act and the underlying statutes shall control. 

Section 5. Ethical Duties.  Members of the Board and contractors or agents of the Board 
shall be subject to the provisions of the State Ethics Act, Act No. 196, Michigan Public Acts of 1973. 

ARTICLE VII 

Amendment and Suspension of Bylaws 

Section 1. Amendment. These Bylaws may be amended by resolution adopted by the 
affirmative vote of a majority of the members. Advance notice of motions to amend the Bylaws need not 
be given. 

3 



 

 
 

       
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2. Suspension. Any and all of the provisions of the Bylaws, except those required 
by state law, may be suspended by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members. 

Adopted:  __/__/18 

4 



 

 
 

    
   

   

 
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

 

 
    

 
   

 
    

  
  

 
   

    
 

  
     

 
  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4425 (Rev. 01-19) 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY GRETCHEN WHITMER RACHAEL EUBANKS 
GOVERNOR LANSING STATE TREASURER 

DATE: January 16, 2019 

TO:  The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 

FROM: Community Engagement and Finance Division, Department of Treasury 

SUBJECT: Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests 

Suggested Action: The Board motions to approve the following corrective action plan 
extension requests, extending the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 days. 

1. Monroe County Road Commission 
a. OPEB: Monroe County Road Commission Retire Health Care Plan 

Per Section 10(1) of Public Act 202 of 2017: The board may extend the 180-day deadline 
by up to an additional 45 days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a 
corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

P.O. BOX 30728 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-8228 
www.michigan.gov/treasury • 517-373-3227 

http://www.michigan.gov/Treasury
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/Corrective_action__Plan-2017_Monroe_county_Road_Commission_Monroe_county_road_commission_health_plan_642724_7.pdf


 

 
 

    
   

   

 
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

 

 
    

 
   

 
   

  
   

 
  

  
 

  
    

 
  

    
 

  
    

 
   

    
 

  
  

 
   

   
    

 
   

  
   

 
  

   

4425 (Rev. 01-19) 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY GRETCHEN WHITMER RACHAEL EUBANKS 
GOVERNOR LANSING STATE TREASURER 

DATE: January 16, 2019 

TO:  The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 

FROM: Community Engagement and Finance Division, Department of Treasury 

SUBJECT: Receipt of Corrective Action Plans 

Suggested Action: The Board motions to receive the following corrective action plans, which 
will be considered at their next scheduled meeting: 

1. Michigan Works! Region B Consortium
a. OPEB: Retirement Health Care

2. City of Benton Harbor
a. Pension: Municipal Employee’s Retirement System of Michigan – MERS

3. City of Battle Creek
a. Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan

4. Wayne County Airport Authority
a. OPEB: Wayne County Airport Authority Retirement Health Benefit System

5. City of Riverview
a. OPEB: City of Riverview Retiree Health Care Benefits

6. Saginaw City Housing Commission
a. Pension: Municipal Employee's Retirement System of Michigan
b. OPEB: Saginaw Housing Commission Retirement Benefits Self-funded

7. Otsego County Road Commission
a. Pension: MERS
b. OPEB: Otsego County Road Commission

8. City of Mount Clemens
a. OPEB: City of Mount Clemens Retiree Health Care Trust

P.O. BOX 30728 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-8228 
www.michigan.gov/treasury 

http://www.michigan.gov/Treasury


 
 
 

  
    

 
   

  
 

  
  

 
  

  
 

  
  

 
   

   
 

  
   
    

 
   

    
   
   

 
  

   
 

  
  
   

 
  

   
 

  
  

 
 
 

Page 2 

9. Saline Area Fire Department 
a. OPEB: Corrective Action Plan – 2017 

10. Community Mental Health Authority of Clinton, Eaton, Ingham Counties 
a. Pension: Clinton Eaton Ingham CMH 

11. City of Essexville 
a. OPEB: Essexville Retiree Health Care Benefits 

12. City of Dearborn Heights 
a. OPEB: Dearborn Heights Retiree Health Plan 

13. West Iron County Sewer Authority 
a. Pension: MERS 

14. Eastern Upper Peninsula Transportation Authority 
a. Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System 

15. Marquette County Road Commission 
a. Pension: MERS Pension Plan 
b. OPEB: Retiree Health Plan 

16. City of Taylor 
a. Pension: General Government Employees’ Retirement System 
b. Pension: Police and Fire Retirement System 
c. OPEB: Taylor OPEB System 

17. Presque Isle County Road Commission 
a. Pension: Municipal Employees Retirement System 

18. City of Montrose 
a. OPEB: Union 
b. OPEB: Non-Union 

19. City of Crystal Falls 
a. OPEB: City of Crystal Falls OPEB 

20. Bloomfield Township Public Library 
a. OPEB: Bloomfield Township Other Post-Employment Benefits Program 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 

Page 3 

21. Ottawa County Road Commission
a. OPEB: Retiree Healthcare Benefit Plan

22. Montcalm County Road Commission
a. Pension: Montcalm County Road Commission - MERS
b. OPEB: Montcalm County Road Commission Retiree Health Insurance

23. Lansing City Housing Commission
a. OPEB: None

24. Capital Area Transportation Authority
a. OPEB: Retiree Healthcare Benefit Plan

25. City of Center Line
a. Pension: MERS – City of Center Line
b. OPEB: OPEB Trust retiree Healthcare plan

26. Jackson District Library
a. OPEB: Jackson District Library Retiree Medical Plan

27. Ontonagon County Road Commission
a. Pension: MERS 

Corrective Action Plan Review: Following receipt of these corrective action plans, the 
Board shall approve or reject each corrective action plan within 45 days. The Board will vote 
on these corrective action plans at their next scheduled meeting. 















  

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Attachment 1 - page 1
Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (05-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 
Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

1. MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: ____________________________CITY OF BENTON HARBOR ___  Six-Digit Muni Code: __________________________ 112010 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name: __________________________________________________________ MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEE'S RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MICHIGAN-MERS 

DARWIN WATSON Contact Name (Administrative Officer):__________________________________________________________ 

Title if not Administrative Officer: ______________________________________________________________ CITY MANAGER 

(269) 927-8457 Email:________________________________________  dwatson@cityofbentonharbormi.gov Telephone Number:___________________________ 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 
required contribution for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is greater 
than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 
days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 
government’s administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 
approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 
10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 
determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for 
review by the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete 
separate plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate 
PDF document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees’ Retirement System 
Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 
must allow for receipt of Treasury’s automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 
application(s).  

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board shall review and vote on the approval of a corrective action 
plan submitted by a local unit of government. If corrective action is approved, the Board will monitor the corrective 
action for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of government’s compliance with the Act 
not less than every two years. 

 



 

 

 

     
    

Attachment 1 - page 2

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 
underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 
underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards. 

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 
begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance. 

3.  DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system’s underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

 
 



 

  

 

  

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 - page  3

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system’s funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: The system’s multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees’ Retirement System on January 1, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 
our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020.  
1. City administered pension plan closed and Municipal Employee's Retirement System of Michigan (MERS) 
appointed as administrator July 31, 2013. 2. Defined Benefit plan closed and hybrid plan offered to all new hires after 
April 1, 2013. 3. Reduced multiplier. 4. Changed Final Average Compensation calculation to remove OT, Holiday, 
Vacation and Sick pay. Detail statements and proof of change included in Attachments 6 a-h. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees’ Retirement 
System on January 1, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 
system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 
the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 
1. Increase in Employer contributions 
2. Increase in Employee contributions 

Detail statements and proof of change include on Attachments 4 a-e. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 
an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on page 13.  
Enterprise Fund employees in pension plan-IMPACT:Including the Enterprise Fund revenue in the revenue ratio would 
reduce the ratio from 13.8% to 9.8% PROOF:21% of the City's retirement liabilities are attributable to employees 
within the Enterprise fund. By including the Enterprise operating revenue of $3,288,603 (attachment 7a) with the 
governmental fund revenue of $8,078,323 would increase the revenue in the calculation to $11,366,926 resulting in a 
revenue ratio of $1,115,747 divided by $11,366,926 or 9.8%. Also see closing statement from the City (attachment 7b) 

4.  DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system’s underfunded 
status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 
use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 
have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 
impact the retirement system as a whole. 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

 
 



 

  

 

 
  

__________________________________________________________________________

Attachment 1 - page 4

Category of Prospective Actions:  

System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system’s 
multiplier for current employees from 2.5X to 2X for the General Employees’ Retirement System. On page 8 of the 
attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 
changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 
Major system design changes have already been implemented - see attachment 7b. 

Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 
General Employees’ Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 
contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. Please see page 12 of the 
attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system’s funded ratio with this additional 
contribution. 

Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 

The City of Benton Harbor will contribute a minimum of an additional 10% annually over the amount computed as the 
actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the system. 

actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 
liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years.  This will allow the retirement 
system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13.  

Major system design changes have already been implemented - see attachment 7b. 

5. CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

City of Benton Harbor Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) _______________________________  
to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 
your long-term budget forecast? 

Yes 
No 
If No, Explain: __ 

 



Attachment 1 - page 5





































 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

      

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (08-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 
Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

1.  MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: ____________________________Saginaw Housing Commission ___  Six-Digit Muni Code: __________________________ 732101 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name: __________________________________________________________ Municipal Employee's Retirement System of Michigan 

Lesley Foxx Contact Name (Administrative Officer):__________________________________________________________ 

Title if not Administrative Officer: ______________________________________________________________ Executive Director 

Email:________________________________________  lfoxx@saginawhousing.org Telephone:_________________________________ (989) 755-8183 

2.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 
required contribution (ARC) for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is 
greater than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal 
year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 
days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 
government’s administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 
approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 
10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 
determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The submitted plan must demonstrate through distinct supporting documentation how and when the local unit will 
reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, the submitted plan may 
demonstrate how and when the ARC for all of the defined benefit pension systems will be less than 10% of annual 
governmental fund revenues, as defined by the Act. Supporting documentation for the funding ratio and/or ARC must 
include an actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an internally developed analysis. The local unit must project 
governmental fund revenues using a reasonable forecast based on historical trends and projected rates of inflation. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for review by 
the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete separate 
plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate PDF 
document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees’ Retirement System 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

     
    

 

 

 

 
Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 
must allow for receipt of Treasury’s automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 
application(s).  

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) shall review and vote on the approval of a 
corrective action plan submitted by a local unit of government. If a corrective action plan is approved, the Board will 
monitor the corrective action plan for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of 
government’s compliance with the Act not less than every two years. 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 
underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 
underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards.  

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 
begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the Act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance.  

 
3.  DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system’s underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system’s funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: The system’s multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees’ Retirement System on January 1, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 
our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020.  

Closed DB plan to eligible employees enrolled after 4/28/06. Opened a Hybrid system to eligible employees and new 
hires beginning July 1, 2014 with a lower tier benefits such as 1% multiplier and normal retirement age of 60 years old. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees’ Retirement 
System on January 1, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 
system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 
the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 
an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on page 13.  

4.  DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system’s underfunded 
status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 
use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 
have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 
impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 
 



 
 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Category of Prospective Actions:  

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system’s 
multiplier for current employees from 2.5X to 2X for the General Employees’ Retirement System. On page 8 of the 
attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 
changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 
General Employees’ Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 
contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. Please see page 12 of the 
attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system’s funded ratio with this additional 
contribution. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 
liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years.  This will allow the retirement 
system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13.  

  

The Saginaw Housing Commission will make additional payments to fund the pension in phases throughout the year. 
As assessment will be done quarterly/semi-annually to determine how much the housing authority can additionally 
fund based on the cash flow and financial health of the housing authority. After this assessment is completed, a 
payment will be made. The agency's goal is to be 60% funded within 5 years. The first payment of $75,000 will be 
made in December 2018. 

The actuarial valuation for 2017 shows the funding ratio will reach 60% in approximately 2036. If the Saginaw 
Housing Commission can make three additional payments of $150,000 for this fiscal year and the two thereafter, the 
funding ratio will reach 61% by 2021 and 100% funded by 2037 - see estimated projected employer funded ratios. 



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
5.  CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

Saginaw Housing Commission Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) _____________________________ 
to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 
your long-term budget forecast? 

 Yes 
 No 
If No, Explain 

6.  DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this Corrective Action Plan. The documentation should detail the 
corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government’s underfunded 
status. Please check all documents that are included as part of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 
below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 
than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 
example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document “Attachment 2a” and 
the second document “Attachment 2b”. 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

 Attachment – 1  This Corrective Action Plan Form (Required) 

 Attachment – 1a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

 Attachment – 2a An actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an 
internally developed analysis, which illustrates how and 
when the local unit will reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, 
if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county,  
ARC will be less than 10% of governmental fund 
revenues, as defined by the Act. (Required) 

 Attachment – 3a  Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

 Attachment – 4a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 
years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

 Attachment – 5a  A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system’s funded ratio 

 Attachment –6a Other documentation not categorized above 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
7.  CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN CRITERIA 
Please confirm that each of the four corrective action plan criteria listed below have been satisfied when submitting 
this document. Specific detail on corrective action plan criteria can be found in the Corrective Action Plan 
Development: Best Practices and Strategies document. 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria Description 

 Underfunded Status  Is there a description and adequate supporting documentation 
of how and when the retirement system will reach the 60% 
funded ratio? Or, if your local unit is a city, village, township, or 
county, how and when the ARC of all pension systems will be 
less than 10 percent of governmental fund revenues? 

 Reasonable Timeframe Do the corrective actions address the underfunded status in a 
reasonable timeframe (see CAP criteria issued by the Board)?  

 Legal and Feasible Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are 
all required administrative certifications and governing body 
approvals included? Are the actions listed feasible? 

 Affordability Do the corrective action(s) listed allow the local unit to make 
the annual required contribution payment for the pension 
system now and into the future without additional changes to 
this corrective action plan? 

8.  LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT’S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

I ____________________________, as the government’s administrative officer (enter title) Lesley Foxx
_____________________________ (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive Officer,  Executive Director 
etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this Corrective 
Action Plan. 

I confirm to the best of my knowledge that because of the changes listed above, one of the following statements will 
occur: 

 The _________________________________(Insert Retirement Pension System Name) will achieve a Saginaw Housing Commission 
funded status of at least 60% by Fiscal Year ________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation 2023 
listed in section 6. 

OR, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county: 

 The ARC for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of ________________________ (Insert local 
unit name) will be less than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues by Fiscal 
Year _________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation listed in section 6. 

Signature _____________________________________  Date ______________________________ 

 
 



 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

      
 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Michigan Department of Treasury 
5597 (08-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 
Retirement Health Benefit Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

1.  MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: ____________________________Saginaw Housing Commission ___  Six-Digit Muni Code: __________________________ 

Retirement Health Benefit System Name:_________________________________________________________ Saginaw Housing Commission Retirement Benefits Self-funded 

Lesley Foxx Contact Name (Administrative Officer):__________________________________________________________ 

Title if not Administrative Officer: ______________________________________________________________ Executive Director 

Email:________________________________________  lfoxx@saginawhousing.org Telephone:_________________________________ (989) 755-8183 

2.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one retirement health benefit system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. Underfunded status 
for a retirement health system is defined as being less than 40% funded according to the most recent audited financial 
statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annual required contribution 
(ARC) for all of the retirement health systems of the local unit of government is greater than 12% of the local unit of 
government’s annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board. The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 days if the 
local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of the Act, this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local government’s administrative 
officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body approving this Corrective Action 
Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 10(4) of the Act, failure to provide 
documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a determination of noncompliance 
by the Board. 

The submitted plan must demonstrate through distinct supporting documentation how and when the local unit will 
reach the 40% funded ratio. Or, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, the submitted plan may 
demonstrate how and when the ARC for all of the retirement healthcare systems will be less than 12% of annual 
governmental fund revenues, as defined by the Act. Supporting documentation for the funding ratio and/or ARC must 
include an actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an internally developed analysis. The local unit must project 
governmental fund revenues using a reasonable forecast based on historical trends and projected rates of inflation. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for review by 
the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete separate 
plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate PDF 
document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees’ Retirement System OPEB 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 

      
    

 

 

 

 

 

 
Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings must 
allow for receipt of Treasury’s automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the application(s).  

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) shall review and vote on the approval of a 
corrective action plan submitted by a local unit of government. If a corrective action plan is approved, the Board will 
monitor the corrective action plan for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of 
government’s compliance with the Act not less than every two years. 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 
underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status, as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 
underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Requiring cost sharing of premiums and sufficient copays. 

(ii) Capping employer costs. 

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 
begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the Act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance.  

 
3.  DESCRIPTION OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system’s underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system’s funded ratio. 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Category of Prior Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Changes to coverage levels 
(including retiree co-payments, deductibles, and Medicare eligibility), changes to premium cost-sharing, eligibility 
changes, switch to defined contribution retiree health care plan, changes to retiree health care coverage for new 
hires, etc. 

Sample Statement: Benefit levels of the retired membership mirrors the current collective bargaining agreement for each 
class of employee. On January 1, 2017, the local unit entered into new collective bargaining agreements with the Command 
Officers Association and Internal Association of Firefighters that increased employee co-payments and deductibles for 
healthcare. These coverage changes resulted in an improvement to the retirement system’s funded ratio. Please see page 12 of 
the attached actuarial analysis that indicates the system is 40% funded as of June 30, 2017. 
Retiree healthcare or life insurance is not eligible for employees hired after July 1, 2007 or enter the AFSCME union 
after January 1, 2008. Retiree healthcare or life insurance is not eligible for employees hired after July 1, 2007 or 
enter the SEIU union after July 1, 2012. Retiree healthcare for union employees is subject to healthcare caps 
beginning July 1, 2014. A spouse must be added to plan five years prior to retirement to be eligible for coverage. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: paying the annual required contribution in 
addition to retiree premiums, voluntary contributions above the annual required contribution, bonding, millage 
increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit created a qualified trust to receive, invest, and accumulate assets for retirement 
healthcare on June 23, 2016. The local unit of government has adopted a policy to change its funding methodology from Pay-
Go to full funding of the Annual Required Contribution (ARC). Additionally, the local unit has committed to contributing $500,000 
annually, in addition to the ARC for the next five fiscal years. The additional contributions will increase the retirement system’s 
funded ratio to 40% by 2022. Please see page 10 of the attached resolution from our governing body demonstrating the 
commitment to contribute the ARC and additional $500,000 for the next five years. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 
an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 42% as indicated on page 13.  
According to the last OPEB report for June 30, 2018, we have 101% of the cost contributed. 

4.  DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
prospective actions implemented by the local government to address the retirement system’s underfunded status 
within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to use to 
indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that have 
multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes impact 
the retirement system as a whole. 

 
 



 
Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Category of Prospective Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Changes to coverage levels 
(including retiree co-payments, deductibles, and Medicare eligibility), changes to premium cost-sharing, eligibility 
changes, switch to defined contribution retiree health care plan, changes to retiree health care coverage for new 
hires, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit will seek to align benefit levels for the retired membership with each class of active 
employees. Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek revised collective bargaining agreements 
with the Command Officers Association and Internal Association of Firefighters to increase employee co-payments 
and deductibles for healthcare. These coverage changes would result in an improvement to the retirement system’s funded ratio. 
Please see page 12 of the attached actuarial analysis that indicates the system would be 40% funded by fiscal year 2020 if 

 

these changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: meeting the annual required contribution in 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

addition to retiree premiums, voluntary contributions above the annual required contribution, bonding, millage 
increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit will create a qualified trust to receive, invest, and accumulate assets for retirement 
healthcare by December 31, 2018. The local unit of government will adopt a policy to change its funding methodology from 
Pay-Go to full funding of the Annual Required Contribution (ARC) by December 31, 2018. Additionally, beginning in fiscal year 
2019, the local unit will contribute $500,000 annually in addition to the ARC for the next five fiscal years. The additional 
contributions will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 40% by 2022. Please see page 10 of the attached resolution 
from our governing body demonstrating the commitment to contribute the ARC and additional $500,000 for the next five years. 

The Saginaw Housing Commission will create a qualified trust to receive, invest, and accumulate assets for retirement 
healthcare by June 30, 2019. Beginning in fiscal year ending 2020, the agency will begin to fund based on the cash 
flow and financial health of the housing authority. The agency will become 40% funded by 2049. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the 
healthcare liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years.  This will allow the 
health system to reach a funded status of 42% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13.  

 

The Saginaw Housing Commission will review the new actuarial report for other considerations when received. The 
letter of engagement was accepted July 31, 2018. 



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
5.  CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

Saginaw Housing Commission Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) _______________________________ 
to make, at a minimum, the retiree premium payment, as well as the normal cost payments for all new hires (if 
applicable), for the retirement health benefit system according to your long-term budget forecast? 

 Yes 
 No 
If No, Explain 

6.  DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this corrective action plan. The documentation should detail the 
corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government’s underfunded 
status. Please check all documents that are included as part of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 
below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 
than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 
example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document “Attachment 2a” and 
the second document “Attachment 2b”. 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

 Attachment – 1  This Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

 Attachment – 1a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

 Attachment – 2a An actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an 
internally developed analysis, which illustrates how and 
when the local unit will reach the 40% funded ratio. Or, 
if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, 
ARC will be less than 12% of governmental fund 
revenues, as defined by the Act. (Required) 

 Attachment – 3a  Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

 Attachment – 4a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 
years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

 Attachment – 5a  A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system’s funded ratio 

 Attachment – 6a  Other documentation, not categorized above 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 
7.  CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN CRITERIA 
Please confirm that each of the four corrective action plan criteria listed below have been satisfied when submitting 
this document. Specific detail on corrective action plan criteria can be found in the Corrective Action Plan 
Development: Best Practices and Strategies document. 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria Description 

 Underfunded Status  Is there a description and adequate supporting documentation 
of how and when the retirement system will reach the 40% 
funded ratio? Or, if your local unit is a city, village, township, or 
county, how and when the ARC of all retirement healthcare 
systems will be less than 12 percent of governmental fund 
revenues? 

 Reasonable Timeframe Do the corrective actions address the underfunded status in a 
reasonable timeframe (see CAP criteria issued by the Board)?  

 Legal and Feasible Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are 
all required administrative certifications and governing body 
approvals included? Are the actions listed feasible? 

 Affordability Do the corrective action(s) listed allow the local unit to make 
the retiree healthcare premium payment, as well as normal cost 
payment for new hires now and into the future without 
additional changes to this corrective action plan? 

8.  LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT’S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

I, ______________________________, as the government’s administrative officer (insert title) Lesley Foxx 
_______________________________ (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive Executive Director 
Officer, etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this 
Corrective Action Plan. 

I confirm to the best of my knowledge that because of the changes listed above, one of the following statements will 
occur: 

 The ___________________________________ (Insert Retirement Healthcare System Name) will SHC Retiree Healthcare Plan 
achieve a funded status of at least 40% by Fiscal Year ________ as demonstrated by required supporting 2049 
documentation listed in section 6. 

OR, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county: 

 The ARC for all of the retirement healthcare systems of ________________________________ (Insert 
local unit name) will be less than 12% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues by 
Fiscal Year __________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation listed in section 6. 

Signature ______________________________________  Date ___________________________ 

 
 



































































































































 

  

 

Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (08-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 

Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

I. MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name:  City of Taylor Six-Digit Muni Code:  822280 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name:  General Government Employees' Retirement System 

Contact Name (Administrative Officer):  Jason Couture 

Title if not Administrative Officer: Finance Director 

Email:  jcouture@ci.taylor.mi.us Telephone: (734) 287-6550 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 
required contribution (ARC) for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is 
greater than 10% of the local unit of government's annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal 
year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 
days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 
government's administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 

approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 
10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 
determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The submitted plan must demonstrate through distinct supporting documentation how and when the local unit will 
reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, the submitted plan may 
demonstrate how and when the ARC for all of the defined benefit pension systems will be less than 10% of annual 
governmental fund revenues, as defined by the Act. Supporting documentation for the funding ratio and/or ARC must 
include an actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an internally developed analysis. The local unit must project 
governmental fund revenues using a reasonable forecast based on historical trends and projected rates of inflation. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for review by 
the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete separate 
plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate PDF 
document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees' Retirement System 

Page 1 

mailto:LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov
mailto:jcouture@ci.taylor.mi.us


Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 
must allow for receipt of Treasury's automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 
application(s). 

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) shall review and vote on the approval of a 
corrective action plan submitted by a local unit of government. If a corrective action plan is approved, the Board will 
monitor the corrective action plan for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of 

government's compliance with the Act not less than every two years. 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 

underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 

underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards. 

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 

begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the Act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance. 

3. DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system's underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

> Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

Page 2 



Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system's funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

11 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement The system's multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees' Retirement System on January 1, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 

our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020. 
The defined benefit pension system was closed for all new hires. Taylor Governmental Management Association 
employees hired after 3/6/2001, Local 1128 and 1917 AFSCME employees hired after 12/22/2004 and elected 
officials hired after 11/8/2005 are not allowed to participate in the defined benefit plan. Employees hired after these 
dates can particpate ini the City's defined contribution plan. 

El Additional Funding — Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees' Retirement 
System on January 1, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 

system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system's funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 

the attached enacted budget which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 
Since fiscal year 2013-14, the City has adjusted acturial assumptions to increase contributions to the pension system. 
The employer contribution in 2013-14 was $2,379,647 based on a 30-year amortization schedule (Attachment 1B). 
The current employer contribution for fiscal year 2018-19 is $3,968,766 based on 21-year amortization schedule 
(Attachment 1C). Decreasing the amortization period contributed to the approximate annual increase of $1,200,000 to 
$1,500,000 in employer contributions over the past two years. 

El Other Considerations — Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 

an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on pane 13. 
A large porton of the General Government Employee Retirement System net pension liabilities are attributable to 
employees within the City's enterprise funds (e.g. Water and Sewer funds). If the City could have included enterprise 
funds revenue as part of the governemental funds revenue, the City's revenue ratio would be 9.91% whcih is within 
the 10.0% required maximum. 

4. DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system's underfunded 
status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 
use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 
have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 
impact the retirement system as a whole. 

Page 3 



0 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Category of Prospective Actions: 

System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system's 
multiplier for current employees from 2.SX to 2X for the General Employees' Retirement System. On page 8 of the 

attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 

changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

El Additional Funding — Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 

General Employees' Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 

contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system's funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. Please see page 12 of the 
attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system's funded ratio with this additional 

contribution. 
Currently the City is contributing approximately $1,500,000 more than it did in fiscal year 2013-2014. The system's 
funidng ratio increased to 50.70% as of 12/31/2017 actuary report (Attachment 6A). According to the projection 
developed by the City's actuary (Attachement 4A), if the City maintains the annual actural determined contributions 
listed, the retirement system's funded ratio will be 60.7% funded by 2030. 

El Other Considerations — Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 

liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years. This will allow the retirement 

system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13. 

Page 4 



5. CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

City of Taylor 
Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) 
to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 

your long-term budget forecast? 

El Yes 
0 No 

If No, Explain 

6. DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this Corrective Action Plan. The documentation should detail the 

corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government's underfunded 

status. Please check all documents that are included as part'of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 

below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 

than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 
example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document "Attachment 2a" and 

the second document "Attachment 2b". 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

0 Attachment— I This Corrective Action Plan Form (Required) 

El Attachment— I a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

El Attachment — 2a An actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an 
internally developed analysis, which illustrates how and 
when the local unit will reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, 
if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, 
ARC will be less than 10% of governmental fund 
revenues, as defined by the Act. (Required) 

El Attachment — 3a Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

0 Attachment — 4a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 
years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

ID Attachment — 5a A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system's funded ratio 

0 Attachment —6a Other documentation not categorized above 

Page 5 



7. CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN CRITERIA 

Please confirm that each of the four corrective action plan criteria listed below have been satisfied when submitting 
this document. Specific detail on corrective action plan criteria can be found in the Corrective Action Plan  
Development: Best Practices and Strategies document. 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria Description 

tEl Underfunded Status Is there a description and adequate supporting documentation 
of how and when the retirement system will reach the 60% 
funded ratio? Or, if your local unit is a city, village, township, or 
county, how and when the ARC of all pension systems will be 
less than 10 percent of governmental fund revenues? 

0 Reasonable Timeframe Do the corrective actions address the underfunded status in a 
reasonable timeframe (see CAP criteria issued by the Board)? 

El Legal and Feasible Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are 
all required administrative certifications and governing body 
approvals included? Are the actions listed feasible? 

El Affordability Do the corrective action(s) listed allow the local unit to make 
the annual required contribution payment for the pension 
system now and into the future without additional changes to 
this corrective action plan? 

8. LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT'S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

I  Rick Sollars , as the government's administrative officer (enter title) 

Mayor (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive Officer, 
etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this Corrective 
Action Plan. 

I confirm to the best of my knowledge that because of the changes listed above, one of the following statements will 
occur: 

tEl The General Govt Employees' Retirement Plan  (Insert Retirement Pension System Name) will achieve a 
funded status of at least 60% by Fiscal Year 2030 as demonstrated by required supporting documentation 
listed in section 6. 

OR, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county: 

o The ARC for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of (Insert local 
unit name)will be less than 10% of the local unit of government's annual governmental fund revenues by Fiscal 
Year as demonstrated by required supporting documentation listed in section 6. 

Signature Date 

Page 6 



 

  

 

Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (08-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 

Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

I. MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: City of Taylor Six-Digit Muni Code:  822280 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name:  Police and Fire Retirement System 

Contact Name (Administrative Officer):  Jason Couture 

Title if not Administrative Officer: Finance Director 

Email:  jcouture@ci.taylor.mi.us Telephone: (734) 287-6550 

2. GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 

of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 

required contribution (ARC) for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is 
greater than 10% of the local unit of government's annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal 

year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 

plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 

days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 

government's administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 

approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 

10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 

determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The submitted plan must demonstrate through distinct supporting documentation how and when the local unit will 

reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, the submitted plan may 

demonstrate how and when the ARC for all of the defined benefit pension systems will be less than 10% of annual 
governmental fund revenues, as defined by the Act. Supporting documentation for the funding ratio and/or ARC must 

include an actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an internally developed analysis. The local unit must project 
governmental fund revenues using a reasonable forecast based on historical trends and projected rates of inflation. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocaRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for review by 

the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete separate 
plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate PDF 
document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees' Retirement System  

Page 1 

mailto:LocaRetirementReporting@michigan.gov
mailto:jcouture@ci.taylor.mi.us


Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 

must allow for receipt of Treasury's automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 

application(s). 

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) shall review and vote on the approval of a 

corrective action plan submitted by a local unit of government. If a corrective action plan is approved, the Board will 

monitor the corrective action plan for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of 

government's compliance with the Act not less than every two years. 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 

submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 

plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 

underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 

underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 

prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 

the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 

underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 

corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 

described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards. 

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 

begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 

underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 

a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 

compliance with the Act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 

compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 

government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 

unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance. 

3. DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 

Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 

the retirement system's underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 

statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 

status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 

please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 

your corrective action plan. 

Page 2 



Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 

changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 

proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 

within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system's funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

1:1 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 

hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 

benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 

active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: The system's multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees' Retirement System on January I, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 

our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020. 

El Additional Funding — Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 

determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees' Retirement 

System on January I, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 

system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system's funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 

the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 

El Other Considerations — Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 

actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 

an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on page 13. 
Attached is an updated actuarial valuation for June 30, 2018 which was used for the City's financial audit for the same 
time period. The funded ratio for the pension system has improved to 65.64% as indicated on page 3 of the 
document. The plan has met the requirement per Sec. 5(4)(b) and is not considered underfunded. 

4. DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 

below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 

additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system's underfunded 

status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 

use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 

have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 

impact the retirement system as a whole. 

Page 3 



0 

0 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 

proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Category of Prospective Actions: 

System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 

hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 

benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 

active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system's 

multiplier for current employees from 2.SX to 2X for the General Employees' Retirement System. On page 8 of the 

attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 
changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

0 Additional Funding — Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 

General Employees' Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 

contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system's funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget which highlights this contribution of $ I million. Please see page 12 of the 

attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system's funded ratio with this additional 

contribution. 

Other Considerations — Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 

actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 

liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years. This will allow the retirement 

system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13. 

Attached is draft form 5572 for fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 which indicates funded status of 65.64% for the Police 
and Fire Retirement system as supported by the attached acturial report. 

Page 4 



5. CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

City of Taylor 
Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) 

to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 

your long-term budget forecast? 

Ei Yes 
El No 

If No, Explain 

6. DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this Corrective Action Plan. The documentation should detail the 

corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government's underfunded 

status. Please check all documents that are included as part of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 

below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 

than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 

example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document "Attachment 2a" and 

the second document "Attachment 2b". 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

El Attachment— I This Corrective Action Plan Form (Required) 

El Attachment— I a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

0 Attachment — 2a An actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an 
internally developed analysis, which illustrates how and 
when the local unit will reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, 
if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, 
ARC will be less than 10% of governmental fund 
revenues, as defined by the Act. (Required) 

O Attachment — 3a Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

El Attachment — 4a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 

years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

O Attachment — 5a A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system's funded ratio 

O Attachment —6a Other documentation not categorized above 

Page 5 



        

    

      

        

7. CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN CRITERIA 

Please confirm that each of the four corrective action plan criteria listed below have been satisfied when submitting 

this document. Specific detail on corrective action plan criteria can be found in the Corrective Action Plan  

Development: Best Practices and Strategies document. 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria Description 

El Underfunded Status Is there a description and adequate supporting documentation 
of how and when the retirement system will reach the 60% 
funded ratio? Or, if your local unit is a city, village, township, or 
county, how and when the ARC of all pension systems will be 
less than 10 percent of governmental fund revenues? 

ID Reasonable Timeframe Do the corrective actions address the underfunded status in a 
reasonable timeframe (see CAP criteria issued by the Board)? 

EI Legal and Feasible Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are 
all required administrative certifications and governing body 
approvals included? Are the actions listed feasible? 

El Affordability Do the corrective action(s) listed allow the local unit to make 
the annual required contribution payment for the pension 
system now and into the future without additional changes to 
this corrective action plan? 

8. LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT'S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

1  Rick Sollars , as the government's administrative officer (enter title) 

Mayor (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive Officer, 

etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this Corrective 

Action Plan. 

I confirm to the best of my knowledge that because of the changes listed above, one of the following statements will 

occur: 

El The Taylor Police and Fire Retirement Plan (Insert Retirement Pension System Name) will achieve a 

funded status of at least 60% by Fiscal Year 2018 as demonstrated by required supporting documentation 

listed in section 6. 

OR, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county: 

ID The ARC fpfr all df the defined benefit pension retirement systems of (Insert local 
unit name) will be less than 10% of the local unit of government's annual governmental fund revenues by Fiscal 

Year as demonstrated by required supporting documentation listed in section 6. 

IS Signature Date 

Page 6 















 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

      

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (08-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 
Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

1.  MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: ____________________________Presque Isle CRC ___  Six-Digit Muni Code: __________________________ 710101 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name: __________________________________________________________ Municipal Employees Retirement System 

Gerald Smigelski Contact Name (Administrative Officer):__________________________________________________________ 

Title if not Administrative Officer: ______________________________________________________________ Superintendent/Manager 

Email:________________________________________  info@piroad.com Telephone:_________________________________ (989) 734-2216 

2.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 
required contribution (ARC) for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is 
greater than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal 
year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 
days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 
government’s administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 
approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 
10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 
determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The submitted plan must demonstrate through distinct supporting documentation how and when the local unit will 
reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county, the submitted plan may 
demonstrate how and when the ARC for all of the defined benefit pension systems will be less than 10% of annual 
governmental fund revenues, as defined by the Act. Supporting documentation for the funding ratio and/or ARC must 
include an actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an internally developed analysis. The local unit must project 
governmental fund revenues using a reasonable forecast based on historical trends and projected rates of inflation. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for review by 
the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete separate 
plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate PDF 
document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees’ Retirement System 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

     
    

 

 

 

 
Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 
must allow for receipt of Treasury’s automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 
application(s).  

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) shall review and vote on the approval of a 
corrective action plan submitted by a local unit of government. If a corrective action plan is approved, the Board will 
monitor the corrective action plan for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of 
government’s compliance with the Act not less than every two years. 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 
underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 
underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards.  

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 
begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the Act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance.  

 
3.  DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system’s underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system’s funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: The system’s multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees’ Retirement System on January 1, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 
our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020.  

Lower tier of benefits for new hires: Employees hired after 07/01/2015 have a reduced defined benefit multiplier of 2.0 
and the early retirement (unreduced) 55/30 option was eliminated. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees’ Retirement 
System on January 1, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 
system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 
the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 
Additional monthly funding of $5,000 as 08/03/2011, $10,000 as of 02/18/2017, $15,000 as of 01/01/2018. Effective 
08/06/2012 active employees began contributing 3% of gross pay to MERS, 07/01/2013 - 4% and 07/01/2014 - 5% of 
gross pay. 5% of gross pay for 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 
an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on page 13.  

4.  DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system’s underfunded 
status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 
use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 
have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 
impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 
 



 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 
Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

Category of Prospective Actions:  

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system’s 
multiplier for current employees from 2.5X to 2X for the General Employees’ Retirement System. On page 8 of the 
attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 
changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 
General Employees’ Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 
contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. Please see page 12 of the 
attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system’s funded ratio with this additional 
contribution. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 
liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years.  This will allow the retirement 
system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13.  

Implementation of a Surplus Division effective 1/1/2019. 2018 additional funding $180,000 transferred into Surplus 
Division on 1/1/2019 and all future excess payments placed in Surplus. Recalculated funded Ratio with $180,000 into 
Surplus is 53.20% as of December 31, 2018. 

Effective 01/01/2019, additional funding (over actuarially determined contribution) of $20,000 per month into the 
surplus division, which will raise the Employer's overall funded status in future years. 

 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
5.  CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

Presque Isle CRC Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) _____________________________ 
to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 
your long-term budget forecast? 

 Yes 
 No 
If No, Explain 

6.  DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this Corrective Action Plan. The documentation should detail the 
corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government’s underfunded 
status. Please check all documents that are included as part of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 
below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 
than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 
example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document “Attachment 2a” and 
the second document “Attachment 2b”. 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

 Attachment – 1  This Corrective Action Plan Form (Required) 

 Attachment – 1a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

 Attachment – 2a An actuarial projection, an actuarial valuation, or an 
internally developed analysis, which illustrates how and 
when the local unit will reach the 60% funded ratio. Or, 
if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county,  
ARC will be less than 10% of governmental fund 
revenues, as defined by the Act. (Required) 

 Attachment – 3a  Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

 Attachment – 4a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 
years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

 Attachment – 5a  A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system’s funded ratio 

 Attachment –6a Other documentation not categorized above 

 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
7.  CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN CRITERIA 
Please confirm that each of the four corrective action plan criteria listed below have been satisfied when submitting 
this document. Specific detail on corrective action plan criteria can be found in the Corrective Action Plan 
Development: Best Practices and Strategies document. 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria Description 

 Underfunded Status  Is there a description and adequate supporting documentation 
of how and when the retirement system will reach the 60% 
funded ratio? Or, if your local unit is a city, village, township, or 
county, how and when the ARC of all pension systems will be 
less than 10 percent of governmental fund revenues? 

 Reasonable Timeframe Do the corrective actions address the underfunded status in a 
reasonable timeframe (see CAP criteria issued by the Board)?  

 Legal and Feasible Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are 
all required administrative certifications and governing body 
approvals included? Are the actions listed feasible? 

 Affordability Do the corrective action(s) listed allow the local unit to make 
the annual required contribution payment for the pension 
system now and into the future without additional changes to 
this corrective action plan? 

8.  LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT’S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

I ____________________________, as the government’s administrative officer (enter title) Gerald Smigelski 
_____________________________ (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive Officer, Superintendent / Manager 
etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this Corrective 
Action Plan. 

I confirm to the best of my knowledge that because of the changes listed above, one of the following statements will 
occur: 

 The _________________________________(Insert Retirement Pension System Name) will achieve a MERS (710101) 
funded status of at least 60% by Fiscal Year ________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation 2030 
listed in section 6. 

OR, if the local unit is a city, village, township, or county: 

 The ARC for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of ________________________ (Insert local 
unit name) will be less than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues by Fiscal 
Year _________ as demonstrated by required supporting documentation listed in section 6. 

Gerald Smigelski, Supt./Mgr 12/27/2018 Signature _____________________________________  Date ______________________________ 

 
 



 
 

   
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 

 

 

  
 

 

PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS 
FUNDING POLICY AND ACTION PLAN 

IN COMPLIANCE WITH PA 202 OF 2017 

City of Montrose 

2018 

ADMINISTRATION: 
Neil Rankin, City Manager 
Christina Rush, City Clerk 

Chrystal Raible, City Treasurer 
Janet Loomis, City Secretary 
Sam Spence, DPW Director 

CITY COUNCIL: 
Colleen Brown, City Mayor 

Mark Richard, Mayor Pro-Tem 
Robert Arnold, Council Member 

Thomas Bigelow, Council Member 
Deborah Gross, Council Member 

Ryan Heslop, Council Member 
Christy Sanborn, Council Member 

Prepared by: Neil Rankin, City Manager 
Approved by City Council on 



 
 

 
 

  
    
   

     
   

  
   

 
    

    
  

   
    

    
     

   
 

   
   

    
     

     
  

   
 

   
  

    
  

 
 
  

INTRODUCTION/UNDERSTANDING 

In December 2017, Governor Snyder signed into law Public Act 202 of 2017, also referred to as the 
“protecting local government retirement and benefits act.” This new law requires all local governments 
to annually report its underfunded liabilities to the State and create a set of criteria to determine if a 
particular local government is in “underfunded” status. This legislation creates minimum funding 
requirements for both pension systems and retiree healthcare, also referred to as Other Post-Employment 
Benefits (OPEB). In addition it provides for standard actuarial assumptions for determining funding status 
which will be reviewed and published each year by the Michigan Department of Treasury. 

If a local unit of government is determined to be “underfunded” based on the calculations set out in the 
act they are subject to review by a governor-appointed panel called the “municipal stability board.” This 
panel is to have three members; one representing state officials, one representing local officials and one 
representing employees and retirees. The board will determine “best practices” to be used for pension and 
OPEB systems and will review the annual reports and corrective action plans of local units required to 
submit them. In addition, local units which fall into the category of “underfunded” may submit an 
application for a “waver of underfunded status” to Treasury. This allows them the opportunity to take 
preemptive measures to address their funding status without triggering a full review. 

To obtain a waiver, the application must be accompanied by a corrective action plan which details 
specific polices, and benefit provisions that either reduces liabilities and removes the system from 
underfunded status or that adequately funds the current liabilities over time. The specific items outlined in 
the plan are determined by the local unit preparing the plan. However, the adequacy of the plan is 
determined by Treasury. If a waiver is approved, the local unit will be required to make progress toward 
funded status. If the waiver is denied and the plan is not approved by Treasury, it will trigger an 
“individualized and comprehensive internal review…” of the local unit’s retiree benefit systems. 

This document serves as the City of Montrose’s corrective action plan. It will be revisited annually and 
amended as necessary based on updated actuarial information. It is intended not just for the Michigan 
Department o Treasury but will also serve as the City of Montrose Pension and Retiree Health Benefits 
Funding Policy. 

2 



 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
       

         
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
CITY FINANCIAL CONDITIONS 

Since 2003, The City of Montrose has seen a 
cumulative loss of state shared revenue of 
approximately $839,000. The time surrounding 
the great recession of 2008 to 2013, the general 
fund revenue dropped from $853,067 to 
$762,135.  This is a drop of about $91,000 
from all resources. From 2010 to 2015 the 
property tax revenue dropped by approximately 
8 percent. 

During the period of 2010 to 2016, our state shared revenue has remained relatively flat. The chart below 
demonstrates our actual funding which is represented by the blue line. Compare this to the fully funded 
level, the red line, we have been anywhere from $55,000 to $90,000 less than the fully funded level. 

$350,000 
$360,000 
$370,000 
$380,000 
$390,000 
$400,000 
$410,000 
$420,000 
$430,000 

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

 

Property Tax 2010-2017 

Property Tax 

3 



 
 

 
 

      
     
    

 
    

 
 

                                  
  

   
  

   
    

  
  

 
 

 
                                   

  
   
  

   
    

  
  

 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MERS PENSION SYSTEM STATUS 

The City of Montrose currently has MERS manage the pension funds for its general employee group, 
which includes all full time administrative employees and DPW workers and a police group. As of 
December 1994 The City of Montrose no longer has a City Police Department; therefore, this division is 
closed. 
Benefit provisions for each group as of the date of our most recent actuarial report (12/31/2017) are 
outlined as follows: 

02 - Police  - CLOSED TO NEW HIRES 
Benefit Multiplier: 1.70% Multiplier (no max) 
Normal Retirement Age: 60 
Vesting: 6 years 
Final Average Compensation: 3 years 
COLA for Future Retirees: 
Employee Contributions: 0% 
Act 88: No 

The Police Division has 3 participants, of which all 3 are Retirees/Beneficiaries 

11 - General - OPEN DIVISION 
Benefit Multiplier: 1.70% Multiplier (no max) 
Normal Retirement Age: 60 
Vesting: 6 years 
Final Average Compensation: 5 years 
COLA for Future Retirees: 
Employee Contributions: 8% 
Act 88: No 

The General Division currently has 4 Active Employees, 6 Vested Former Employees, and 5 Retirees/ 
Beneficiaries 

4 



 
 

   
     

   
 

 
    

  
   

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
    

 
 

 
   

     
      

      
   

 
  

   
   

 
 

 
 

       
      

  

 

According to the MERS 2017 Annual Actuarial Valuation Report, the current total MERS liability is 
$962,346. Our valued assets total $567,611, bringing our actuarial funding level to 59 percent. The 
average increase in liability since 2003 is 3.6 percent while the average increase in valued assets has been 
5.33 percent. 

As the chart shows below, the projected trend is showing there is a gap between accrued liabilities and 
valued assets. Therefore, it will be necessary that multiple annual payments over the next ten years will 
need to be made if we wish to close this gap. 

$0 
$200,000 
$400,000 
$600,000 
$800,000 

$1,000,000 
$1,200,000 
$1,400,000 
$1,600,000 
$1,800,000 

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

 

Do
lla

rs
 

Year 

MERS Pension Liability 

Accrued Liability 

Valued Assets 

One of the issues the City of Montrose faces is the limited number of employees that can contribute to 
MERS. There are twice as many retirees currently receiving benefits versus the number of active 
employees. In the past, active employees were not contributing to MERS. In 2012, employees began 
contributing 2 percent to MERS.  Another issue is the rate of return by MERS. 

MERS FUNDING POLICY AND ACTION PLAN 

In fiscal year 2015/2016, the City of Montrose began an internal review of unfunded liabilities and began 
discussing solutions with MERS for increasing the funding level. One solution was employees were 
investing 2 percent of wages toward their pension benefits, as of  August 2016, this increased to 6 percent 
and in July 2017, it increased to 8 percent contribution. Employees hired after 2016 automatically began 
contributing 8 percent. As of current, all employees are contributing 8 percent. 

In 2020 a long-term general obligation refunding bond will be retired. This will provide additional 
unassigned dollars in the general fund to begin to make additional annual payments to the accrued 
liability in the amount of $30,000. 

RETIREE HEALTHCARE (OPEB) POLICY AND ACTION PLAN 

The City of Montrose maintains two post-employment health care benefit plans, one for non-union 
employees and one for union employees. For FY 2017 the City of Montrose  was  0% funded for its 
retiree healthcare liability audited financial statement in the amount of $604,922 for non-union and 
$928,966 for union employee. 

5 



 
 

 
    

     
  

   
   

    
 

   
       

 
   

     
    

  
   

    
    

 
      

     
  

 
  
 

In FY 2018 under the GASB 75 the City of Montrose Post Employee Benefits Accounting Report 
ending in June 30, 2018 shows a decrease of OPEB liability to $81,350. This reduction in liabilities 
would no longer place the City of Montrose in an "underfunded status". Revenues for FY 2018 are 
$2,030,913 and ARC is $17,328 which is .09% and under the 12% threshold requirement for the city to 
need to adopt a corrective action plan. The City will continue to take corrective measures to fund this 
liability through either MERS Post Employee Benefits account or OPEB Trust Fund. 

This is a result of a retiree no longer qualifying for post employee benefits and a change in the union 
contract that reduces the number of years retirees can qualify for post employee benefits that took place in 
FY2017 and 2018. 
According to the union employee contract, for future retirees, the City of Montrose has currently placed in 
effect for union employees who are at least 55 years of age and have been a permanent full-time 
employee for 25 years will be able to have hospitalization and medical insurance provided for 7 years 
after retirement. However, if hospitalization and medical insurance monthly premium cost increases 
above, or more than, the benchmark baseline amounts agreed upon for various categories of coverage this 
increase shall be shared with the City paying 75 percent of the increase premium cost and the eligible, 
participating retiree paying the remaining 25 percent of the increase premium cost. 

The City has also implemented within the union contract that future retirees can receive a $1000 yearly 
cap with a City match for their health savings plan; therefore, reducing costs as well as City funded post 
employment health benefits for retirees. 

6 











































 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

      

 

 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Michigan Department of Treasury 
5598 (05-18) 

Protecting Local Government Retirement and Benefits Act 
Corrective Action Plan: 
Defined Benefit Pension Retirement Systems 
Issued under authority of Public Act 202 of 2017. 

1.  MUNICIPALITY INFORMATION 
Local Unit Name: ____________________________Montcalm County Road Commission ___  Six-Digit Muni Code: __________________________ 590100 

Defined Benefit Pension System Name: __________________________________________________________ Montcalm County Road Commission - MERS 

Mark Christensen Contact Name (Administrative Officer):__________________________________________________________ 

Title if not Administrative Officer: ______________________________________________________________ Superintendent/Manager 

(989) 831-5285 Email:________________________________________  mark@montcalmroads.com Telephone Number:___________________________ 

2.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
Corrective Action Plan: An underfunded local unit of government shall develop and submit for approval a 
corrective action plan for the local unit of government. The local unit of government shall determine the components 
of the corrective action plan. This Corrective Action Plan shall be submitted by any local unit of government with at 
least one defined benefit pension retirement system that has been determined to have an underfunded status. 
Underfunded status for a defined benefit pension system is defined as being less than 60% funded according to the most 
recent audited financial statements, and, if the local unit of government is a city, village, township, or county, the annually 
required contribution for all of the defined benefit pension retirement systems of the local unit of government is greater 
than 10% of the local unit of government’s annual governmental fund revenues, based on the most recent fiscal year. 

Due Date: The local unit of government has 180 days from the date of notification to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Municipal Stability Board (the Board). The Board may extend the 180-day deadline by up to an additional 45 
days if the local unit of government submits a reasonable draft of a corrective action plan and requests an extension. 

Filing: Per Sec. 10(1) of PA 202 of 2017 (the Act), this Corrective Action Plan must be approved by the local 
government’s administrative officer and its governing body. You must provide proof of your governing body 
approving this Corrective Action Plan and attach the documentation as a separate PDF document. Per Sec. 
10(4) of the Act, failure to provide documentation that demonstrates approval from your governing body will result in a 
determination of noncompliance by the Board. 

The completed plan must be submitted via email to Treasury at LocalRetirementReporting@michigan.gov for 
review by the Board. If you have multiple underfunded retirement systems, you are required to complete 
separate plans and send a separate email for each underfunded system. Please attach each plan as a separate 
PDF document in addition to all applicable supporting documentation. 

The subject line of the email(s) should be in the following format: Corrective Action Plan-2017, Local Unit Name, 
Retirement System Name (e.g. Corrective Action Plan-2017, City of Lansing, Employees’ Retirement System 
Pension Plan). Treasury will send an automatic reply acknowledging receipt of the email. Your individual email settings 
must allow for receipt of Treasury’s automatic reply. This will be the only notification confirming receipt of the 
application(s).  

Municipal Stability Board: The Municipal Stability Board shall review and vote on the approval of a corrective action 
plan submitted by a local unit of government. If corrective action is approved, the Board will monitor the corrective 
action for the following two years, and the Board will report on the local unit of government’s compliance with the Act 
not less than every two years. 

 
 



 

 
 

 

     
    

 

 

 

 

Review Process: Following receipt of the email by Treasury, the Board will accept the corrective action plan 
submission at the next scheduled meeting of the Board. The Board shall then approve or reject the corrective action 
plan within 45 days from the date of the meeting. 

Considerations for Approval: A successful corrective action plan will demonstrate the actions for correcting 
underfunded status as set forth in Sec. 10(7) of the Act (listed below), as well as any additional solutions to address the 
underfunded status. Please also include steps already taken to address your underfunded status as well as the date 
prospective actions will be taken. A local unit of government may also include in its corrective action plan, a review of 
the local unit of government's budget and finances to determine any alternative methods available to address its 
underfunded status. A corrective action plan under this section may include the development and implementation of 
corrective options for the local unit of government to address its underfunded status. The corrective options as 
described in Sec. 10(7) may include, but are not limited to, any of the following: 

(i) Closing the current defined benefit plan. 

(ii) Implementing a multiplier limit. 

(iii) Reducing or eliminating new accrued benefits. 

(iv) Implementing final average compensation standards. 

Implementation: The local unit of government has up to 180 days after the approval of a corrective action plan to 
begin to implement the corrective action plan to address its underfunded status. The Board shall monitor each 
underfunded local unit of government's compliance with this act and any corrective action plan. The Board shall adopt 
a schedule, not less than every 2 years, to certify that the underfunded local unit of government is in substantial 
compliance with the act. If the Board determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial 
compliance under this subsection, the Board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit of 
government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the corrective action plan. The local 
unit of government has 60 days from the date of the notification to address the determination of noncompliance. 

3.  DESCRIPTIONS OF PRIOR ACTIONS 
Prior actions are separated into three categories below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other 
Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the prior actions implemented by the local government to address 
the retirement system’s underfunded status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample 
statements that you may choose to use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded 
status. For retirement systems that have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, 
please indicate how these changes impact the retirement system as a whole. 

 Please Note: If applicable, prior actions listed within your waiver application(s) may also be included in 
your corrective action plan. 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what has the local unit of government done to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

 
 



 
 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Note: Please provide the name of the system impacted, the date you made the change, the relevant page number(s) 
within the supporting documentation, and the resulting change to the system’s funded ratio. 

Category of Prior Actions: 

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: The system’s multiplier for current employees was lowered from 2.5X to 2X for the General 
Employees’ Retirement System on January 1, 2017. On page 8 of the attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows 
our funded ratio will be 60% by fiscal year 2020.  
The 01 Division was closed in 2011to new hires. The new Division (Division 11) eliminated the E2 Rider (COLA 
benefit for future retirees) and changed the vesting period from 6 years to 10 years. The 10 Division was closed to 
new hires in 2011. The new Division (Division 12) eliminated the E2 Rider (COLA benefit for future retirees) and also 
lowered the multiplier from 2.5% to 2.25%, vesting from 6 years to 10 years. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: Voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: The local unit provided a lump sum payment of $1 million to the General Employees’ Retirement 
System on January 1, 2017. This lump sum payment was in addition to the actuarially determined contribution (ADC) of the 
system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. Please see page 10 of 
the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. 
In 2016 employee contributions were raised .5% to 4%-5.5% depending on division. 
The Road Commission paid a lump sum of $100,000 in 2016 in addition to the ADC. In 2018 a surplus division was 
opened and another $100,000 lump sum in addition to ADC was paid. In 2017, MCRC is paying monthly contributions 
based on the "No-Phase In" option. An additional $20,000 per month is budgeted beginning in Feb.2019 to accelerate 
funding to 100%. This additional $240,000 annual payment will accelerate MCRC to 100% funded in 2035. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used actuarial data from 2015. Attached is 
an updated actuarial valuation for 2017 that shows our funded ratio has improved to 62% as indicated on page 13.  
In accordance with a negotiated CBA with AFSCME Local 1071.03 in 2018, (Page 20) employee contributions will 
continue to increase by .5% in 2019, 2020 and 2021 respectively. This will assist to accelerate funding to 89% by 2032 
and a large reduction to our ARC in 2032. 

4.  DESCRIPTION OF PROSPECTIVE ACTIONS 
The corrective action plan allows you to submit a plan of prospective actions which are separated into three categories 
below: System Design Changes, Additional Funding, and Other Considerations. Please provide a brief description of the 
additional actions the local government is planning to implement to address the retirement system’s underfunded 
status within the appropriate category section. Within each category are sample statements that you may choose to 
use to indicate the changes to your system that will positively affect your funded status. For retirement systems that 
have multiple divisions, departments, or plans within the same retirement system, please indicate how these changes 
impact the retirement system as a whole. 

Please indicate where in the attached supporting documentation these changes are described and the impact of those 
changes (i.e. what will the local unit of government do to improve its underfunded status, and where can we find the 
proof of these changes in the supporting documentation?). 

 
 



 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

__________________________________________________________________________

Category of Prospective Actions:  

 System Design Changes - System design changes may include the following: Lower tier of benefits for new 
hires, final average compensation limitations, freeze future benefit accruals for active employees in the defined 
benefit system, defined contribution system for new hires, hybrid system for new hires, bridged multiplier for 
active employees, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning with summer 2018 contract negotiations, the local unit will seek to lower the system’s 
multiplier for current employees from 2.5X to 2X for the General Employees’ Retirement System. On page 8 of the 
attached actuarial supplemental valuation, it shows our funded ratio would be 60% funded by fiscal year 2020 if these 
changes were adopted and implemented by fiscal year 2019. 

 Additional Funding – Additional funding may include the following: voluntary contributions above the actuarially 
determined contribution, bonding, millage increases, restricted funds, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will provide a lump sum payment of $1 million to the 
General Employees’ Retirement System. This lump sum payment will be in addition to the actuarially determined 
contribution (ADC) of the system. The additional contribution will increase the retirement system’s funded ratio to 61% by 2025. 
Please see page 10 of the attached enacted budget, which highlights this contribution of $1 million. Please see page 12 of the 
attached supplemental actuarial valuation showing the projected change to the system’s funded ratio with this additional 
contribution. 
The Montcalm County Road Commission will continue to budget and contribute no less than the annual required 
contribution and the additional $240,000 annually to the MERS Defined Benefit Plan. 

 Other Considerations – Other considerations may include the following: outdated Form 5572 information, 
actuarial assumption changes, amortization policy changes, etc. 

Sample Statement: Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the local unit will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the pension 
liability using a level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 10 years.  This will allow the retirement 
system to reach a funded status of 62% by 2022 as shown in the attached actuarial analysis on page 13.  

5.  CONFIRMATION OF FUNDING 
Please check the applicable answer: 

Montcalm Co. Road Commission Do the corrective actions listed in this plan allow for (insert local unit name) _______________________________  
to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution payment for the defined benefit pension system according to 
your long-term budget forecast? 

 Yes 
 No 
If No, Explain: __ 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

                   
  

 

6.  DOCUMENTATION ATTACHED TO THIS CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 
Documentation should be attached as a .pdf to this Corrective Action Plan. The documentation should detail the 
corrective action plan that would be implemented to adequately address the local unit of government’s underfunded 
status. Please check all documents that are included as part of this plan and attach in successive order as provided 
below: 

Naming convention: when attaching documents please use the naming convention shown below. If there is more 
than one document in a specific category that needs to be submitted, include a, b, or c for each document. For 
example, if you are submitting two supplemental valuations, you would name the first document “Attachment 2a” and 
the second document “Attachment 2b”. 

Naming Convention Type of Document 

 Attachment – 1  This Corrective Action Plan Form (Required) 

 Attachment – 1a Documentation from the governing body approving this 
Corrective Action Plan (Required) 

 Attachment – 2a Actuarial Analysis (annual valuation, supplemental valuation, 
projection) 

 Attachment – 3a Internally Developed Projection Study 

 Attachment – 4a  Documentation of additional payments in past years that is not 
reflected in your audited financial statements (e.g. enacted 
budget, system provided information). 

 Attachment – 5a Documentation of commitment to additional payments in future 
years (e.g. resolution, ordinance) 

 Attachment – 6a  A separate corrective action plan that the local unit has 
approved to address its underfunded status, which includes 
documentation of prior actions, prospective actions, and the 
positive impact on the system’s funded ratio 

 Attachment – 7a  Other documentation, not categorized above 

7.  LOCAL UNIT OF GOVERNMENT’S ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER APPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE 
ACTION PLAN 

I, ________________________________, as the government’s administrative officer (enter title)  
_________________________________ (Ex: City/Township Manager, Executive director, and Chief Executive 
Officer, etc.) approve this Corrective Action Plan and will implement the prospective actions contained in this 
Corrective Action Plan. 

Signature _________________________________       Date _____________________________ 

 
 















































































MUNICIPAL STABILITY BOARD 
RESOLUTION 2019-2 

 
APPROVAL OR DISAPPROVAL OF CORRECTIVE ACTION PLANS 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed the Protecting Local Government Retirement and 
Benefits Act, MCL 38.2801 et. seq. (the “Act”), creating the Municipal Stability Board (the “Board”) for 
the purpose of reviewing and approving corrective action plans submitted by municipalities addressing 
the underfunded status of their municipal retirement systems (the “Corrective Action Plan”); 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Treasury (“Treasury”) provides administrative services 
to the Board; 

 
WHEREAS, on September 12, 2018, by Resolution 2018-12, the Board adopted the Corrective 

Action Plans Best Practices and Strategies and Corrective Action Plans Approval Criteria (“Approval 
Criteria”) pursuant to MCL 38.2808; 

 
WHEREAS, the Best Practices generally require that a plan (i) will sustain legacy costs and 

future retirement benefits; (ii) utilizes modern plan design; and (iii) is administered as effectively as 
possible to maintain a fiscally stable retirement system; 

 
 WHEREAS, the Approval Criteria generally requires that a plan (i) demonstrate how and when a 
retirement system will reach a sixty percent funded ratio for pension systems and/or a forty percent 
funded ratio for retirement health systems; (ii) address the underfunded status within a reasonable 
timeframe; (iii) is legal and feasible; and (iv) is affordable;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board previously received the municipalities’ listed on Appendix A attached to 
this Resolution (the “Municipalities”), Corrective Action Plans;  
 

WHEREAS, Treasury and the Board have reviewed the Municipalities’ Corrective Action Plans 
pursuant to the Best Practices and Approval Criteria; and  

 
WHEREAS, Treasury is recommending the Board approve or disapprove the Corrective Action 

Plans as detailed on Appendix A attached hereto. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board determines that the Municipalities’ 
Corrective Action Plans Treasury is recommending for approval listed on Appendix A, sufficiently meet 
the Best Practices and Approval Criteria; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board determines the Municipalities’ Corrective Action 

Plans Treasury is recommending for disapproval listed on Appendix A, do not sufficiently meet the Best 
Practices and Approval Criteria; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board approves or disapproves the Municipalities’ 

Corrective Action Plans in agreement with Treasury’s recommendation as listed on Appendix A;  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Treasury is directed to oversee the approved Corrective 
Action Plans are implemented pursuant to MCL 38.2810 and to report to the Board the status of the 
implementation on a regular basis; 

 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Treasury is directed to provide to Municipalities 
notification of the Board’s detailed reasons for disapproval of their Municipality’s Corrective Action Plan 
(the “Disapproval Letter”) within fifteen days of this resolution pursuant to MCL 38.2810(4); and  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Municipalities who fail to resubmit a Corrective Action 

Plan materially addressing the reasons for disapproval within 60 days of the Disapproval Letter as 
required by MCL 38.2810(4), shall be deemed in noncompliance with the Act.  

 
 
 

Ayes: 
Nays: 
Recused: 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 16, 2019 



Color Code Key

Green meets CAP Criteria
Underfunded 
Status

Yellow partially meets CAP Criteria Timeframe

Red does not meet CAP Criteria Legal/Feasible

Affordable

# Local Unit Municode System Type
Date 
Received

Underfunded 
Status Timeframe Legal/Feasible Affordable

Treasury 
Recommendation Corrective Action Plan Link

1 City of Hastings 082010 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Hastings - OPEB
2 Village of Union City 123030 Pension 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve Village of Union City Pension
3 City of Davison 252020 Pension 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Davison - Pension
4 City of Davison 252020 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Davison - OPEB

5 Interurban Transit Partnership 417530
Pension - 
Amalgamated 
Trust 

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve 
Interurban Transit Partnership - Pension - 
Amalgamated Trust

6 Interurban Transit Partnership 417530
Pension-Pension 
Plan

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve 
Interurban Transit Partnership - Pension-Pension 
Plan

7 Luce County Road Commission 480100 Pension 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Luce County Road Commission Pension
8 Luce County Road Commission 480100 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Luce County Road Commission OPEB

9 Mackinac County Road Commission 490100 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Mackinac County Road Commission OPEB

10 City of New Baltimore 502060 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve City of New Baltimore OPEB

11 City of Warren 502120
OPEB-City 
Employees

12/19/2018 Partial Partial Yes Partial Approve City of Warren - OPEB-City Employees

12 City of Warren 502120
OPEB-Police and 
Fire

12/19/2018 Partial Partial Yes Partial Approve City of Warren - OPEB-Police and Fire

13 Newaygo County Road Commission 620100 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Newaygo County Road Commission OPEB

14 City of Oak Park 632140
Pension-General 
Employees

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Oak Park Pension-General Employees

15 City of Oak Park 632140
Pension-Public 
Safety

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Oak Park Pension-Public Safety

16 City of Oak Park 632140
OPEB-General 
Employees

12/19/2018 No No Yes Partial Disapprove City of Oak Park OPEB-General Employees

17 City of Oak Park 632140
OPEB-Public 
Safety

12/19/2018 No No Yes Partial Disapprove City of Oak Park OPEB-Public Safety

18 City of Oak Park 632140
OPEB-District 
Court

12/19/2018 No No Yes Partial Disapprove City of Oak Park OPEB-District Court

19 St Clair County Road Commission 740100 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve St Clair County Road Commission OPEB
20 City of Milan 812020 Pension 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve City of Milan - Pension

21 Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 817514 Pension 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority Pension

22 Redford Charter Township 821080
OPEB-General 
Employees

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve 
Redford Charter Township - OPEB-General 
Employees

23 Redford Charter Township 821080
OPEB-Police and 
Fire

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve Redford Charter Township - OPEB-Police and Fire

24 City of Highland Park 822160
Pension-General 
Employees

12/19/2018 Partial Partial No No Disapprove City of Highland Park Pension-General Employees

MSB Appendix A January 16, 2019

Was there description and adequate supporting documentation of how and when the retirement system will address the Underfunded Status criteria as 
defined by the Municipal Stability Board?

Does this corrective action for this plan meet the Reasonable Timeframe criteria as defined by the Municipal Stability Board?
Does the corrective action plan follow all applicable laws? Are all required administrative certifications and governing body approvals included? Are the 

actions listed feasible?

The local unit must confirm that corrective actions listed in the CAP allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual required contribution (ARC) 
payment for pension plans and/or the retiree healthcare premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for new hires for retirement health benefits 

CAP Criteria Key

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/082010_City_of_Hastings_-_MERS_2017_CAP_-_FOrm_5597_643003_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/123030_Village_of_Union_City_-_Village_of_UC_OPEB_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643004_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/252020_City_of_Davison_-_City_of_Davison_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643005_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/252020_City_of_Davison_-_City_of_Davison_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643007_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/5572_Review_417530_2017_643009_7.xlsx
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/5572_Review_417530_2017_643009_7.xlsx
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/5572_Review_417530_2017_643009_7.xlsx
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/5572_Review_417530_2017_643009_7.xlsx
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/480100_Luce_County_Road_Commission_-_MERS_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643012_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/480100_Luce_County_Road_Commission_-_Morgan_Stanley_Investment_for_Health_Care_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643014_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/490100_Mackinac_County_Road_Commission_-_County_Road_Commission_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643015_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/502060_City_of_New_Baltimore_-_City_of_New_Baltimore_Retiree_Health_Care_Fund_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643023_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/502120_City_of_Warren_-_City_of_Warren_Michigan_City_Employees_Retirement_Health_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643026_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/502120_City_of_Warren_-_CIty_of_Warren_Police_and_Fire_Retirement_Health_Benefit_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643027_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/620100_Newaygo_County_Road_Commission_-_Newaygo_County_Road_Commission_Other_Post-Employment_Benefits_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643029_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/632140_City_of_Oak_Park_-_General_Employees_Retirement_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643030_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/632140_City_of_Oak_Park_-_Public_Safety_Retirement_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643031_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/632140_City_of_Oak_Park_-_General_Employees_Retiree_Health_Care_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643032_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/632140_City_of_Oak_Park_-_Public_Safety_Retiree_Health_Care_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643034_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/632140_City_of_Oak_Park_-_District_Court_Retiree_Health_Care_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643035_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/740100_St_CLair_County_Road_Commission_-_St_Clair_County_Employees_Retirement_Systsem_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643036_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/812020_City_of_Milan_-_MERS_Milan_Defined_Benefit_Pension_Plan_2017_Waiver_-_Form_5598_643054_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/817514_Ypsilanti_Community_Utilities_Authority_-_Employees_Retirement_System_8106_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643037_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/821080_Redford_Charter_Township_-_General_Employees_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643038_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/821080_Redford_Charter_Township_-_General_Employees_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643038_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/821080_Redford_Charter_Township_-_Police_and_Fire_Employees_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643039_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822160_City_of_Highland_Park_-_General_Employees_Retirement_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643040_7.pdf


25 City of Highland Park 822160
Pension-Police 
and Firemen

12/19/2018 Partial Partial No No Disapprove City of Highland Park Pension-Police and Firemen

26 City of Highland Park 822160
Pension-Public 
Safety 
Employees

12/19/2018 Partial Partial No No Disapprove
City of Highland Park Pension-Public Safety 
Employees

27 City of Lincoln Park 822180 Pension-MERS 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Lincoln Park Pension-MERS

28 City of Lincoln Park 822180
Pension-Police 
and Fire

12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Partial Approve City of Lincoln Park Pension-Police and Fire

29 City of Lincoln Park 822180 OPEB 12/19/2018 Partial Partial Yes Partial Approve City of Lincoln Park OPEB
30 City of Wayne 822300 Pension 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve City of Wayne - Pension
31 City of Wayne 822300 OPEB 12/19/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve City of Wayne - OPEB
32 City of Woodhaven 822320 OPEB 12/19/2018 Partial Partial Yes Partial Approve City of Woodhaven - OPEB
33 City of Wyandotte 822330 OPEB 12/19/2018 Partial Partial Yes Partial Approve City of Wyandotte - OPEB

34
Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse 
Authority

827502 Pension 11/13/2018 Yes Yes Yes Yes Approve Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Authority Pension

35
Cadillac City Housing Commission 
Authority

837511 OPEB 12/19/2018 Partial Partial No Yes Disapprove Cadillac City Housing Commission Authority OPEB

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822160_City_of_Highland_Park_-_Policemen_and_Firemen_Retirement_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643041_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822160_City_of_Highland_Park_-_Public_Safety_Retirement_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643042_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822160_City_of_Highland_Park_-_Public_Safety_Retirement_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643042_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822180_City_of_Lincoln_Park_-_MERS_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643043_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822180_City_of_Lincoln_Park_-_Police_Officers_and_FIrefighters_Retirement_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643044_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822180_City_of_Lincoln_Park_-_City_of_Lincoln_Park_Police_and_Fire_and_Municpal_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643046_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822300_City_of_Wayne_-_Municipal_Employees_Retirement_System_2017_CAP_-_Form_5598_643047_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822300_City_of_Wayne_-_City_of_Wayne_Retiree_Healthcare_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643048_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822320_City_of_Woodhaven_-_City_of_Woodhaven_Retiree_Healthcare_2017_CAP-_Form_5597_643049_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/822330_City_of_Wyandotte_-_City_of_Wyandotte_Retiree_Health_Care_Plan_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597_643050_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/827502_Grosse_Pointes-Clinton_Refuse_Disposal_2017_CAP_-_Form_5597-2_643053_7.pdf
http://www.michigan.gov/documents/treasury/837511_Cadillac_City_Housing_Commission_-_MERS_Retiree_Health_Care_Vehicle_2018_CAP_-_Form_5597_643052_7.pdf


 
 

   
   

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
   

       
      

   
   

 

    
   

     
  

  
    

    
   

  
  

 
   

   
  

    
    
   
    
   

 
  

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Hastings 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 082010 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $7,982,175 $15,968,218 50.0% $567,651 9.7% No 
Healthcare OPEB $218,223 $10,019,025 2.2% $820,520 $5,827,849 14.1% Yes 
Total $8,200,398 $25,987,243 52.2% $1,388,171 $5,827,849 23.8% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the City of Hastings, 
which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by 
the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 
2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Eliminated post-employment health care insurance for new employees hired after dates 

ranging from 2002 to 2006 depending on labor unit. 
o Eliminated post-employment health care insurance for employees that are not eligible 

to receive full pension benefits. 
o Adopted a tiered schedule of required retiree contributions from 10% to 50% depending 

on the length of employment with the City. 
o Adopted an optional post-employment health care plan for eligible retirees that is less 

costly than the City’s standard plan. Because of retiree cost share this can save the 
employee and the City money. 

• Plan Funding: 
o In, 2014 established a MERS OPEB funding vehicle. 
o Payments made 

 2014 - $110,000 
 2015 - $110,000 
 2016 - $110,000 
 2017 - $150,000 
 2018 - $110,000 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed. 



 
 

   
   

 
  

    
    

      
   

  
 

   
    

 
  

      
   

   
     

   
   

  

     
   
   

   

   
 

   
   

   
 

 
  

   
   

 
  

      
 

    
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Hastings 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 082010 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The City provided retirees a choice between lower rate health plans provided by Blue 

Care Network or a stipend beginning January 1, 2019. 
 This change is estimated to save at least $772,000 in 2019 

o The City estimates the savings to be at least $77,200 for the 2019 fiscal year. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Have budgeted $110,000 for 2019 to 2022. 

• Other Considerations: 
o Anticipated to drop ARC to $731,466 with Governmental Revenue of $6,141,831 the 

ARC/Governmental funds Revenue will be 11.9% for 2019. 
 Provided additional e-mail from actuary stating that ADC for 2019 would be 

$598,258, based on changes in health care options for retirees. 
o The City projects the Other-Post Employment Benefit liability will decrease by 

$4,257,519 with a change in the assumptions of lower health insurance premiums. 

Plan size: 71 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 46 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 25 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will no longer trigger underfunded status 

because the local unit’s annual required contribution will be less than 12% of general 
fund operating revenues. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the annual required contribution will be less 

than 12% of general fund operating revenues by 2019. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 



 
 

   
   

 
   

   
    

    
 

  
   

 

 

 

      
     

      
       

  

    

  

    

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Hastings 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 082010 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the 
annual required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 
However, our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as 
a percentage of general fund operating revenues is 23.8%.  This reflects a significant 
portion of the local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Hasting forwarded an additional e-mail from their actuary addressing their projected future 
ADC. Using the 2018 valuation and no plan changes, ADC will be $830,414. The actuary stated the 
impact of the approved changes in the health care options for retirees would lower their ADC in 2019 to 
$598,258. with Governmental Revenue of $6,141,831 this show ARC/Governmental funds revenue 
would be 9.7% for 2019 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

The city was requested to provide additional information showing their projected ADC in 2019. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
  

      
      

    
  

 

    
     

   
   

   
      

     
    

 
   

     
   

    
    

    
    

 
  

      
      

    

 

    
    

  
   

 
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Village of Union City 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 123030 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Healthcare OPEB $0 $1,657,315 0.0% $256,687 $735,072 34.9% YES 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the village of Union 
City, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The village closed healthcare system January 1, 2016 to new hires (provided verification, 

CBA August 2015). In August 2018, the village successfully negotiated all three non-
union employees off the retirement healthcare system (provided verification, August 13, 
2018 council minutes). The village also negotiated all union employees off the plan, 
except for one (provided verification, August 13, 2018 council minutes). The village is 
still negotiating with that one retiree. Consequently, four employees remain on the 
plan, down from nine (9) as of January 1, 2018. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The village created an OPEB CD with a balance $210,274.77 and an OPEB investment 

account with a balance of $121,229.33 for a total of $331,504.10 to fund the retiree 
health insurance. In addition, the village passed a FY 2019 budget with $40,000 
additional in yearly contributions to retiree health insurance, as compared to FY 2018. 
These OPEB accounts will be moved to a recognized account to count toward funding in 
2019. 

• Other Considerations: 
o The village estimates with a reduction of 55% of the employees in the healthcare 

retirement system since the last actuarial and moving OPEB accounts to a recognized 
and qualified account the village will achieve over 40% funded status. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The village is continuing in its efforts to negotiate with the three remaining employees 

to remove them from the system. 
o The village planning to conduct a new actuarial and will engage in early 2019. 

https://331,504.10
https://121,229.33
https://210,274.77


 
 

   
   

 
   

      
  

      
     

    
 

  
  

   

      
   
   

   

     

   
   

     
 

  
    

    
 

  
     

   
 

 
    

 
  

    
     

    
    

  
    

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Village of Union City 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 123030 

• Plan Funding: 
o The village will move the $331,504 in the OPEB accounts to an approved and qualified 

account to count toward funded status. It will evaluate the latest actuarial to determine 
its position after removing all but 4 employees off the plan (from 9 employees at the last 
actuarial), but it is anticipated that the village has already achieved at least 40% funded 
status. (provided memo-analysis). 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Plan size: 16 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 4 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: N/A 
• Active employees: 12 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local government has demonstrated through supporting documentation that is has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 40% funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates through supporting documentation that it has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 40%. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit’s corrective action plan appears to follow all applicable laws.  The actions 

listed appear reasonable and the corrective action plan has been approved by the 
governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. However, our review indicates the plan’s 
annual required contribution as a percentage of general fund operating revenues is 
34.9%. This reflects a significant portion of the local government’s budget. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

     
   

  
 

    
   

     
  

      

  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Village of Union City 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 123030 

Supplemental Information: 

Through design change and additional funding the village has closed the retiree benefit system to new 
hires, has progressed in negotiating employees off the plan and continues efforts in this area, is planning 
to invest $331,500 in a trust fund, and changed its health insurance to a deductible insurance (to take 
effect December 2018). (The village is awaiting its newest actuarial which will demonstrate that the 
OPEB system exceeds 40% funded.) Meanwhile, the village calculated its new OPEB liability $729,000 
(44% of $1,657,315) and ARC $112,942 (44% of $256,687). These figures are estimates based on the 
reduction of four of nine employees off the OPEB system and one other employee the village has a 
verbal commitment from to leave the OPEB system. Using the to-be-invested $331,500 over the new 
OPEB liability ($729,000) gets the village’s OPEB system to an estimated 45%. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

     
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

     

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

      

        

         
  

       
      

      
     

 

    
    

    
    

     
     

         
     

 
   

     
     

    
 

  
      

  
  

  
    

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

City of Davison MERS Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

City of 
Davison 
MERS 

Pension $6,064,952 $12,163,907 49.9% $472,201 Yes 

City of 
Davison 
Non-Union 
MERS 
Pension 
Plan 

Pension $1,100,496 $1,248,286 88.2% $64,484 $3,334,509 
16.1% 

No 

City of 
Davison OPEB $425,475 $19,654,305 2.2% $1,452,012 43.5% Yes 

Total $7,590,923 $33,066,498 $1,988,697 $3,334,509 59.6% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the City of Davison MERS pension corrective action plan submitted 
by the City of Davison, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 
2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance 
per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Through collective bargaining with the DPW Union, AFSCME, the Defined Benefit DPW 

division with a 2.5x multiplier closed to new hires as of 7-1-12.   A new linked division 
formed with a lower defined benefit multiplier of 1.5x from the previous 2.5x. Benefits 
are calculated on base wages only. New hires do not have COLA of 2.5% that the closed 
division offers. This division has a higher employee contribution rate of 5%. Early 
retirement age was increased from age 50 with 25 years of service to age 55 with 25 
years of service. New hires also have no D-2 benefit. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City Council has approved lump sum payments in addition to the actuarially 

determined contributions (ADC) of the system for the past 3 fiscal years. The City 
contributed $41,750 in FY 16 and FY 17, and 47,500 in FY 18 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City has 32% of retirement liabilities attributable to employees within the enterprise 

divisions as shown in the attached analysis, yet enterprise revenue it is not allowed to 
be included as part of our governmental funds. The City includes the cost of employee 
wages and fringe benefits into the water/sewer rates that our customers pay. This is the 
revenue source to fund this portion of the benefits, not the general fund. The analysis 



 
 

     
   

 
    

     
  

   
    

     
 

  

 

    
   

    
     

    
  

    
    

     
    

    
    

   
 

   
   

    
 

 
  

  

  

     
   
   

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

City of Davison MERS Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

within the CAP shows that our revenue ratio (ADC/Total Governmental Funds) would 
only be 8.9% when including enterprise funds within the calculation. 

o MERS had made several assumption changes, like shorter amortization, periods that will 
help our plan reach the 60% funding level faster.  All the assumption changes that have 
made are shown in the attached statement from MERS. 

o Effective plan administration is done with an experience study done every 5 year by the 
actuary and asset smoothing is used to reduce the impact of significant investment 
losses on the contribution amounts. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Through collective bargaining with the Police Union, POLC, Defined Benefit Division, 

Police Patrol closed to all new hires as of 7-1-18. The retirement age as of 7-1-18 rose 
from 25 years of service and out to age 50 with 25 years of service. This division’s 
multiplier will also bridge down from 3.0x to 2.5x with a frozen FAC starting on July 1, 
2019. 

o A new linked division was formed with a lower defined benefit multiplier of 1.5x from 
the previous 3.0x. This division will have a 5% employee contribution. Retirement age is 
55 with 25 years of service, with no option of early retirement. New hires have no D-2 
benefits or a 2.5% COLA like the closed division has. 

o Through collective bargaining with the DPW union, AFSCME, the Defined Benefit 
Division 01, DPW that closed as of 7-1-12, increased employee contributions from 2% to 
5% over the next three years of the contract. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City Council has approved a lump sum payment of $47,500 in addition to the 

actuarially determined contributions (ADC) of the system for the current 2018-2019 
fiscal year. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed. 

Plan size: 38 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 19 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 3 
• Active employees: 16 



 
 

     
   

 
   

   

   
     

    
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

   

  
    

   
 

 
   

 
 

 

     
  

   
  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

City of Davison MERS Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial projection found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2025). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 59.6%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

City of Davison included an actuarial projection from MERS demonstrating the impact of scheduled 
benefit changes to the system’s funded ratio and employer contributions. This projection shows that the 
system would be scheduled to reach 60% funded by approximately 2025. The actuarial projection also 
shows that, from 2019 to 2039, the projected annual employer contribution increases by approximately 
$556,000, or 93%. 



 
 

     
   

 

 

   

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

City of Davison MERS Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

 
 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

City of 
Davison 
MERS 

Pension $6,064,952 $12,163,907 49.9% $472,201 

$3,334,509 
 16.1% 

Yes 

City of 
Davison 
Non-
Union 
MERS 
Pension 
Plan 

Pension $1,100,496 $1,248,286 88.2% $64,484 No 

City of 
Davison OPEB $425,475 $19,654,305 2.2% $1,452,012  43.5% Yes 

Total  $7,590,923 $33,066,498  $1,988,697 $3,334,509 59.6%  
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the City of Davison, 
which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by 
the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 
2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:  
o On July 1, 2011, the local unit entered into a new collective bargaining agreement with 

the Police Officer's Union, (POLC) that changed retiree healthcare to cover only the 
retiree and increased their co-payments to 20% of their healthcare premium costs.  

o On July 1, 2012, the same agreement began with the DPW and Office Staff Unions, 
(AFSCME). All union agreements include that healthcare plans integrate with Medicare. 

o On July 1, 2018 the local unit entered into new collective bargaining agreements with 
the Police (POLC), DPW (AFSCME) and the Office Staff (AFSCME) that closes the defined 
benefit retiree health care plan to all new employees hired after July 1, 2018. This same 
agreement rose the service years of active employees from 10 years to 15 years to be 
eligible for retiree health care. All new hires after July 1, 2018 for the local unit will be 
enrolled into a to a defined contribution retiree health care plan.  There will be a 5-year 
vesting rule on contributions. 
 

• Plan Funding:  
o The local unit created a MERS RHFV trust in June of 2010 to receive, invest and 

accumulate assets for retirement healthcare. Additionally, during the last three fiscal 
years the local unit has committed to contributing an amount equal to 5% of employees 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

 
wages annually to the trust.   
 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City has 32% of retirement liabilities attributable to employees within the enterprise 

divisions as shown in the attached analysis, yet enterprise revenue it is not allowed to 
be included as part of our governmental funds. The City includes the cost of employee 
wages and fringe benefits into the water/sewer rates that our customers pay. This is the 
revenue source to fund this portion of the benefits, not the general fund. The attached 
analysis shows that our revenue ratio (ARC/Total Governmental Funds) would be much 
less when including enterprise funds within the calculation.  

o The information provided on the Form 5572 from the audit used an alternate method of 
calculating the ARC from data from 2015. The updated actuarial valuation shows our 
funded ratio has improved and along with showing our 2017 liability has decreased 
significantly. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:  
o None noted.  

  
• Plan Funding:  

o In June of 2018 another annual contribution was made to the MERS RHFV of $55,400. 
This is keeping with the commitment to invest and accumulate assets for the retirement 
healthcare. The asset balance of the RHFV as of 9-30-18 is $702,000.  

o The fiscal year budget for 2018-2019 has a $56,000 contribution committed to be set 
aside in the MERS RHFV. 
 

• Other Considerations: 
o On July 1, 2018 the local unit entered into new collective bargaining agreements with 

the Police (POLC), DPW (AFSCME) and the Office Staff (AFSCME) that agreement was 
made that all parties would continue to explore options for current employees to opt 
out of the defined benefit retirement health care to help lower the local unit's unfunded 
liabilities.  

o To keep retiree benefit levels aligned with active employees, options for opt outs of the 
defined benefit health care has been agreed by management to look at in the near 
future. 

Plan size: 40 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 20 
• Active employees: 20 

 
 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

 
Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status:  
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan. 
 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2042). 
 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body.  

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 59.6%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget 

 

Supplemental Information: 

As noted by the City, an updated actuarial report submitted by Retirement Horizons, Inc. shows a 
significantly reduced OPEB liability compared to the fiscal year 2017 audited statement. The liability was 
reduced from $19.7 million in the audited statement to a total OPEB liability of $7.8 million in the 
actuarial valuation. In part, this appears to be due to a discount rate assumption that is equal to the 
7.75% long-term rate of return assumption. The City of Davison included an internal analysis 
demonstrating their funded ratio projection. Using this analysis, the City shows that with the assets 
currently in the retirement healthcare trust, and 5% of employee wages as an annual additional 
contribution to the trust, they would reach the 40% funded ratio threshold in 2042. Treasury is unable 
to validate the liability projections included in the City’s internal analysis. Additionally, the names of 
Davison OPEB plan retirants were removed from the linked CAP in Appendix A. 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Davison 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 252020 

 

 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 

 

 

 



 
 

  
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

     

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

         
  

    
    

     
       

 

 

    
   

 
   

   
 

  
      

    
     

 

    
   

 
   

    
 

  
  

Treasury Recommendation 
Interurban Transit Partnership 

Interurban Transit Partnership and Amalgamated Trust Union Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 417530 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Interurban 
Transit 
Partnership 
Pension Plan 

Pension $4,232,184 $5,046,728 83.9% $74,018 Yes 

Interurban 
Transit 
Partnership 
and 
Amalgamated 
Trust 

Pension $9,127,439 $12,908,537 70.7% $77,5392 

$45,807,030 1.9% 

Yes 

Total $13,359,623 $17,955,265 $849,410 $45,807,030 1.9% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the Interurban Transit Partnership and Amalgamated Trust pension 
corrective action plan submitted by the Interurban Transit Partnership, which was received by the 
Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the 
Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of 
their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None noted. 

• Other Considerations: 
o The Interurban Transit Partnership unintentionally missed the deadline for submitting 

their Form 5572. They attached their fiscal year 2017 Retirement System Annual Report 
(Form 5572), showing that they have a funded status of 70.7% 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None noted. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted 



 
 

  
  
 

   

      
   
   

   

     

   
   

    
 

  
   

    
 

  
      

  
     

 
  

      
   

 
 

 

        
     

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Interurban Transit Partnership 

Interurban Transit Partnership and Amalgamated Trust Union Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 417530 

Plan size: 507 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 106 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 122 
• Active employees: 279 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local government has demonstrated through supporting documentation that is has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60% funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates through supporting documentation that it has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60%. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

The Interurban Transit Partnership included their Form 5572, documenting that they are 70.7% funded 
in fiscal year 2017 for their Interurban Transit Partnership and Amalgamated Trust pension plan. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

    
  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

     

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

      

         
  

     
      
       

   
 

 

    
   

 
   

   
 

  
    

    
     

    
 

 

    
   

 
   

   
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Interurban Transit Partnership 

Interurban Transit Partnership Pension Plan Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 417530 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Interurban 
Transit 
Partnership 
Pension Plan 

Pension $4,232,184 $5,046,728 83.9% $74,018 Yes 

Interurban 
Transit 
Partnership 
and 
Amalgamated 
Trust 

Pension $9,127,439 $12,908,537 70.7% $77,5392 

$45,807,030 1.9% 

Yes 

Total $13,359,623 $17,955,265 $849,410 $45,807,030 1.9% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the Interurban Transit Partnership Pension Plan corrective action 
plan submitted by the Interurban Transit Partnership, which was received by the Municipal Stability 
Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will 
continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their 
corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None noted. 

• Other Considerations: 
o The Interurban Transit Partnership unintentionally missed the deadline for submitting 

their Form 5572. They attached their fiscal year 2017 Retirement System Annual Report 
(Form 5572), stating that they have a funded status of 88.8%. Treasury reviewed the 
Interurban Transit Partnership’s audited financial statement and found a funding ratio 
of 83.9%. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None noted. 



 
 

    
  
 

  
  

   

      
   
   

   

     

   
   

    
 

  
   

   
 

  
      

  
    

 
  

      
   

 
 

 

   
   
    

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Interurban Transit Partnership 

Interurban Transit Partnership Pension Plan Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 417530 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted 

Plan size: 38 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 14 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 17 
• Active employees: 7 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local government has demonstrated through supporting documentation that is has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60% funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates through supporting documentation that it has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60%. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

The Interurban Transit Partnership attached their fiscal year 2017 Retirement System Annual Report 
(Form 5572), stating that they have a funded status of 88.8%. Treasury reviewed the Interurban Transit 
Partnership’s audited financial statement and found a funding ratio of 83.9%. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

     
      

    
    

 

    
       

 
  

   
 

    
       

 
  

  

 

    
   

 
   

      
  

 
 

  
  

  

     
   
   

   

Treasury Recommendation 
Luce County Road Commission 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 480100 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $4,219,963 $10,700,635 39.4% $493,248 14.2% Yes 
Healthcare OPEB $0 $3,132,987 0.0% $247,755 $3,483,769 7.1% Yes 
Total $4,219,963 $13,833,622 $741,003 $3,483,769 21.3% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by Luce County Road 
Commission, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In July 2012, the multiplier for general employees was changed from 2.5 times to 1.3 

times. 
o In August 2018, the multiplier for management employees was changed from 2.5 times 

to 1.3 times. 

• Plan Funding: 
o In January 2017, additional payments of $20,000 per month started. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Noted. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Additional payments OF $20,000 per month will continue until MERS is considered 60% 

funded. The 60% funded status should be reached by 2027. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Noted. 

Plan size: 50 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 33 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 2 
• Active employees: 15 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 



 
 

   
  
 

     

   
      

    
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

  
      

   
  

 

 

     
   

    
    

  

Treasury Recommendation 
Luce County Road Commission 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 480100 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2027). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

The Luce County Road Commission included Actuarial Accrued Liabilities and Valuation Assets as of 
December 31, 2017. The Road Commission has provided a mathematical explanation taking the total 
actuarial accrued liabilities for municipality multiplied by 60% and then subtracting the amount from 
valuation assets. This amount is divided by the additional payments of $20,000 to reach 114 months or 
9.5 years. The local unit did not provide any calculation on the expected increase in liabilities. 



 
 

   
  
 

 

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Luce County Road Commission 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 480100 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



  
 

   
  
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

  

    
     

      
  

 

    
  

    
      

   
 

   
     

  
 

   
   

 

    
  

  
   

   
 

  
  

  

   

  

   

Treasury Recommendation 
Luce County Road Commission 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 480100 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $4,219,963 $10,700,635 39.4% $493,248 14.2% Yes 
Healthcare OPEB $0 $3,132,987 0.0% $247,755 $3,483,769 7.1% Yes 
Total $4,219,963 $13,833,622 $741,003 $3,483,769 21.3% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: 

Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by Luce County Road Commission, which was 
received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, 
Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and 
implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 1998, the unit changed their retiree health care program to no longer offer health 

acre to retirees when they reach the age of 65. 
o In May 2018, the local unit started into a trust fund to cover our unfunded future health 

care liability. Monthly deposits of $20,000 are made monthly. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The unit has committed $20,000 per month to the health care trust fund. This should 

allow the plan to be 40% funded in 2023 and 100% funded by 2030. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Noted. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None Noted. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Noted. 

Plan size: N/A 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 



  
 

   
  
 

     
    

 
 

  
     

    
 

  
      

  
    

 
  

    
    

    
  

 

 

    
  

     
     

     
  

Treasury Recommendation 
Luce County Road Commission 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 480100 

o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 
level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2023). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

The Luce County Road Commission included the present value of future benefits, present value of future 
normal costs, actuarial accrued liability, actuarial value of assets, unfunded actuarial accrued liability 
and funded ratio. The math provided: (actuarial accrued liability divided by $20,000), divided by 12, 
shows the number of years it will take to get the plan 100% funded. Math is also provided to see when 
the plan will be 40% funded. The plan is not closed, and the local unit did not provide any calculation on 
the expected increase in liabilities. 



  
 

   
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Luce County Road Commission 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 480100 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
  

   
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

      
       

      
    

 

    
     

    
 

   
    

    
 

  
  

 

    
  

  
   

        
 

 
  

   
 

 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
Mackinac County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 490100 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $4,764,224 $9,068,635 52.5% $494,148 9.29% NO 
Healthcare OPEB $0 $1,630,239 0% $283,379 $5,318,905 5.33% YES 
Total $4,764,224 $10,698,874 $777,527 $5,318,905 14.62% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the Mackinac County 
Road Commission, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 
2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance 
per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 1999 the system changed retiree healthcare benefits from lifetime coverage to 2 

years after retirement. The plan remains open. 

• Plan Funding: 
o On October 17, 2018 the board of commissioners authorized a lump sum payment of 

$200,000 into a section 115 trust. 

• Other Considerations: 
o No noted 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None noted 

• Plan Funding: 
o The road commission will contribute $40,000 annually to the section 115 trust. The road 

commission plans 40% funding by 2025. 

• Other Considerations: 
o The road commission is using a 6% rate of return compounded on a quarterly basis for 

the investments. The board will continue pay-go premiums during that time frame. 

Plan size: N/A 



 
  

   
  
 

 

   

    

  
   

      
     

 
 

  
     

     
 

     
  

 
  

    
  

 
 

  
    

   
    

    
     

      
      

       
 

       

 

    
     

     
   

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Mackinac County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 490100 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates the retirement 

system will reach 40% funded.  Based on other information presented in the corrective 
action plan, we have determined the plan may be able to reach a funded ratio of 40% if 
the plan’s assumptions remain accurate. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 40% by 2025; 

however, the local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates this. 
Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit did not confirm in section 7 of the corrective action plan template that its 

corrective action plan was legal and feasible; however, it was approved by the governing 
body and appears to be legal and feasible. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. However, there is no documentation 
showing normal cost calculations for any new hires after June 30, 2018. Based on the 
road commission’s lump sum payment of $200,000 in October of 2018, as well as their 
commitment to fund $40,000 annually to the Section 115 Trust, Treasury estimates that 
normal cost payments may be met for all employees first hired after June 30, 2018. The 
Act requires local governments to pay normal costs for employees first hired after June 
30, 2018. The local unit will need to be monitored for compliance with this requirement. 

Supplemental Information: 

The Road Commission stated it would lower its ARC to less than 12% in the CAP submitted to the 
department. This is not an option to nonprimary local units of government for the CAP process. The road 
commission provided documentation showing plan funding of 40%, but did not indicate that was its 
intention. It was assumed the road commission intended to submit a plan showing 40% funding based 
on the evidence provided. 



 
  

   
  
 

     
  

     
       

     
      

  

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Mackinac County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 490100 

The projected funded ratio appears to be based on the actuarial accrued liability (AAL) from the 2017 
actuarial valuation. This internal analysis does not consider changes in health care inflation, investment 
returns, mortality, or changes in the AAL as a result of new hires entering the system, among other 
factors. The road commission projects to be at 40% funded within seven years, whereas the Board’s 
approval criteria is thirty years for severely underfunded systems. Although the plan is still open it only 
offers two years’ worth of retiree health care benefits, which should limit the amount of the retiree 
health care liability. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

        

        
         

   

     
       

   
  

 

    
      

    
  

    
 

   
   

 
  

   

 

    
     

    
   

   
     

 
   

    
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of New Baltimore 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502060 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

City of 
New 
Baltimore 
Retiree 
Health 
Care Fund 

OPEB $2,863,861 $13,691,560 20.9% $1,071,082 $8,462,542 12.7% Yes 

MERS Pension $13,094,239 $16,201,705 80.8% $302,807 3.6% No 
Total $15,958,100 $29,893,265 $1,373,889 $8,462,542 16.3% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the City of New 
Baltimore, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o On February 25, 2013, the City adopted a resolution that any employee hired after 

August 1, 2005 would not be eligible for retiree health care and would be placed into 
the MERS health savings program, thus effectively closing the plan. Additionally, the City 
switched to a high deductible health plan in 2009 to reduce employer costs. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None listed. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The City is in the process of changing the medical benefit provider for Medicare-eligible 

retirees, which is an allowable action within the retiree health contracts. This is 
expected to be implemented in Spring of 2019 and based on the actuarial analysis 
indicates that the system will be 41.3% funded by 6/30/2019 based on 6/30/2018 
figures. Please see Attachments 1 and 2 in the Supplemental Information section. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
  

  

   

      
   
   

   

     

   
     

       
   

 
  

     
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

  
    

    
    

  

 

        
       

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of New Baltimore 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502060 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Plan size: 51 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 19 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 32 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis and actuarial projection 
found in the corrective action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2019). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of New Baltimore provided a table from Milliman showing the impact on OPEB liability by 
changing to the new provider in Attachment 1.  They also provided an internal analysis in Attachment 2 
showing the local unit reaching 41.3% funded, using 2018 figures, by 2019 once the provider change 
occurs. 



 
 

   
   

 
  

 

 

 

 

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of New Baltimore 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502060 

Attachment 1: 

Attachment 2: 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted 



 
  

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

      

 
 

 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

      

         
  

    
      

       
 

 

 

    
       

  
     

 
    

 
 

   
     

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Michigan City Employees’ Retirement Health, Life 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement Pension $117,981,347 $186,209,023 63.4% $9,075,977 No 
System 
Policemen 
and 12.4% 

Firemen Pension $280,400,662 $456,883,017 61.4% $10,357,456 No 
Retirement 
System 
Michigan 
City 
Employees’ OPEB $32,751,358 $155,719,046 21.0% $11,800,171 $157,213,369 Yes 
Retirement 
Health, Life 
Police and 
Fire 16.2% 

Retirement 
Health OPEB $22,439,078 $170,182,661 13.2% $13,621,425 Yes 
Benefits 
Plan and 
Trust 
Total $453,572,445 $968,993,747 $44,855,029 $157,213,369 28.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the Michigan City Employees’ Retirement Health, Life OPEB 
corrective action plan submitted by City of Warren, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board 
(the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to 
monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action 
plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2006 collective bargaining agreements closed the plan to new employees and 

replaced it with a Health Savings Account plan. 
o As of June 1, 2016, the City implemented Medicare Advantage Insurance for eligible 

employees, reducing healthcare costs. 
o The City’s contribution changed from percentage of active payroll to an actuarially 

recommended dollar amount. 

• Plan Funding: 
o On December 12, 2017, the City Council voted to contribute an additional $4,500,000 to 

the plan. 



 
  

   
   

 
 

 

  
  

   
   

 

    
  

  
   

     
   

       
 

 
 

  
  

  

      
   
   

   

     

  
      

  
    

    

  
     

    
    

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Michigan City Employees’ Retirement Health, Life 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

Other Considerations: 

o Updated actuarial valuation information shows that the funded ratio has increased to 
38%, according to the city. 

o If allowed to include revenues from enterprise divisions and component units, the 
revenue ratio would only be 10.3% 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City is committed to paying the ongoing expenses of the plan, and to contribute 

additional funds in the future, provided favorable operating results. 
o According to the plan, “the City will contribute sufficient funds to make the retiree 

healthcare premium payments, as well as all other normal costs, now and into the 
future without changes to this corrective action plan.” 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 

Plan size: 846 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 583 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 37 
• Active employees: 226 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded through an internal analysis; however, the analysis does not 
account for healthcare inflation or other economic and demographic changes in its 
calculation. As a result, actuarial accrued liabilities (AAL) remain stagnant within the 



 
  

   
   

 
     

    
 

   
   

     
    

    
  

 
  

     
     

   
  

     
   

 

 

      
      

      
      

   
      

    
       

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Michigan City Employees’ Retirement Health, Life 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

analysis. Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 40% by 2019; 

however, the local unit’s analysis did not account for changing liabilities in its 
calculation. Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, our review 
indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage of general 
fund operating revenues was 28.6% as of the fiscal year 2017 audited financial 
statements. This reflects a significant portion of the local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Warren’s internal analysis demonstrates asset accumulation using an investment return 
assumption of 7.00%. The analysis shows the system reaching 40% funded in 2019; however, the 
analysis does not account for changing liabilities over time. The City of Warren intends to guard against 
increasing liabilities by fully funding the annual ARC payment. Furthermore, the city’s analysis shows 
increased assets and decreased liabilities as a result of an updated valuation, according to the city. 
Assets have increased by approximately $25 million and liabilities have decreased by approximately $6 
million when compared to the numbers reported in the city’s fiscal year 2017 audited financial 
statements. The city did not provide actuarial documentation validating these updated values. 



 
  

   
   

 

 

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Michigan City Employees’ Retirement Health, Life 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted 



 
  

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

      

 
 

 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

      

         
  

    
      

       
 

 

 

    
   

   
     

 
 

   
     

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits and Trust 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement Pension $117,981,347 $186,209,023 63.4% $9,075,977 No 
System 
Policemen 
and 12.4% 

Firemen Pension $280,400,662 $456,883,017 61.4% $10,357,456 No 
Retirement 
System 
Michigan 
City 
Employees’ OPEB $32,751,358 $155,719,046 21.0% $11,800,171 $157,213,369 Yes 
Retirement 
Health, Life 
Police and 
Fire 16.2% 

Retirement 
Health OPEB $22,439,078 $170,182,661 13.2% $13,621,425 Yes 
Benefits 
Plan and 
Trust 
Total $453,572,445 $968,993,747 $44,855,029 $157,213,369 28.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits Trust and Plan OPEB 
corrective action plan submitted by City of Warren, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board 
(the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to 
monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action 
plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2006 collective bargaining agreements closed the plan to new employees and 

replaced it with a Health Savings Account plan. 
o As of June 1, 2016, the City implemented Medicare Advantage Insurance for eligible 

employees, reducing healthcare costs. 

• Plan Funding: 
o On December 12, 2017, the City Council voted to contribute an additional $7,500,000 to 

the plan. 



 
  

   
   

 
    

  
 

  
  

 
   

   

 

    
  

  
   

      
  

     
   

 
     

    
    

 
  

  

  

     
   
   

   

     

  
      

  
    

    

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits and Trust 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

o On April 10, 2018, City Council approved a resolution which included a commitment to 
achieve 40% funded by fiscal year ending 2024. 

• Other Considerations: 
o Updated actuarial valuation information shows that the funded ratio has increased to 

25% 
o If allowed to include revenues from enterprise divisions and component units, the 

revenue ratio would only be 10.3% 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City is committed to paying the ongoing expenses of the plan, and to contribute 

additional funds in the future, provided favorable operating results. 
o According to the plan, “the City will protect the fund balance by contributing sufficient 

funds to make the healthcare premium payments, as well as all other normal costs, now 
and in the future without changes to this corrective action plan.” 

o The City Council passed a resolution that includes “a commitment to paying all of the 
annual expenditures of the Plan, plus an additional $500,000 per year starting in 2019, 
until the plan reaches the 40% funding level.” 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 

Plan size: 726 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 560 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 5 
• Active employees: 163 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 



 
  

   
   

 
     

     
  

 
     

    
 

  
   

     
   

    
  

 
  

      
     

   
     

     
   

 

 

  
    

 
  

      
   

  
    

   

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits and Trust 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 
level of 40% funded through an internal analysis; however, the analysis does not 
account for healthcare inflation or other economic and demographic changes in its 
calculation. As a result, actuarial accrued liabilities (AAL) remain stagnant within the 
analysis. Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 40% by 2024; 

however, the local unit’s analysis did not account for changing liabilities in its 
calculation. Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, our review 
indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage of general 
fund operating revenues was 28.6% as of the fiscal year 2017 audited financial 
statements. This reflects a significant portion of the local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Warren’s internal analysis demonstrates asset accumulation using an investment return 
assumption of 7.00%. The analysis shows the system reaching 40% funded in 2024; however, the 
analysis does not account for changing liabilities over time. The City of Warren intends to guard against 
increasing liabilities by fully funding the annual ARC payment. Furthermore, the city’s analysis shows 
increased assets and liabilities, based in part on an updated valuation from Rodwan Consulting Group as 
of December 31, 2016. The city’s analysis then includes updates for 2017 and 2018, but the city does not 
provide actuarial documentation validating the updated asset figure. According to the city’s analysis, 
assets have increased by approximately $16.2 million, to $44 million, when compared to the most 
recent valuation figure of $27.8 million. 



 
  

   
   

 

 

 

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Warren – Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits and Trust 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 502120 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
     

 

  

 
 

 
       

         
  

     
     

      
    

 

    
   

      
    

 
 

  
    

 
 

   
     

      
 

  
 

     

 

    
   

  
  
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Newaygo County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Primary Unit 620100 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS 
Retirement 
Pension 

Pension $7,998,957 $10,439,861 76.6% $257,188 2.2% No 

MERS 
Retirement 
OPEB 

OPEB $37,223 $4,588,035 0.8% $857,540 

$11,624,609 

7.4% Yes 

Total $8,036,180 $15,027,896 $1,114,728 $11,624,609 9.6% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by Newaygo County 
Road Commission, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on November 14, 
2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance 
per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2010 

 Moved new employees were moved to a lower tier of retirement benefits 
 Stopped providing new employees with retiree health insurance benefits for 

spouses 
 Stopped paying any percentage of the Medicare Supplement once the retiree 

reaches age 65 
o Established an Act 149 Trust through MERS in 2012; board contributes $12,000 a year to 

the trust 

• Plan Funding: 
o In 2017, the Board committed to additional contributions of $120,000 a year into the 

PA 149 trust; in 2018, this was increased to $300,000 a year 

• Other Considerations: 
o Unit had an actuarial evaluation done as of 9/30/17 by Watkins Ross for their OPEB 

liabilities and will continue to evaluate each year with an actuarial evaluation 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Union negotiations will take place in 2019 and will evaluate contract during negotiations 

and make necessary changes to reduce OPEB liability. 



 
 

   
   

 
   

        
   

 
 

  
  

  

      
   
   

   

  

   
     

     
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

  
     

    
    

  

 

    
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Newaygo County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Primary Unit 620100 

• Plan Funding: 
o The Board will consider a lump sum contribution each year into the PA 149 trust after 

reviewing the year-end budget to accelerate the funding status to reach 40% funded by 
2026 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted 

Plan size: 54 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 11 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: none noted 
• Active employees: 43 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial valuation found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2026). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

Newaygo County Road Commission included a schedule of OPEB contributions projecting to reach 40% 
funded by 2026: 



 
 

   
   

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Newaygo County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Primary Unit 620100 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

    
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 

      

 
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 
 

      

 
 

 
      

         
  

      
        
      

    

 

    
     

   
   

  
 

 
   

       
  
       

   
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement Pension $19,305,654 $40,735,745 47.4% $1,256,953 Yes 
System 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $40,470,218 $71,651,880 56.5% $2,314,911 

11.9% 

Yes 

General 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,118,254 $27,943,556 4.0% $1,620,940 $30,019,441 Yes 

Benefits 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,868,361 $29,840,965 6.3% $1,901,699 12.7% Yes 

Benefits 
District Court 
Postemployment OPEB $0 $4,737,968 0.0% $304,296 Yes 
Benefits 
Total $62,762,487 $174,910,114 $6,340,841 $30,019,441 24.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the Employees Retirement System pension corrective action plan 
submitted by the City of Oak Park, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on 
December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for 
compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The General Employees' Retirement System closed the plan to all non-union new hires 

effective 08/01/2004, to all TPOAM bargaining unit new hires effective 07/01/2006 and 
to all TPOAM Dispatch bargaining unit new hires effective 07/01/2007. As of 
07/01/2014 any new hires in the TPOAM and TPOAM Dispatch bargaining units shall no 
longer be eligible to purchase previous municipal service time. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City has made additional contributions above the ARC in FY 2014: $155,174, FY 

2016: $18,188 and FY 2017: $81,307. The City has made extra contributions over the 
past several years not only in this system but also the Employees DB pension system and 
the Public Safety and General OPEB plans, using any and all available surplus annually. 



 
 

    
   

 
  

    
   

   
   

 

 

    
   

 
   

   
      

     
  

        
     

    
  

 
  

        
   

 
   

    
    

  

      
   
   

   

     

   
     

    
 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

• Other Considerations: 
o 14.1% of the city’s actuarial determined contribution is attributable to employees within 

the Water and Sewer Enterprise division, yet we could not include Enterprise revenue as 
part of our Governmental Funds. The analysis included with the CAP shows that our 
revenue ratio (ADC/Total Governmental Funds) would only by 10.2% when excluding 
Enterprise Fund from the calculation. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City is committed to making additional contributions to the plan from annual 

surplus like it has in 3 of the past 4 years, but is severely limited with the Employees 
system being underfunded, as well as the Public Safety DB plan and the 3 OPEB plans. As 
noted in the “Other Considerations” section below, the City is changing the amortization 
period from the current 26 years to 20 year in order to get to the 60% funding level by 
2032. The change in the amortization period results in an increase in funding in FY 2019 
of $294,087 (21.2%). The City is also committed to continuing the extra contribution of 
$50-100,000 annually over the ARC' 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City went to their actuaries to develop a plan to get the funding level to the 60% 

minimum as quickly as possible without significantly reducing services to our customers. 
The actuaries recommended changing the rate of return from 8% to 7% and reducing 
the amortization period from the current 26 years to 20 years. This will result in an 
increase in the ARC of $294,087 for FY 2019 and allow the retirement system to reach a 
funded status of 60.1 % by 2032 

Plan size: 194 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 150 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 17 
• Active employees: 27 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial projection found in the corrective 
action plan. 



 
 

    
   

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

    

  
     

   
  

 
     

 
 

 

    
    

     
  

   

 

 

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2032). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 24.6%. This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Oak Park included an actuarial projection showing the effect of changes listed in their 
corrective action plan. This projection shows them reaching 60% funded in 2021. This projection also 
shows the impact on their annual employer contribution, demonstrating that from 2019 to 2037, the 
annual payment increases by approximately $680,000, or 41%. This does not take into account the 
increase of ADC from FY18 to FY19 of approximately $300,000 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

 
 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $19,305,654 $40,735,745 47.4% $1,256,953 

$30,019,441 

11.9% 

Yes 

Public Safety 
Employees 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $40,470,218 $71,651,880 56.5% $2,314,911 Yes 

General 
Employees 
Postemployment 
Benefits 

OPEB $1,118,254 $27,943,556 4.0% $1,620,940 

12.7% 

Yes 

Public Safety 
Employees 
Postemployment 
Benefits 

OPEB $1,868,361 $29,840,965 6.3% $1,901,699 Yes 

District Court 
Postemployment 
Benefits 

OPEB $0 $4,737,968 0.0% $304,296 Yes 

Total  $62,762,487 $174,910,114  $6,340,841 $30,019,441 24.6%  
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the Public Safety Employees Retirement System pension corrective 
action plan submitted by the City of Oak Park, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the 
Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to 
monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action 
plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:  
o As of 07/01/2011 any new hires final average compensation is calculated based on their 

effective base wage rate only. The system's multiplier was lowered from 2.8 to 2.5 for 
the Public Safety Retirement System for the POAM bargaining unit. 

o  As of 04/01/2015 any new hires in the POAM bargaining unit shall no longer be eligible 
to purchase previous municipal service time.  

o Effective 07/01/2018 the active employees’ contribution increased from 7.5% to 9.5% of 
pay. 
 

• Plan Funding:  
o The City has made additional contributions over the ARC in FY 2014: $763,797 FY 2015: 

$278,886 FY 2016: $195,336 and FY 2017: $72,359. The City has made extra 
contributions over the past several years not only in this system but also the Employees 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

 
DB pension system and the Public Safety and General OPEB plans as well with any and 
all available surplus annually. 

o Act 345 millage of 7 mills was approved by voters in August for another ten years. 
 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:  
o  None Listed 

 
• Plan Funding:  

o The City is committed to making additional contributions to the plan from annual 
surplus like it has in each of the past 4 years, but is severely limited due to not only the 
Public Safety system being underfunded, but the Employees DB plan and the 3 OPEB 
plans all require new additional funding. As noted below. the City is changing the 
amortization period from the current 26 years to 20 year in order to get to the 60% 
funding level by 2021. The change in the amortization period results in an increase in 
funding in FY 2019 of $549,508 (21.5%). The City is also committed to continuing the 
extra contribution of $50,000 - $100,000 annually over the ADC. 
 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City went to their actuaries to develop a plan get the funding level to the 60% 

minimum as quickly as possible without significantly reducing services to our customers. 
The actuaries recommended changing the rate of return from 8% to 7% and reducing 
the amortization period from the current 26 years to 20 years. This will result in an 
increase in the ADC of $549,508 for FY 2019 and allow the retirement system to reach a 
funded status of 60.8% by 2021 as shown in the Attachment 2a. 

Plan size: 155 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 98 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 5 
• Active employees: 52 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status:  
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by actuarial projection found in the corrective 
action plan. 
 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

 
• Reasonable Timeframe: 

o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 
funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2021). 
 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body.  

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 24.6%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Oak Park included an actuarial projection showing the effect of changes listed in their 
corrective action plan. This projection shows them reaching 60% funded in 2021. This projection also 
shows the impact on their annual employer contribution, demonstrating that from 2019 to 2037, the 
annual payment increases by approximately $1,000,000, or 33%. This does not take into account the 
increase of ADC from FY18 to FY19 of approximately $550,000 

 



Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Retirement System Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

 

 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 

 

 



 
 

    
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 

      

 
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 
 

      

 
 

 
      

         
  

   
    

    
      

   

 

    
      

     
 

 
   

    
 

 
    

     
      

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

General Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement Pension $19,305,654 $40,735,745 47.4% $1,256,953 Yes 
System 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $40,470,218 $71,651,880 56.5% $2,314,911 

11.9% 

Yes 

General 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,118,254 $27,943,556 4.0% $1,620,940 $30,019,441 Yes 

Benefits 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,868,361 $29,840,965 6.3% $1,901,699 12.7% Yes 

Benefits 
District Court 
Postemployment OPEB $0 $4,737,968 0.0% $304,296 Yes 
Benefits 
Total $62,762,487 $174,910,114 $6,340,841 $30,019,441 24.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the General Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB 
corrective action plan submitted by the City of Oak Park, which was received by the Municipal Stability 
Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If denied, the City of Oak Park, will receive a detailed letter 
from the Board listing the reasons for disapproval. The City of Oak Park will have 60 days from the 
date of the notification to address the reason for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for 
approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o All non-union new hires effective 08/01/2004; all new hires in TPOAM bargaining

agreement effective 07/01/2006; and all new hires in TPOAM Dispatch bargaining
agreement effective 07/01/2007 are in a Health Savings Account program and the OPEB
plan is closed to all new hires. Benefit levels of the retired membership mirrors the
current collective bargaining agreement for each class of employee effective
07/01/2010. Prior to this date retirees' health care was maintained at the benefit level
when retired.

• Plan Funding:
o The City had set aside approximately 600,000 in total between the General Employees

and Public Safety OPEB plans from 2004 to 2014 but made almost no additional
contributions. In 2015, a formal trust was created to receive, invest, and accumulate



 
 

    
   

 
   

    
    

   
   

 
 

  
      

   
      

   

 

    
     

  
    

   
  

   
     

     
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

   
    

  
    

   
 

  
 

    
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

General Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

assets for retirement healthcare. The City began setting aside any operating surplus in 
the General fund annual to make additional RHC contributions above the premium. The 
additional contributions totaled $1,000,000 for FY 2015. $1,300,000 for FY 2016 and 
$600,000 for FY 2018. The audited statement of this fund as of 06/30/2017 show a total 
of $3,093,894 for the two OPEB funds. 

• Other Considerations: 
o In 2006 the City attempted to make changes to the retiree health care (RHC) benefit 

provided to Public Safety retirees by increasing the copay for medical and prescription 
drugs but was sued and ultimately lost the court case and was mandated to not make 
any changes to benefits. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The City noted that, as listed in the Prior Actions “Other Considerations”, attempted 

changes to the existing retiree’s healthcare were blocked by court action. The Plan is 
closed with all new hires being part of the HSA program, so they indicate that no 
additional changes can be made. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City is committed to continue to make additional contributions annually from any 

surplus in the General Fund. To comply with PA 202 for the 2 DB pension plans, the city 
has committed to additional annual contributions totaling $843,595. While the 
additional pension contributions use up all estimated surplus in the short-term, the city 
is committed to continue to make additional annual contributions of $600,000-
$1,200,000 from savings from switching to Medicare Advantage between the two OPEB 
funds. These savings are combined for the General Employee and Public Safety systems. 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City is self-insured for all healthcare costs. Beginning in September 2018, the city 

joined Medicare Advantage for the eligible retirees, which will help reduce the overall 
cost of insurance. The projected savings from this change is approximately 10-20% 
annually, which the City states would be $600K to $1.2 million annually, but the 
supporting documentation only demonstrates savings of approximately $350K when 
combining the BCBSM Admin and Stop-Gap savings, and BCBSM Cost Analysis savings. 
These savings are also combined between the General Employee and Public Safety 
systems. 

o The formal creation of a trust fund will also increase the overall investment return. 



 
 

    
   

 
  

     
    

   

     

   
      

  
    

 

    

  
     

    
 

 
   

 
 

   

  
   

 
 

  
  

  
  

 

 

    
   

   
   

  
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

General Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

Plan size: 251 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries receiving or entitled to benefits: 229 
• Active employees: 22 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 24.6%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan failed to demonstrate the retirement system will reach 40% 

funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The certifying official of the local unit indicates the retirement system will reach a 

funded status of at least 40% by fiscal year 2048; however, there is no supporting 
documentation to support this claim. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Oak Park included several cost analyses documenting the annual savings that would be 
gained from joining Medicare Advantage. The City’s corrective action plan indicates that the annual 
savings from this switch would be contributed as assets to the system’s retirement healthcare trust, 
however there is no supporting documentation provided that demonstrates the effect those annual 
savings contributions would have on the system’s funded ratio. 



 
 

    
   

 
  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

General Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted 



  
 

      
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 

      

 
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 
 

      

 
 

 
      

         
  

      
       

        
       

 

 

    
        

    
 

    
     

   
 

   
     

    

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement Pension $19,305,654 $40,735,745 47.4% $1,256,953 Yes 
System 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $40,470,218 $71,651,880 56.5% $2,314,911 

11.9% 

Yes 

General 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,118,254 $27,943,556 4.0% $1,620,940 $30,019,441 Yes 

Benefits 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,868,361 $29,840,965 6.3% $1,901,699 12.7% Yes 

Benefits 
District Court 
Postemployment OPEB $0 $4,737,968 0.0% $304,296 Yes 
Benefits 
Total $62,762,487 $174,910,114 $6,340,841 $30,019,441 24.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the Public Safety Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB 
corrective action plan submitted by the City of Oak Park, which was received by the Municipal Stability 
Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If denied, the City of Oak Park, will receive a detailed letter 
from the Board listing the reasons for disapproval. The City of Oak Park will have 60 days from the date 
of the notification to address the reason for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for 
approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o Effective July 1, 2011, the City eliminated the Retiree Health Care Benefit and

transitioned to a Health Savings Account program for all new employees in the POAM
and POLC bargaining units.

o The City has changed the benefit levels received by employees in the system. Effective
January 18, 1993, new employees in the POAM and POLC bargaining units no longer
qualified for one hundred percent of their premium to be paid by the City. The
percentage of retiree's premium to be paid by the City for retirees hired after July 18,
1993 and before July 1, 2011 are as follows:
 Effective May 2, 2005 new hires in the POLC and POAM bargaining units are not

eligible for retiree medical coverage until they have reached 25 years of service.



  
 

      
 

 
       

   
   

  
 

 
   

     
   

  
     

 
  

 
 

   
    

      

  
    

    
   
   

    
 

  
       

   
      

   

 

    
      

    
    

   
  

   
     

     

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

 Effective July 1, 2014 retiree health care will reflect the health care of active 
employees, and any changes that occur. Prior to this date retirees' health care 
was maintained at the benefit level received on the date the employee retired. 
Since that date the City has increased copays by $20 for office visits, $20 for 
prescription drugs, and increased coinsurance for an individual to $2,000 and 
$3,000 for a family, ultimately decreasing the costs borne by the City. 

 Effective July 28, 2017 the City instituted a Deferred Retirement Option Program 
for all employees in the POAM and POLC bargaining units, as well as the Director 
and Deputy Director of Public Safety. When accepted into the DROP program 
employees continue contributions at the same percentage, with no additional 
pension benefit provided. Employees in the program are guaranteed a 2% 
interest rate paid to the employee pension amount in the DROP account, but 
any interest realized over and above the 2% will be absorbed by the Public 
Safety Retirement System. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City had set aside approximately $600,000 in total between the General Employees 

and Public Safety OPEB plans from 2004 to 2014 but made almost no additional 
contributions. In 2015, a formal trust was created to receive, invest, and accumulate 
assets for retirement healthcare. The City began setting aside any operating surplus in 
the General fund annual to make additional RHC contributions above the premium. The 
additional contributions totaled $1,000,000 for FY 2015. $1,300,000 for FY 2016 and 
$600,000 for FY 2018. The audited statement of this fund as of 06/30/2017 show a total 
of $3,093,894 for the two OPEB funds. 

o Act 345 millage of 7 mills was approved by voters in August for another ten years. 

• Other Considerations: 
o In 2006 the City attempted to make changes to the retiree health care (RHC) benefit 

provided to Public Safety retirees by increasing the copay for medical and prescription 
drugs but was sued and ultimately lost the court case and was mandated to not make 
any changes to benefits. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The City noted that, as listed in the Prior Actions “Other Considerations”, attempts to 

make changes to the existing retiree’s healthcare were blocked by court action. The Plan 
is closed with all new hires being part of the HSA program, so they indicate that no 
additional changes can be made. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City is committed to continue to make additional contributions annually from any 

surplus in the General Fund. To comply with PA 202 for the 2 DB pension plans, the city 



  
 

      
 

 
 

  
   

  
   

 
  

     
    

  
    

    
  

   
 

  

     
  
   

   

     

  
      

  
    

    

  
     

   
 

  
      

 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

has committed to additional annual contributions totaling $843,595. While the 
additional pension contributions use up all estimated surplus in the short-term, the city 
is committed to continue to make additional annual contributions of $600,000-
$1,200,000 from savings from switching to Medicare Advantage between the two OPEB 
funds. These savings are combined for the General Employee and Public Safety systems. 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City is self-insured for all healthcare costs. Beginning in September 2018, the city 

joined Medicare Advantage for the eligible retirees, which will help reduce the overall 
cost of insurance. The projected savings from this change is approximately 10-20% 
annually, which the City states would be $600K to $1.2 million annually, but the 
supporting documentation only demonstrates savings of approximately $350K when 
combining the BCBSM Admin and Stop-Gap savings, and BCBSM Cost Analysis savings. 
These savings are also combined between the General Employee and Public Safety 
systems. 

Plan size: 219 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 94 
• Covered Spouses/Dependents 
• Active employees: 38 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 24.6%. This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget 



  
 

      
 

 
   

  
   

 
  

  
   

  
 

 

     
     

   
    

  

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

Public Safety Employees Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan failed to demonstrate the retirement system will reach 40% 

funded. 
• Reasonable Timeframe: 

o The certifying official of the local unit indicates the retirement system will reach a 
funded status of at least 40% by fiscal year 2048; however, there is no supporting 
documentation to support this claim. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Oak Park included several cost analyses documenting the annual savings that would be 
gained from joining Medicare Advantage. The City’s corrective action plan indicates that the annual 
savings from this switch would be contributed as assets to the system’s retirement healthcare trust, 
however there is no supporting documentation provided that demonstrates the effect those annual 
savings contributions would have on the system’s funded ratio. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

     
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 

      

 
 

 

     

 

 

 
 

 
 

      

 
 

 
      

         
  

      
         

       
   

 

 

    
    

     
    

    
 

   
        

 
    

  
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

District Court Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Employees 
Retirement Pension $19,305,654 $40,735,745 47.4% $1,256,953 Yes 
System 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $40,470,218 $71,651,880 56.5% $2,314,911 

11.9% 

Yes 

General 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,118,254 $27,943,556 4.0% $1,620,940 $30,019,441 Yes 

Benefits 
Public Safety 
Employees 
Postemployment OPEB $1,868,361 $29,840,965 6.3% $1,901,699 12.7% Yes 

Benefits 
District Court 
Postemployment OPEB $0 $4,737,968 0.0% $304,296 Yes 
Benefits 
Total $62,762,487 $174,910,114 $6,340,841 $30,019,441 24.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by City of Oak Park, 
which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If denied, City 
of Oak Park, will receive a detailed letter from the Board listing the reasons for disapproval. City of Oak 
Park will have 60 days from the date of the notification to address the reason for disapproval and 
resubmit a corrective action plan for approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o All non-union new hires effective 8/1/2004 are in a Health Savings Account (HSA)

program. Benefit levels of the retired membership mirrors the active employees, and
any changes that occur effective 7/1/2010. Prior to this date retirees’ health care was
maintained at the benefit level when retired.

• Plan Funding:
o Beginning in 1995, the 45th District Court began levying a fee on certain tickets to fund

the OPEB plan. Effective 7/1/2015, the fee increased from $15 to $20. The fees collected
represent approximately 50% of the annual health care costs with the balance being
paid from the court’s operating budget annually.



 
 

     
   

 
  

  

 

    
   

  
   

      
  

 
     

    
    

      
   

 
  

  

  

     
   
   

   

   

  
      

   
    

 

   

  
    

    
    

    
  

    

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

District Court Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Court imposed block on changes to retiree healthcare 

• Plan Funding: 
o In September 2018, Court joined Medicare Advantage, saving a projected $39,000 

annually. This annual savings will be contributed to the Court’s plan assets, along with 
any other annual surplus. 

o The 45th District Court is Shared with 2 other communities. All communities levy the $20 
RHC fee. The courts operating budget is breakeven, with no surplus to make 
contributions over pay-as-you-go. Any additional contributions would come from Oak 
Parks General Fund, which is already committed to more then $1 million annual increase 
contributions for 2 pension and 2 other OPEB plans. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 

Plan size: 44 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 22 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 14 
• Active employees: 8 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. However, our review indicates the plan’s 
annual required contribution as a percentage of general fund operating revenues is 
24.6%. This reflects a significant portion of the local government’s budget. 



 
 

     
   

 
 

   

  
   

 
 

  
  

   
  

 

      
      

  
   

  

   

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Oak Park 

District Court Postemployment Benefits OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 632140 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan failed to demonstrate the retirement system will reach 40% 

funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The certifying official of the local unit indicates the retirement system will reach a 

funded status of at least 40% by fiscal year 2048; however, there is no supporting 
documentation to support this claim. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Oak Park failed to provide supporting documentation to show that this plan would be able to 
reach 40% funded by the year listed of 2048. The only listed additional funding source is provided 
through annual savings from joining Medicare Advantage, and there is not adequate documentation 
showing the impact this would have on the funded ratio. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
  

   
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 

     

 

  

 
 

       

         
  

     
      

   
  

 

    
    

  
 

      
 

 
   

      
  

   
 

  
  

 

    
    

  
   

    
  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
St. Clair County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 740100 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

St. Clair 
County 
Employees’ 
Retirement 
System 

Pension $35,868,468 $42,355,452 84.7% $910,369 

$28,590,485 

3.2% No 

St. Clair 
County 
OPEB 

OPEB $1,360,548 $27,244,192 5.0% $2,748,314 9.6% Yes 

Total $37,229,016 $69,579,644 $3,658,683 $28,590,485 12.8% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by St. Clair County Road 
Commission, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Effective September 14, 2011, the defined benefit plan was closed to all new hires. All 

new employees hired after September 14, 2011 are not eligible to receive retiree 
healthcare benefits. 

o Effective 2018, the local unit has committed to pay the current PA 202 minimum 
contribution of $1,052,000. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Effective 2018, the local unit has committed to pay the PA 202 minimum contribution 

along with an additional $300,000 for the next ten years. The additional contributions 
will increase the retiree healthcare system’s funded ratio to 40% by 2027. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Effective 2019, co-pays and deductibles were increased for all retirees over 65. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Effective 2018, the local unit will pay the PA 202 minimum contribution along with an 

additional $300,000 for the next ten years. 



 
  

   
  
 

  
     

   
    

  
  
  

  

   

   

   
     

     
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

  
    

    
    

  

 

   
   

Treasury Recommendation 
St. Clair County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 740100 

• Other Considerations: 
o The local unit has directed their efforts in funding the pension system. Now that the 

pension is funded at 91.5% funding retiree healthcare will be a priority along with 
continuing funding of the pension plan to maintain its fiscal health. 

o The local unit has agreed to pay an additional $500,000 in lieu of the additional 
$300,000 for 2019 and is looking into the possibility of applying an additional $100,000 
annually in funding derived from dock rental income to the retiree healthcare system. 

Plan size: N/A 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2027). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

St. Clair County Road Commission included the projected funded status and actuarially determined 
contribution schedule demonstrating the local unit reaching a 40% funded status by January 1, 2027. 



 
  

   
  
 

 

    
    

   
  

  

 

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
St. Clair County Road Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 740100 

From 2018 to 2029, the local unit’s annual payment increases by approximately 500% from $1,507,121 
to $9,042,058. Additionally, when compared to the fiscal year 2017 audited financial statement, the 
internal analysis shows a reduction in the actuarial accrued liability (AAL) of $12.9 million in 2018, or 
89%. Treasury is unable to determine the factors contributing to this reduction in the AAL based on the 
documentation provided. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

     
         

       
   

 

    
   

   
  

    
   

  
 

  
    

    
     

  

     
   
   

   

     

   
      

      
 

 
  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Milan 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 812020 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $5,967,697 $12,787,879 46.7% $633,787 10.8% YES 
Healthcare OPEB $0 $3,549,323 0.0% $453,227 $5,878,097 7.7% NO 
Total $5,967,697 $16,337,202 $1,087,014 $5,878,097 18.5% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by City of Milan, 
which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by 
the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 
2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The system closed defined benefit plans for newly hired employees.  The City now 

offers defined contribution plans for newly hired employees (non-department heads) 
hired after July 1, 1997 and a hybrid pension plan for newly hired department heads 
hired after July 1, 2012. They have included the projection of funded levels from the 
original actuarial valuation submitted that shows the funded ratio is planned to reach 
60% by calendar 2022. 

• Other Considerations: 
o Since the time of the filing of Form 5572, they have received an updated actuarial 

valuation for the year 2017 that shows the funded ratio has improved to 50%.  The 
actuarial valuation also shows the plan is still projected to reach 60% within 5 years 
(calendar year 2022), as shown on page 13 of attachment 2b. 

Plan size: 59 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 41 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 9 
• Active employees: 9 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial valuation found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 



 
 

   
   

 
    

   
 
 

  
      

  
    

 
  

      
   

  

 

    
        

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Milan 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 812020 

o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 
funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2022). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

City of Milan included two graphs showing the funded percentage and computed annual employer 
contribution.  As demonstrated in the charts below, the pension plan would be over 60% funded in 2022 
assuming a 7.75% rate of return. 



 
 

   
   

 
  

        
      

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Milan 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 812020 

This chart shows the projected annual employer contribution payments declining dramatically in the 
future.  It will decrease from its peak of up to about $1.6 million in 2025 – assuming a 5.75% rate of 
return - to around $100,000 in 2043. This is a 94% decline in the City of Milan’s annual employer 
contribution. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

        

 
 

 

 
 

        

         
   

     
       

       
   

 

    
  

       
  
       

   
  

   
  

   
   

  
 

    
    

     

Treasury Recommendation 
Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 817514 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/ 
Revenue 

CAP 
required? 

Ypsilanti 
Community 
Utilities 
Authority 
Employees 
Retirement 
System 
(8106) 
MERS 

Pension $29,139,150 $52,883,046 55.1% $1,929,047 $42,916,770 4.5% Yes 

Ypsilanti 
Community 
Utilities 
Authority 
Retiree 
Health 
Care Plan 

OPEB $14,714,923 $28,820,484 51.1% $2,753,063 $42,916,770 6.4% No 

Total $43,854,073 $81,703,530 $4,682,110 $85,833,540 10.9% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by Ypsilanti 
Community Utilities Authority (YCUA), which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 
on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them 
for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The system’s multiplier for all AFSCME union employees hired after September 1, 2013 

was reduced from 2.0% to 1.5%. As of April 6, 2018, 28 of 86 employees in this group 
are affected by this design change. The system’s multiplier for all non-union employees 
hired after January 1, 2014 was reduced from 2.0% to 1.5%. As of April 6, 2018, 2 of 9 
employees in this group are affected by this design change. In total, 31.5% of the 
employees in both groups reflect a lower multiplier. 

o The system’s COLA was eliminated for all non-union employees hired after January 1, 
2014. 

o Paid Time Off (PTO) maximum possible accumulation included in the Final Average 
Compensation (FAC) calculation for Non-Union employees hired after January 1, 2014 
was reduced from 640 hours to 240 hours. 

o PTO maximum possible accumulation included in the FAC calculation for Teamster 
employees hired after September 1, 2013 was reduced from 640 hours to 480 hours. 

o Further, in 2013 the total hours of accumulated sick, vacation or PTO time included in 
the FAC at retirement was reduced from 100% to 75% or 50% to 0%, depending on the 



 
 

   
  
 

   

  
    

    
  

    
 

    
     

    
    
     

     
 

  
       
      

    
 

  
         

     
     

       
        

 

 

    
    

 
   

   
      

    
  

  
 
 
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 817514 

employee group and the original hire date. Accumulated sick leave paid out at 
retirement is no longer included in the FAC for AFSCME union employees hired after 
September 1, 2013. 

o Vacation time maximum possible accumulation included in the FAC calculation for 
AFSCME Union employees hired after September 1, 2013 was reduced from 2.5 times to 
the annual accumulation to 2 times the annual accumulation. 

o The plan is still open. 

• Plan Funding: 
o YCUA made three payments beyond their annual required contribution: 

 August 31, 2017 - $537,644 
 July 11, 2018 - $500,000 
 September 21, 2018 - $500,000 

• Treasury was able to verify the August 2017 and July 2018 deposits, but 
the MERS statements YCUA provided shows the September 2018 
payment being made in June 2018. 

o YCUA has been contributing the MERS “no phase in” number, the higher ARC. 
o In addition, the YCUA Teamster’s Union members increased their contribution to the 

pension system from 4% to 5% effective November 1, 2018. 

• Other Considerations: 
o YCUA stated that their fiscal year ending August 31, 2018 will show they are currently at 

a funded percentage of 59.758%. Total pension liability is $53,912,136 (an increase from 
the prior year of just over $1 million), the net position is $3,216,841 (an increase of just 
over $3 million) and the NPL is $21,695,295 (for a decrease of about $2 million). 
 Treasury was not able to confirm the any of the changes listed above unless 

specified. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None listed. 

• Plan Funding: 
o YCUA will continue contributing an extra $1,000,000 towards their pension liability. 

They will maintain making the contributions at the “no phase in” number for the 
foreseeable future. Attachment 3 in the Supplemental Information Section provides a 
table showing the approved 2019 budget with an additional $1,000,000 going toward 
their pension. 



 
 

   
  
 

  
     

   
   

   
   

  
  

  

     
   
   

   

      

   
     

       
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

  
      

   
 

 

    
         

         
  

Treasury Recommendation 
Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 817514 

• Other Considerations 
o YCUA will continue making the annual employer contribution based on the MERS 5 year 

no phase-in approach, which increases the funded percentage more expediently than if 
they were to use the phase in method. 

o They also point out that their ADC/Governmental Fund Revenues is 4.7%, which is less 
than the 10% allowed for primary units. 

o They believe that they should be treated as a primary unit due to their size and financial 
resources. 

Plan size: 239 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 116 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 16 
• Active employees: 107 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial valuation found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2021). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

In Attachment 1, YCUA included a CBIZ graph showing the unit becoming 60% funded by 2021. 
Attachment 2 is a CBIZ projected annual payments chart. From 2018 to 2021, the local government’s 
projected annual payment increases 4.8%. Attachment 3 provides a table showing the approved 2019 
budget with an additional $1,000,000 going toward their pension. 



 
 

   
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 817514 

Attachment 1: 

Attachment 2: 



 
 

   
  
 

 

 

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 817514 

Attachment 3: 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

    
   

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

  

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

      

  

 
     

 

 

  
 

 
      

         
  

     
       

   
  

 

    
     

     
     

   
  

   
   

 
    

   
 

  
  

 

    
   

    

Treasury Recommendation 
Redford Charter Township 

General Employees OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 821080 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS -
General Pension $28,414,826 $50,895,851 55.8% $1,609,912 No 
Employees 
Police and 15.4% 
Fire 
Pension Pension $63,281,796 $11,1474,258 56.8% $4,320,943 No 

Plan $38,453,626 
OPEB -
General 
Employees 

OPEB $2,016,917 $54,131,489 3.7% $2,792,937 

18.9% 

Yes 

OPEB -
Police and OPEB $4,134,869 $88,060,417 4.7% $4,480,511 Yes 
Fire 
Total $97,848,408 $304,562,015 $13,204,303 $38,453,626 34.3% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by Redford Charter 
Township, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Over the past 18 months, retiree benefit plans were amended to mirror their active 

employees, by consolidating into either a Health Savings Account (HSA) or Health 
Reimbursement Account (HRA) Plan, reducing their health care premiums over $1.3 
million (33%). Treasury was unable to confirm this. 

o In August 2017, the township entered into a new collective bargaining agreement with 
MAPE and non-union hourly employees that requires all new hires to contribute 3% of 
their salary towards retiree health care funding. Treasury was unable to confirm this. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None Noted. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Noted. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The township is working with various employee groups and unions to increase employee 

co-payments and deductible for health care to improve the funding ratio. If these 



 
 

    
   

 
  

  
   

   
   

    
 

  
  

  

      
   
   

   

     

   
     

     
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

    

  
     

   
 

  
   

 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Redford Charter Township 

General Employees OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 821080 

increases are approved, the township will obtain a new actuarial study. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Beginning with fiscal year 2020, the Township has committed to contribute at least an 

additional $300,000 above its pay as you go requirements. This amount will increase by 
$50,000 every five years to reach 40% funded by fiscal year 2048. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Plan size: 222 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 133 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 89 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2048). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 34.3%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget 



 
 

    
   

 
 

      
    

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Redford Charter Township 

General Employees OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 821080 

Supplemental Information: 

The Redford Charter Township included their internal evaluation that shows them reaching 40% funded 
in fiscal year 2048. The normal cost for the township also increases by approximately 135% between 
fiscal year 2019 and 2048. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

  

 
     

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

      

  

 
     

 

 

  
 

 
      

         
  

    
        

   
   

 

    
     

   
     

    
  

  
   

 
   

   
 

  
  

 

    
  

    

Treasury Recommendation 
Redford Charter Township 

Police and Fire OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 821080 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS -
General Pension $28,414,826 $50,895,851 55.8% $1,609,912 No 
Employees 
Police and 15.4% 
Fire 
Pension Pension $63,281,796 $11,1474,258 56.8% $4,320,943 No 

Plan $38,453,626 
OPEB -
General 
Employees 

OPEB $2,016,917 $54,131,489 3.7% $2,792,937 

18.9% 

Yes 

OPEB -
Police and OPEB $4,134,869 $88,060,417 4.7% $4,480,511 Yes 
Fire 
Total $97,848,408 $304,562,015 $13,204,303 $38,453,626 34.3% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by Redford Charter 
Township, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018 If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Over the past 18 months, retiree benefit plans were amended to mirror their active 

employees, by consolidating into either a Health Savings Account (HSA) or Health 
Reimbursement Account (HRA) Plan, reducing their health care premiums over $1.3 
million (33%). Treasury was unable to confirm this. 

o In August 2016, the township entered into a new collective bargaining agreement with 
POAM and IAFF that requires all new hires to contribute 3% of their salary towards 
retiree health care funding. Treasury was unable to confirm this. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None noted. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The township is working with various employee groups and unions to increase employee 

co-payments and deductible for health care to improve the funding ratio. If these 



 
 

  
 

 
  

  
   

   
   

    
 

  
  

  

      
   
   

   

    

   
     

    
  

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
  

    
 

    

  
    

   
  

 
     

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Redford Charter Township 

Police and Fire OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 821080 

increases are approved, the township will obtain a new actuarial study. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Beginning with fiscal year 2019, the Township has committed to contribute at least an 

additional $450,000 above its pay as you go requirements. This amount will increase by 
$50,000 every five years to reach 40% funded by fiscal year 2048. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Plan size: 243 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 159 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 84 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2048). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 34.3%. This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 



 
 

  
 

 
 

    
       

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Redford Charter Township 

Police and Fire OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 821080 

Supplemental Information: 

Redford Charter Township included its internal analysis showing them reach 40% funded status in fiscal 
year 2048. The normal cost for the township also increases by approximately 135% between fiscal year 
2019 and 2048. 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

      

 
 

 

 
       

 
       

        

         

  

     
         

      
    

  

 

    
  

 
   

   
    

 
  

      

 

    
   

 
   

    
  

 
  

  
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

General Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

General 
Employees Pension $230,925 $6,173,544 2.0% $872,000 Yes 

Public 
Safety Pension $652,623 $31,847,236 3.7% $4,032,000 32.6% Yes 

Police and 
Firemen Pension $295,487 $4,052,265 7.3% $4,347,752 

$16,874,119 
Yes 

Retiree 
Medical OPEB $0 $24,087,834 0.0% $557,966 3.3% No 

Total $1,179,035 $66,160,879 $9,809,718 $16,874,119 35.9% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the General Employees pension corrective action plan 
submitted by the city of Highland Park which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 
on December 19, 2018. If denied, Highland Park, will receive a detailed letter from the Board listing the 
reasons for disapproval. Highland Park will have 60 days from the date of the notification to address 
the reason for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o The plan is closed to new hires.

• Plan Funding:
o The plan is funded through a dedicated court-ordered millage levied annually. The levy

is approximately $600,000 a year.

• Other Considerations:
o The plan is expected to expire in 2050. Treasury was unable to confirm this.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o None noted.

• Plan Funding:
o Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the general fund will contribute at least $100,000 annually

to the pension fund.

• Other Considerations:
o None noted.



 
 

   
  

 
  

     
   
   

   

    

  
   

     
     

 
 

  
    

     
 

   
  

 

   

 
   

    
    

   
   

 
 

  
    

    
  

 
   

 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

General Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Plan size: 53 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 53 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 0 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates the retirement 

system will reach 60% funded.  Based on other information presented in the corrective 
action plan, we have determined the plan may be able to reach a funded ratio of 60% if 
the plan’s assumptions remain accurate. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 60% by 2028; 

however, the local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates this. 
Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 60% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit indicated its corrective action plan was legal and feasible in Section 7 of 

the corrective action plan template; however, the local unit in section 5 of the corrective 
action plan template noted that they will not be able to pay their annual required 
contribution (ARC). Paying the ARC is required by the Michigan Constitution and PA 314 
of 1965, as amended. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit did not confirm in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. Additionally, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 35.9%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 



 
 

   
  

 
 

     
  

    
   

      

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

General Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Supplemental Information: 

In section five of the City of Highland Park Corrective action plan they certified no that they can not 
make the minimum annual required contribution payments according to their long-term budget 
forecast. It was further noted that “A distressed community, Highland Park, does not have the capacity 
to make the annual required contribution prior to the near end term of the plan.” 

The City of Highland Park included an internal analysis of its funding percentage. 



 
 

   
  

 

  

  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

General Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

      

 
 

 

 
       

 
       

        

         

  

     
         

      
     

  

 

    
  

 
   

    
    

 
  

      

 

    
   

 
   

   
 

 
  

  
 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Police and Firemen Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

General 
Employees Pension $230,925 $6,173,544 2.0% $872,000 Yes 

Public 
Safety Pension $652,623 $31,847,236 3.7% $4,032,000 32.6% Yes 

Police and 
Firemen Pension $295,487 $4,052,265 7.3% $4,347,752 

$16,874,119 
Yes 

Retiree 
Medical OPEB $0 $24,087,834 0.0% $557,966 3.3% No 

Total $1,179,035 $66,160,879 $9,809,718 $16,874,119 35.9% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the Police and Firemen pension corrective action plan 
submitted by the city of Highland Park which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 
on December 19, 2018. If denied, Highland Park, will receive a detailed letter from the Board listing the 
reasons for disapproval. Highland Park will have 60 days from the date of the notification to address 
the reason for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o The plan is closed to new hires.

• Plan Funding:
o The plan is funded through a dedicated court-ordered millage levied annually. The levy

is approximately $500,000 a year.

• Other Considerations:
o The plan is expected to expire in 2045. Treasury was unable to confirm this.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o None noted.

• Plan Funding:
o Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the general fund will contribute $100,000 annually to the

pension fund.

• Other Considerations:
o None noted.



 
 

 
  

 
  

     
   
   

   

    

  
   

     
      

 
 

  
    

     
 

   
   

 

   

 
  

    
     

   
   

 
 

  
    

   
  

 
   

 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Police and Firemen Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Plan size: 45 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 45 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 0 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates the retirement 

system will reach 60% funded.  Based on other information presented in the corrective 
action plan, we have determined the plan may be able to reach a funded ratio of 60% if 
the plan’s assumptions remain accurate. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 60% by 2028; 

however, the local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates this. 
Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 60% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit indicated its corrective action plan was legal and feasible in Section 7 of 

the corrective action plan template; however, the local unit in section 5 of the corrective 
action plan template noted that they will not be able to pay their annual required 
contribution (ARC). Paying the ARC is required by the Michigan Constitution and PA 314 
of 1965, as amended. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit did not confirm in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. Additionally, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 35.9%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 



 
 

 
  

 
 

 

    
  

     
   

      

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Police and Firemen Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Supplemental Information: 

In section five of the City of Highland Park Corrective action plan they certified no that they can not 
make the minimum annual required contribution payments according to their long-term budget 
forecast. It was further noted that “A distressed community, Highland Park, does not have the capacity 
to make the annual required contribution prior to the near end term of the plan.” 

The City of Highland Park included an internal analysis of its funding percentage. 



 
 

 
  

 
  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Police and Firemen Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
  

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

      

 
 

 

 
       

 
       

        

         

  

      
       

       
     

  

 

    
  

 
   

   
    

 
  

      

 

    
   

 
   

  
  

 
  

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Public Safety Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

General 
Employees Pension $230,925 $6,173,544 2.0% $872,000 Yes 

Public 
Safety Pension $652,623 $31,847,236 3.7% $4,032,000 32.6% Yes 

Police and 
Firemen Pension $295,487 $4,052,265 7.3% $4,347,752 

$16,874,119 
Yes 

Retiree 
Medical OPEB $0 $24,087,834 0.0% $557,966 3.3% No 

Total $1,179,035 $66,160,879 $9,809,718 $16,874,119 35.9% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the Public Safety pension corrective action plan submitted by 
the city of Highland Park which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 
19, 2018. If denied, Highland Park, will receive a detailed letter from the Board listing the reasons for 
disapproval. Highland Park will have 60 days from the date of the notification to address the reason for 
disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for approval. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o The plan is closed to new hires.

• Plan Funding:
o The plan is funded through a dedicated court-ordered millage levied annually. The levy

is approximately $2,000,000 a year.

• Other Considerations:
o The plan is expected to expire in 2050. Treasury was unable to confirm this.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o None noted.

• Plan Funding:
o Beginning in fiscal year 2019, the general fund will contribute at least $300,000 annually

to the pension fund.

• Other Considerations:
o None noted.



 
 

   
  

 
  

      
   
   

   

    

  
   

     
     

 
 

  
    

    
      

 
 

   

 
  

     
    

   
   

 
 

  
    

   
  

 
   

 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Public Safety Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Plan size: 69 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 61 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 4 
• Active employees: 4 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates the retirement 

system will reach 60% funded.  Based on other information presented in the corrective 
action plan, we have determined the plan may be able to reach a funded ratio of 60% if 
the plan’s assumptions remain accurate. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 60% by 2040; 

however, the local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates this. 
Additionally, the local unit of government does not do so within 20 years for a severely 
underfunded plan. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit indicated its corrective action plan was legal and feasible in Section 7 of 

the corrective action plan template; however, the local unit in section 5 of the corrective 
action plan template noted that they will not be able to pay their annual required 
contribution (ARC). Paying the ARC is required by the Michigan Constitution and PA 314 
of 1965, as amended. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit did not confirm in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. Additionally, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 29.4%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 



 
 

   
  

 
 

 

     
  

    
   

      

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Public Safety Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

Supplemental Information: 

In section five of the City of Highland Park Corrective action plan they certified no that they can not 
make the minimum annual required contribution payments according to their long-term budget 
forecast. It was further noted that “A distressed community, Highland Park, does not have the capacity 
to make the annual required contribution prior to the near end term of the plan.” 

The City of Highland Park included an internal analysis of its funding percentage. 



 
 

   
  

 

 

  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Highland Park 

Public Safety Employees Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822160 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
   

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

     

 

  

       
 

      

 

   
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

     

         
  

     
       

   
    

 

    
    

 
     

     
     

       
 

    
   

 
 
 

   
  

 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – MERS 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

LP Police & 
Fire 
Retirement Pension $21,591,583 $80,257,718 26.9% $6,030,575 32.5% Yes 

System 
MERS Pension $7,418,158 $41,054,720 18.1% $3,527,338 Yes 
LP Police & 
Fire OPEB $0 $57,736,481 0.0% $3,466,031 $29,372,372 

24.0% 

Yes – Note: 
subsequent 
City action 

has 
resulted in 
these plans 

being 
combined. 

LP 
Municipal 

OPEB $0 $53,192,760 0.0% $3,589,713 

Total $29,009,741 $232,241,679 $16,613,657 $29,372,372 56.5% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the MERS pension corrective action plan submitted by the City of 
Lincoln Park, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19th, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2004, the City closed the defined benefit plan to new employees, while moving new 

to a defined contribution plan. 
o The City notes that in 2012 a hybrid style defined benefit plan administered with MERS 

was opened.  All new employees are enrolled into the MERS Hybrid plan. Employees in 
the defined contribution plan where giving the option of moving to the hybrid plan. 

o Effective July 1, 2017, the Defined Benefit Plan annuity withdraws were capped at 20 
years. 

o In 2014, the City notes, COLAs were eliminated. 
o The City notes employee contributions were increased from 8.41 to 9.41 (effective 

7/1/2017) and then again from 9.41 to 10.41 (effective 7/1/2018). 

• Plan Funding: 
o None Noted. 



 
   

   
   

 
   

     
  

 
   

  

 

    
   

 
   

    
    

    
   

     
   

  
       

     
    

  
  

  

  

      
   
   

   

     

   
     

       
  

  
    

      
  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – MERS 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

• Other Considerations: 
o The latest actuarial report conducted by MERS does not reflect any of the changes to 

plan design undertaken by the City.  The City notes MERS has been reluctant to 
implement these system design changes due to software limitations, as well as, the legal 
right of the Emergency Manager to negotiate these changes with the affected employee 
collective bargaining units. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Noted. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The Emergency Manager developed a plan that would provide for level funding in the 

amount of $3.4 million per year for twenty years.  Under this plan the City would reach a 
funding status of 60% by FY 2035.  Based on MERS contribution data submitted as part 
of the corrective action plan, this policy would produce contributions in excess of the 
ARC until FY 2023 – FY 2024.  However, a $3.4 million City contribution would not be 
enough funding to satisfy the ARC requirements in all of the “out-years”. Please see the 
supplemental information section. 

o The ARC payment for MERS increased from $2.0 million in 2015 to $3.1 million in 2016, 
then to $3.7 million in FY 2017, and $3.6 million in 2018.  In 2019, the scheduled ARC 
payment is $2.6 million, but the City will make a payment of $3.4 million. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Noted. 

Plan size: 207 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 144 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 12 
• Active employees: 51 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial projection found in the corrective 
action plan. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2035). We do note however, that 
the actuarial projection assumes a different contribution stream then the current 



 
   

   
   

 
   

  
 

  
    

    
    
    

 
 

   

  
    

   
 

   
   

 
 

 

 

     
     

     

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – MERS 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

funding plan. This could result in a different timeframe; however, we believe the City 
has materially met this criterion. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit indicated its corrective action plan was legal and feasible in Section 7 of 

the corrective action plan template; however, the City’s current funding policy of a level 
contribution of $3.4 million over 20 years does not project to cover the annual required 
contribution amount required in the “out-years”. Based on a follow-up phone call with 
the City though, they indicated that their intention would be to pay at least the full ADC 
in all years. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates both pension plan’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 32.5%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Lincoln Park provided the following chart demonstrating it will reach a funding status of 60% 
by FY 2035.  We note this table is calculated using a discount rate of 7.75% whereas, the City has 
recently used 8.0% assumed rate of investment return for financial statement reporting purposes. 



 
   

   
   

 

 

  
    

    
  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – MERS 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

The City also provided the following MERS projection showing the annual computed employer 
contribution.  As mentioned above, the Emergency Manager has set a funding policy to contribute $3.4 
million over the next 20 years, however; as stated during a follow-up phone call, the City indicated that 
they would pay at least the required ADC in all years.  



 
   

   
   

 

 

  

      
    

    
   

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – MERS 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• Treasury called City Manager and Finance Director on 1/9/2019 regarding a discrepancy that 
was noticed regarding the scheduled annual payment as set by the Emergency Manager, and 
the annual required payment. The City confirmed that they would be paying at least the annual 
required payment in the event that the scheduled payment as set by the Emergency Manager 
was less than the ARC in a given year. 



 
    

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

     

 

  

       
 

      

 

   
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

     

         
  

      
     

      
 

 

    
      

 
       

    
     

      
     
    

    
      
    
  

   
    
   

     
    

  
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – LP Police & Fire Retirement System 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

LP Police & 
Fire 
Retirement Pension $21,591,583 $80,257,718 26.9% $6,030,575 32.5% Yes 

System 
MERS Pension $7,418,158 $41,054,720 18.1% $3,527,338 Yes 
LP Police & 
Fire OPEB $0 $57,736,481 0.0% $3,466,031 $29,372,372 

24.0% 

Yes – Note: 
subsequent 
City action 

has 
resulted in 
these plans 

being 
combined. 

LP 
Municipal 

OPEB $0 $53,192,760 0.0% $3,589,713 

Total $29,009,741 $232,241,679 $16,613,657 $29,372,372 56.5% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the LP Police and Fire Retirement System pension corrective action 
plan submitted by City of Lincoln Park, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 
on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them 
for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o In 2014, the ability to purchase up to three (3) years of additional service credit was 

eliminated. 
o In 2015 Annuity rate of return was changed to make the rate paid to match the rate of 

return of the system capped at 4%. 
o Police Annuity Changes in 2017 

 Hired before 2005 annuity withdraws capped at twenty (20) years 
 Hired after 2005 annuity withdraws capped at fifteen (15) years 
 Hired after 1/1/2014 annuity withdraws eliminated 

o Fire Annuity Changes in 2017 
 Hired before 2007 annuity withdraws capped at twenty (20) years 
 Hired after 2014 annuity withdraws capped at ten (10) years 
 Hired after 2017 annuity withdraws eliminated 

o Multipliers reduced to 2.00% for all employees after  10/1/2015 
o Cost of living adjustments eliminated in 2014 
o Employee contributions were increased on 7/1/2017 from 8.18% to 10.68% for Patrol 

Union, 8.18% to 9.18% for Command Union, and from 8.18% to 9.18% for IAFF. IAFF 
from further increased on 7/1/2018 from 9.18% to 10.18% and command union 
increased from 9.18% to 10.18% 



 
    

 
 

  
  

 
  

    
 

   
  

     
    
    
   

 

    
  

   
    

  
   

 
    

     
      

 
  

  
  

   

     
   
   

   

     

   
     

     
  

 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – LP Police & Fire Retirement System 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

• Plan Funding: 
o None Listed 

• Other Considerations: 
o In 2017, the City began making two payments rather than quarterly payments to 

maximize the interest gained on investible assets 
o UAAL was amortized as a level dollar amount over a closed period of 20 years, changing 

from an open period 
o Investment rate of return assumptions changed from 8% to 6.5% 
o Wage inflation changed from 4% to 3% 
o Price inflation changed from 3.5% to 2.75% 
o Mortality Tables updated to MP-2014 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 
o Analysis performed showing the impact of contributions above the ARC of $1,000,000 

and $2,000,000. This additional funding would get the system to 60% in less time. The 
City will be discussing the possibility of a ballot initiative to obtain these levels of 
funding for 2019. 

o The Emergency Manager developed a plan that would provide for level funding in the 
amount of $5.4 million per year for twenty years.  Based on the internal analysis of this 
plan, the City would reach a funding status of 60% by FY 2026. However, a $5.4 million 
City contribution would not be enough funding to satisfy the ARC requirements in all 
years. Please see the supplemental information section. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 

Plan size: 211 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 146 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 5 
• Active employees: 60 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 60% funded as demonstrated by the actuarial projection found in the corrective 
action plan. 



 
    

 
 

  
   

      
 

  
    

    
     

     
  

 

    

  

    
   

 
 

    
   

 
 

 

   
      

       
     

     
     

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – LP Police & Fire Retirement System 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 60% within a reasonable timeframe (2026). 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit indicated its corrective action plan was legal and feasible in Section 7 of 

the corrective action plan template; however, the City’s current funding policy of a level 
contribution of $5.4 million over 20 years does not project to cover the annual required 
contribution amount required in all years. Based on a follow-up phone call with the City 
though, they indicated that their intention would be to pay at least the full ADC in all 
years. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Affordable: 

o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 
corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates both pension plan’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 32.5%, and all systems combined (pension and 
OPEB) is 56.5%.  This reflects a significant portion of the local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

City of Lincoln Park included an actuarial projection from Watkins Ross showing the funding progress 
from 2018 to 2036. This projection demonstrates the City reaching 61% in 2026. This is based on the 
current investment rate of return of 6.5% and an annual UAAL contribution of $5,365,000. The City did 
confirm in section 5, and during a subsequent phone call, that they were committed to making the full 
ADC payment. They indicated that they would pay the full ADC in years in which the scheduled annual 
payment as directed by the Emergency Manager was less than the full ADC. 



 
    

 
 

 

  

     
    

     
   

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park – LP Police & Fire Retirement System 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• Treasury called City Manager and Finance Director on 1/9/2019 regarding a discrepancy that 
was noticed regarding the scheduled annual payment as set by the Emergency Manager, and 
the required annual required payment. The City confirmed that they would be paying at least 
the annual required payment in the event that the Emergency Manager scheduled payment was 
less than the ARC in a given year. 



 
  

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
 

 
 

     

 

  

       
 

      

 

   
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

     

         
  

     
      

   
   

 

    
   

  
 

  
    

    
    

  
  

     
 

 
   

   
 

  
  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park –Police & Fire and Municipal Plan 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

LP Police & 
Fire 
Retirement Pension $21,591,583 $80,257,718 26.9% $6,030,575 32.5% Yes 

System 
MERS Pension $7,418,158 $41,054,720 18.1% $3,527,338 Yes 
LP Police & 
Fire OPEB $0 $57,736,481 0.0% $3,466,031 $29,372,372 

24.0% 

Yes – Note: 
subsequent 
City action 

has 
resulted in 
these plans 

being 
combined. 

LP 
Municipal 

OPEB $0 $53,192,760 0.0% $3,589,713 

Total $29,009,741 $232,241,679 $16,613,657 $29,372,372 56.5% 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by City of Lincoln Park, 
which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by 
the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 
2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The Emergency Manager made the below changes: 

 Eliminated healthcare benefits as they were previously offered effective 
7/1/2015, and all retirees began receiving a monthly payment to be used 
toward purchasing health insurance or as a supplement to income. They could 
enroll and purchase the City’s group coverage or purchase on their own. 

 Non-Medicare Eligible Retirees receive between $150 and $425 per month. 
 Retirees can also purchase  through a Medicare Advantage Plan offered by the 

city , but the retiree is responsible for the premium, minus a subsidy provided 
by the city. 

 The cost of the monthly payments and subsidies are not to exceed $800,000 in 
any given year. 

• Plan Funding: 
o None Listed 

• Other Considerations: 
o None Listed 



 
  

   
 

 
 

    
  

  
   

   
   

    
 

  
   

      

  

     
   
   

   

   

  
      

  
    

   

   
     

      
   

   
 

 
  

   
  

   
 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park –Police & Fire and Municipal Plan 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o None Listed 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City will be making payments into the OPEB Fund for the next twelve (12) years 

payments in the amount of $528,000 per year. Included documentation shows that this 
allows the system to be 40% funded by 2028 

• Other Considerations: 
o The City will begin amortizing the unfunded portion of the healthcare liability using a 

level-dollar amortization method over a closed period of 30 years. 

Plan size: 194 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 194 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 0 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded as demonstrated by the internal analysis found in the corrective 
action plan, however, section 8 of the plan certifies that the plan will address 
underfunded status through the ARC/Revenue trigger. There was insufficient supporting 
documentation provided to show the City addressing their underfunded status through 
this method. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the local unit reaches the PA 202 established 

funding level of 40% within a reasonable timeframe (2028), however, section 8 of the 
plan certifies that they will address the ARC/Revenue trigger of 12% by 2018. There was 
insufficient supporting documentation provided to show the City addressing their 



 
  

   
 

 
 

 
  

    
    

 
 

    
 

 

 

   
      

 
     

   
    

   
   

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park –Police & Fire and Municipal Plan 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

underfunded status through this method. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, 
our review indicates all of the local unit’s annual required contribution as a percentage 
of general fund operating revenues is 56.5%.  This reflects a significant portion of the 
local government’s budget 

Supplemental Information: 

City of Lincoln Park included updated actuarial valuation information that projects a significantly 
reduced OPEB liability, reduced from over $110,000,000, as was reporting in their 2017 audit, to slightly 
over $4,000,000. Using this liability, the internal analysis shows that they reach the 40% funding 
threshold in 2028 if contributing $528,000 annually. The City also certified in section 8 of the corrective 
action plan, that they would be addressing their underfunded status by reducing their annual required 
contribution to less than 12% of their annual governmental fund revenues by 2018. If you use the 
actuarially determined contribution listed below and use their prior year’s governmental revenues, they 
do achieve this, however, there is nothing additional provided in the plan that addresses this statement. 



 
  

   
 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Lincoln Park –Police & Fire and Municipal Plan 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822180 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

     
        

       
   

 

    
      

  
     

  
 

     
    

 
  

    
  

 

    
   

 
   

    
 

   
   

  

      
   
   

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $63,791,363 $111,745,606 57.1% $3,331,359 17.2% YES 
Healthcare OPEB $2,295,381 $87,842,665 2.6% $6,219,301 $19,406,110 32.0% YES 
Total $66,086,744 $199,588,271 $9,550,660 $19,406,110 49.2% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by city of Wayne, 
which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by 
the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 
2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o New contracts were negotiated in June 2016. Lower multipliers were agreed to, such as

moving from 2.8 to 2.5 and opening new divisions for new hires with lower multipliers.
Also, most new contracts (that now expire June 30, 2019) moved from 7% employee
contribution to 10% employee contribution.

• Plan Funding:
o None listed.

• Other Considerations:
o MERS shows the city of Wayne as 60% funded for the December 31, 2017 Actuarial

Valuation Report.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o None listed.

• Plan Funding:
o None listed.

• Other Considerations
o None listed.

Plan size: 288 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 205
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 20
• Active employees: 63



 
 

   
   

 
   

     

   
    

    
 

  
   

   
 

  
     

    
       

    
 

  
     

   
 

 

         
  

   
     

       

    
   

   
    

   
    

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local government has demonstrated through supporting documentation that it has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60% funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates through supporting documentation that it has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60%. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit utilized an older version of the corrective action plan form that did not 

include an explicit confirmation of legality and feasibility. However, based on 
information provided, the plan appears to meet this criteria as follows all applicable 
laws, the actions listed are feasible and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

City of Wayne included a chart showing the changes made to negotiated contracts, lower multipliers 
and higher cost-sharing contributions. Also, the city included an annual actuarial valuation report from 
December 31, 2017 indicating Wayne’s pension system at 60% funded. Additionally, if all assumptions 
are met including a 7.75% investment return, the valuation shows the minimum employer contribution 
increasing 23% by 2021, from $5.5 million to $6.8 million. 

Treasury has classified the Affordable criteria for the city’s pension CAP as “met”, notwithstanding the 
total ADC/revenue equaling 49.2% as of the fiscal year 2017 audited statements. Treasury recommends 
consideration of the dramatic design change the city of Wayne implemented for its OPEB liability. The 
city implemented a stipend for all retirees receiving healthcare benefits. That change reduced the OPEB 
liability from $87 million to $7 million, which also reduced the ADC/revenue for its OPEB system from 
32% to below 12%. 



 
 

   
   

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

       
 

  
        

         
  

  

    
         

      
 

 

    
       

   
 

   
     

    
 

   
    

 
  

     
   

    
  

 

    
      

 
  

 
 

   
    

      

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $63,791,363 $111,745,606 57.1% $3,331,359 $19,406,110 17.2% YES 
Healthcare OPEB $2,295,381 $87,842,665 2.6% $6,219,301 32.0% YES 
Total $66,086,744 $199,588,271 $9,550,660 $19,406,110 49.2% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: 

Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the city of Wayne, which was received by the 
Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the 
Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of 
their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o On June 21, 2016, the city council approved a resolution whereby the city only paid up

to 70% of the cost of retiree healthcare. On April 18, 2017, the city council approved a
resolution to stop paying healthcare premiums for retirees and begin paying a monthly
stipend. A group of retirees brought legal action against the city related to this decision
and was able to block, temporarily, the city from switching to the stipend.

o Wayne closed the retiree healthcare system (which is now the stipend) to all

• Plan Funding:
o None listed.

• Other Considerations:
o City included a June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation. Based on the new stipend, the

system’s Actuarial Accrued Liability reduced from $87,842,665 to $7,537,123. The city’s
annual employer contribution will now be approximately $485,000, which is less that
12% of the city’s annual governmental fund revenue.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o The city is moving the retirees to a monthly stipend on January 1, 2019. The stipend

amounts for pre-65: HRA of $120.75/single/month; $254/two person/month;
$347.75/family/month. And post-65: HRA of $64.25/single/month.

• Plan Funding:
o The city has setup a retiree health funding vehicle (qualified trust) with MERS. The city

plans to contribute a portion of its cost-savings due to the stipend implementation. For



 
 

   
 

 
         

 
  

   

 

     
   
   

   

     

   
    

   
 

 
  

    
    

 
  

      
   

    
 

  
    

    
    

  
 

 

      
   

   
  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 

fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the city budgeted to contribute $50,000 to the trust. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None listed. 

Plan size: 243 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 177 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 20 
• Active employees: 46 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will no longer trigger underfunded status 

because the local unit’s annual required contribution will be less than 12% of general 
fund operating revenues. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates the annual required contribution will be less 

than 12% of general fund operating revenues by 2019. 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. 

Supplemental Information: 

The city of Wayne included a June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation report for its retiree healthcare system. 
Due to the stipends being implemented, the system’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability dramatically 
decreased to $7,537,123, from approximately $87 million. Further, the ADC in 2018 is $485,813 and in 
2019 $484,058. 



 
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 



 
 

   
 

 
  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wayne 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822300 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

 
         

        
         

  

       
     

   
  

 

    
    

  
 

 
   

    
  

 
 

  
  

 

    
        

    
   

 
   

  
    

  
  

 
  

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Woodhaven 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822320 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

Retirement 
plan Pension $21,994,166 $27,871,621 78.9% $897,613 $15,662,620 5.7% No 

Healthcare OPEB $0 $26,764,283 0.0% $2,181,584 13.9% YES 
Total $21,994,166 $54,635,904 $3,079,197 $15,662,620 19.7% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the City of 
Woodhaven, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 19, 2018. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o On July 1, 2012, the City stopped offering retiree healthcare to all new employees hired 

after that date. All new employees hired after July 1, 2012 are enrolled in a Health Care 
Savings Account. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City assigned $1.2M of fund balance for the purpose of retiree obligations. These 

funds will be placed into a qualified trust in order to receive, invest, and accumulate 
additional assets for future obligations. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The most recent change in healthcare coverage took place in October of 2016 with 

another likely to occur during contract negotiations in 2020. The City also defaulted to 
the hard-cap per PA 152 at that time. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City will have a qualified trust established by 2019. Contributions are estimated to 

be around $100,000 per year. All contributions will be in addition to paying the full 
retiree health care premiums. Since the plan is closed, it is projected that the City will 
reach the 40% funded level on or before 2044. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None noted. 



 
 

   
   

 
   

      
     
     

   

     

  
      

  
    

 
    

 
   

     
    

   
 

  
   

    
   

    
 

  
   

   
    

  
  

 
  

    
    

    
 

   
    

   

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Woodhaven 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822320 

Plan size: 101 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 55 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 46 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates it will reach the PA 202 established funding 

level of 40% funded through an internal analysis; however, the analysis does not 
account for healthcare inflation or other economic and demographic changes in its 
calculation. As a result, actuarial accrued liabilities (AAL) remain stagnant within the 
analysis. Over a thirty-year period, the City projects the liability to remain equal to their 
most recent valuation issued by GRS Consulting, which was as of June 30, 2017. The City 
also assumes a 7.00% investment return on their trust assets to meet the 40% funded 
ratio. Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 40% by 2044; 

however, the local unit’s analysis did not account for changing liabilities in its 
calculation. Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment according to the long-term budget forecast. However, the city’s 
internal analysis does not account for changing liabilities in its calculation. As a result, 
the city’s contribution amount may be greater than $100,000 in addition to retiree 
premiums to achieve the minimum funding ratio requirement. This may become a 
greater portion of the local government’s budget than currently projected. 



 
 

   
   

 
 

 

 
    

 
    

    
    

  
      

       

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Woodhaven 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822320 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Woodhaven’s internal analysis demonstrates asset accumulation using an investment return 
assumption of 7.00%. The analysis shows the system reaching 40% funded in 2044; however, the 
analysis does not account for changing liabilities over time. The City of Woodhaven intends to guard 
against increasing liabilities by having a closed plan to new employees, as of 2012. Furthermore, the 
city’s analysis shows increased liabilities compared to their fiscal year 2017 audited financial statements, 
based on an updated valuation from GRS Retirement Consulting Group. The city does not provide 
actuarial documentation validating the updated asset or liability figures used in the internal analysis. 
According to the city’s analysis, assets will increase to $13.4 million by 2044 while liabilities will remain 
at the actuarially determined amount of $31.4 million (as of June 30, 2017). 



 
 

   
   

 

 

  

  

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Woodhaven 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822320 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
 

    
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

      
        

   
  

 

    
    

    
    

     
 

   
       

         
 

  
  

 

    
   

   
  

   
     

 
 

  
   

  

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wyandotte 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822330 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $65,156,206 $94,331,393 69.1% $4,224,526 16.3% No 
Healthcare OPEB $2,138,550 $129,130,793 1.7% $10,440,580 $25,864,003 40.4% Yes 
Total $67,294,756 $233,462,086 28.8% 14,665,106 56.7% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by the City of 
Wyandotte which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on January 16, 2019. If 
approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for compliance per Public 
Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o Between 2008-13, the City collectively bargained the elimination of retiree healthcare 

benefits for new employees. Treasury was unable to verify. 
o Terms of coverage changed resulting in lower premium costs, new programs have 

resulted in lower costs and retiree co-pays have increased. Treasury was unable to 
verify. 

• Plan Funding: 
o Since 2006, the City has transferred money from the City’s General fund to the Retiree 

Health Care Trust. The balance is $2.375 million. Treasury was unable to verify. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None listed. 

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design: 
o The City will be negotiating with three labor unions that have collective bargaining 

agreements that expire 12/31/18. Treasury was unable to verify. 

• Plan Funding: 
o The City will begin contributing an additional $38,020 to the Retiree Health Care Trust 

fund. 

• Other Considerations: 
o None listed. 



 
 

    
   

 
  

     
   
   

   

    

  
      

  
     

    

  
   

     
     

 
 

  
    

     
 

     
  

 
  

     
    

    
     

  
    

 

 

      
      

  
   

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wyandotte 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822330 

Plan size: 420 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 268 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 11 
• Active employees: 141 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 

is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates the retirement 

system will reach 40% funded.  Based on other information presented in the corrective 
action plan, we have determined the plan may be able to reach a funded ratio of 40% if 
the plan’s assumptions remain accurate. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 40% by 2048; 

however, the local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates this. 
Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. However, our review indicates the plan’s 
annual required contribution as a percentage of general fund operating revenues is 
40.4%. This reflects a significant portion of the local government’s budget. 

Supplemental Information: 

The City of Wyandotte included a scenario from GRS in which the City would achieve the 40% funded 
ratio through a combination of their regular payments and an additional annual contribution. As stated 
in the November 9, 2018 letter from James D. Anderson of GRS, the projections in this scenario use the 
same assumptions as the September 30, 2015 valuation.  The assumed rate of return is 7.00%.  If the 



 
 

    
   

 
    

       
      

  

  

 

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
City of Wyandotte 

OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Primary Unit 822330 

rate of return remains 7.00% throughout and, all other assumptions remain, the Trust would have a 
funded ratio of exactly 40.0% on September 30, 2048. Based on data provided benefits payments 
expected to increase by 52% between 2019 and 2036 (an average of 3% a year). 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• None noted. 



 
  

   
  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
  

    
       
        

      
     

       

     
      

      
     

 

    
    

   
 

    
    

 
 

   
   

 

    
   

 
   

    
 

  
   

  

Treasury Recommendation 
Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 827502 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $2,726,029 $2,142,052 127.3% $0 $511,398 0.0% Yes 
Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Previous Recommendation: In December 2018, Treasury recommended a disapproval of the corrective 
action plan for the Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority and the Municipal Stability Board 
concurred. The disapproval recommendation was issued because, upon initial review, the corrective 
action plan did not appear to include governing body approval as required. However, Treasury is now in 
receipt of governing body approval for the plan. As a result, Treasury is now asking the Board to 
reconsider the plan for Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the pension corrective action plan submitted by Grosse Pointes 
Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on 
November 14, 2018. If approved by the Board, Treasury and the Board will continue to monitor them for 
compliance per Public Act 202 of 2017 and implementation of their corrective action plan. 

Changes Made: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o The Authority closed the system and MERS requires the Authority to maintain a funding

ratio of at least 120%.

• Plan Funding:
o The Authority was not required to contribute in 2017 as the closed system met the

threshold level of funding.

• Other Considerations:
o None listed.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o None listed.

• Plan Funding:
o None listed.

• Other Considerations
o None listed.



 
  

   
  
 

  

      
   
   

 

   

     

   
   

    
 

  
   

   
  

      
  

    
 

  
      

   
 

 

  

Treasury Recommendation 
Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 827502 

Plan size: 16 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 16 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 0 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local government has demonstrated through supporting documentation that is has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60% funded. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The corrective action plan demonstrates through supporting documentation that it has 

already reached the PA 202 established funding level of 60%. 
• Legal and Feasible: 

o In section 7 of the corrective action plan template, the local unit confirms that the plan 
is legal and feasible because the plan follows all applicable laws, the actions listed are 
feasible, and the plan is approved by the governing body. 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the annual 
required contribution payment according to the long-term budget forecast. 



 
  

   
  
 

 

   
     

    

  

 

 

  

    
      

 
  

Treasury Recommendation 
Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority 

Pension Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 
Non-Primary Unit 827502 

Supplemental Information: 

Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal did not submit their annual report (form 5572) within six months 
of their yearend as required by P.A. 202 of 2017.  Per the documentation provided in their CAP 
submission they would not have triggered if they filled the report as they are 127% funded. 

Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority included: 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• The CEFD reached out to Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority: They provided a 
signed, board-approved CAP as well as minutes from the governing board. 



 
   

   
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

    
 

         
        

         
  

     
         

      
   

    

 

    
     

     
  

 
   

    
 

  
  

 

    
      

  
  

   
          

  
 

  
   

 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Recommendation 
Cadillac City Housing Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 837511 

Name of 
Systems 

Type of 
System 

Assets Liabilities Funded 
Ratio 

ADC Revenues ADC/Revenue CAP 
required? 

MERS Pension $563,098 $666,059 84.5% $20,330 2.1% No 
Healthcare OPEB $0 $37,618 0.0% $5,310 $972,808 0.5% Yes 
Total $563,098 $703,677 $25,640 $972,808 2.6% 

Source: Retirement Report 2017, Audited Financial Statements 

Staff Recommendation: Disapproval of the OPEB corrective action plan submitted by Cadillac City 
Housing Commission, which was received by the Municipal Stability Board (the Board) on December 
19, 2018. If denied, the Cadillac City Housing Commission will receive a detailed letter from the Board 
listing the reasons for disapproval. Cadillac City Housing Commission will have 60 days from the date 
of the notification to address the reason for disapproval and resubmit a corrective action plan for 
approval. 

Changes Made: 
• Modern Plan Design:

o As of December 2008, the policy no longer covers retiree health insurance benefits.
There is only one employee remaining who is eligible for this benefit. Treasury was
unable to confirm this.

• Plan Funding:
o None noted.

• Other Considerations:
o None noted.

Prospective Changes: 

• Modern Plan Design:
o The local unit created a new Retiree Health Care Vehicle account with MERS, adopted

on November 19, 2018.

• Plan Funding:
o The local unit says they will fund the cost of their one remaining eligible employee at

100%.

• Other Considerations:
o None noted.



 
   

   
  
 

  

     
   
   

 
 

   

   
 

  
    

    
    

  

    

  
    

     
     

 
 

  
   

     
   

     
  

   

  
  

 

 

      
  

   
     

Treasury Recommendation 
Cadillac City Housing Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 837511 

Plan size: 8 members 

• Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 3 
• Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 0 
• Active employees: 5 

Corrective Action Plan Criteria: 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are met: 

• Affordable: 
o The local unit confirms in section 5 of the corrective action plan template that the 

corrective actions listed will allow for the local unit to make, at a minimum, the retiree 
premium payment, as well as the normal cost payment for all new hires (if applicable) 
according to the long-term budget forecast. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria are partially met: 

• Underfunded Status: 
o The local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates the retirement 

system will reach 40% funded.  Based on other information presented in the corrective 
action plan, we have determined the plan may be able to reach a funded ratio of 40% if 
the plan’s assumptions remain accurate. 

• Reasonable Timeframe: 
o The administrative officer indicates the plan will achieve a funded ratio of 40% by 2019; 

however, the local unit did not provide clear documentation that demonstrates this. 
Based on other information presented in the corrective action plan, we have 
determined the local government may be able to achieve the 40% funded ratio within 
this timeframe. 

The following corrective action plan approval criteria were not met: 

• Legal and Feasible: 
o The local unit failed to attach supporting documentation indicating the corrective action 

plan was approved by the governing body. 

Supplemental Information: 

Cadillac City Housing Commission included a note to Treasury that they intend on funding their MERS 
Retiree Health Care Vehicle at 100%. They have one employee, which is an estimated cost of $37,000. 
Despite providing documentation of several “reserve” accounts, the commission failed to provide a 
document demonstrating that the MERS Retiree Health Funding Vehicle is funded at 100%. 



 
   

   
  
 

 

  

      
      

 

 

Treasury Recommendation 
Cadillac City Housing Commission 
OPEB Corrective Action Plan (CAP) 

Non-Primary Unit 837511 

The Community Engagement and Finance Division (CEFD) contact: 

• The CEFD reached out to the Cadillac City Housing Commission to discuss their CAP multiple 
times. Voicemails were left on December 18, 2018 and December 27, 2018. 



  
 

 
 

 
 

  
   

   
  

 
  

  
 

   
  

 
    

       
 

         
  

  
    

  
 

     
    

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

MUNICIPAL STABILITY BOARD 
RESOLUTION 2019-3 

PUBLIC ACT 202 OF 2017 
CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN NONCOMPLIANCE 

WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed the Protecting Local Government Retirement and 
Benefits Act, MCL 38.2801 et. seq. (the “Act”), creating the Municipal Stability Board (the “Board”) for 
the purpose of reviewing and approving corrective action plans submitted by municipalities addressing 
the underfunded status of their municipal retirement systems (the “Corrective Action Plan”); 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Treasury (“Treasury”) provides administrative services 
to the Board; 

WHEREAS, the local units of government listed on Exhibit A were notified by Treasury of their 
underfunded status pursuant to MCL 38.2805 (the “Municipalities”); 

WHEREAS, MCL 38.2810 requires the Municipalities to submit a Corrective Action Plan within 
180 days from the date underfunded status was determined; and 

WHEREAS, the Municipalities failed to submit their Corrective Action Plans to the Board by the 
180 day deadline. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board finds the Municipalities to be in 
noncompliance with the Act; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board directs the Municipalities to immediately submit 
their respective Corrective Action Plans to the Board. 

Ayes: 
Nays: 
Recused: 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 16, 2019 



 

 
 

P.O. BOX 30728 • LANSING, MICHIGAN 48909-8228 
www.michigan.gov/treasury 

4425 (Rev. 01-19) 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR  

 
STATE OF MICHIGAN 

DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY 
LANSING  

RACHAEL EUBANKS 
STATE TREASURER 

 

 
Resolution 2019-3 Exhibit A 

 
DATE:  January 19, 2018   
 
TO:    The Municipal Stability Board (the Board) 
 
FROM: Community Engagement and Finance Division, Department of Treasury 

  
SUBJECT:  Delinquent Corrective Action Plans 
 
Suggested Action: The Board motions to notify the following local units that they are in 
noncompliance with Public Act 202 of 2017 (the Act) for failure to submit a corrective action 
plan to the Board within 180 days after the determination of underfunded status: 
  
 

1. Ann Arbor Transportation Authority 
a. OPEB  

 
2. Battle Creek City Housing Commission 

a. Fail to file the Retirement System Annual Report (Form 5572) 
 

3. Bay City Housing Commission 
a. Fail to file the Retirement System Annual Report (Form 5572) 

 
4. Benzie County 

a. Fail to file the Retirement System Annual Report (Form 5572) 
 

5. Copper Country Community Mental Health Services Board 
a. OPEB 

 
6. Delta County Road Commission 

a. Pension 
 

http://www.michigan.gov/Treasury


Page 2 
 
 

7. City of Flint 
a. Pension 
b. OPEB 

 
8. Village of Lexington 

a. OPEB 
 

9. Marquette City Housing Commission 
a. Fail to file the Retirement System Annual Report (Form 5572) 

 
10. Monroe Housing Commission 

a. Fail to file the Retirement System Annual Report (Form 5572) 
 

11. Muskegon Central Dispatch 9-1-1 
a. OPEB 

 
12. City of North Muskegon 

a. OPEB 
 

13. Pathways Community Mental Health Authority 
a. Pension 
b. OPEB 

 
Corrective Action Plan Noncompliance: Per Section 10(6) of the Act, “If the board 
determines that an underfunded local unit of government is not in substantial compliance under 
this subsection, the board shall within 15 days provide notification and report to the local unit 
of government detailing the reasons for the determination of noncompliance with the 
corrective action plan. The local unit of government has 60 days from the date of the 
notification to address the determination of noncompliance.” 
 


	Municipal Stability Board Agenda 1.16.2019
	Municipal Stability Board Draft Minutes from 12.19.2018
	Treasury Update
	MSB Draft Approval CAP Single Resolution
	MSB Draft Disapproval CAP Single Resolution
	Corrective Action Plan Withdrawal Request
	Flint Charter Township

	MSB's Bylaws Resolution 2019-1
	ARTICLE I Adoption of Bylaws
	ARTICLE II Members - Term of Office
	ARTICLE III Officers and Employees
	Section 1. Officers. 
	Section 2. Chairperson. 
	Section 3. Vice-Chairperson.
	Section 4. Board Officer Vacancies.
	Section 5. Retention of Professionals.
	Section 6. Budgeting, Procurement, Personnel, and Related Management Functions.  Except as otherwise provided in the Act, the Board shall exercise its powers, duties, functions, and responsibilities under the Act independently of the State Treasurer. ...
	Section 7. Compensation.

	ARTICLE IV Meetings
	Section 1. Regular and Special Meetings.
	Section 2. Quorum. 
	Section 3. Action by the Board. 
	Section 4. Policies and Procedures. 
	Section 5. Resolutions Involving Multiple Municipalitiesy Resolutions. 
	Section 6. Manner of Voting.
	Section 7. Public Meetings.
	Section 8. Minutes.
	Section 9. Resolutions and Effective Date.

	ARTICLE V Liability of Members, Officers, and Employees
	ARTICLE VI Miscellaneous Provisions
	Section 1. Fiscal Year. 
	Section 2. Execution of Documents.
	Section 3. Conflict of Interest.  
	Section 4. Conflict with the Act.
	Section 5. Ethical Duties. 

	ARTICLE VII Amendment and Suspension of Bylaws
	Section 1. Amendment.
	Section 2. Suspension.


	Corrective Action Plan Extension Requests
	Receipt of Corrective Action Plans
	Michigan Works! Region B Consortium OPEB: Retirement Health Care
	City of Benton Harbor Pension: Municipal Employee’s Retirement System of Michigan – MERS
	City of Battle Creek Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan
	Wayne County Airport Authority OPEB: Wayne County Airport Authority Retirement Health Benefit System
	City of Riverview OPEB: City of Riverview Retiree Health Care Benefits
	Saginaw City Housing Commission Pension: Municipal Employee's Retirement System of Michigan
	Saginaw City Housing Commission OPEB: Saginaw Housing Commission Retirement Benefits Self-funded
	Otsego County Road Commission Pension: MERS
	Otsego County Road Commission  OPEB: Otsego County Road Commission
	City of Mount Clemens OPEB: City of Mount Clemens Retiree Health Care Trust
	Saline Area Fire Department OPEB: Corrective Action Plan – 2017
	Community Mental Health Authority of Clinton, Eaton, Ingham Counties Pension: Clinton Eaton Ingham CMH
	City of Essexville OPEB: Essexville Retiree Health Care Benefits
	City of Dearborn Heights OPEB: Dearborn Heights Retiree Health Plan
	West Iron County Sewer Authority Pension: MERS
	Eastern Upper Peninsula Transportation Authority Pension: Municipal Employees’ Retirement System
	Marquette County Road Commission  
Pension: MERS Pension Plan
	Marquette County Road Commission OPEB: Retiree Health Plan
	City of Taylor Pension: General Government Employees’ Retirement System
	City of Taylor Pension: Police and Fire Retirement System
	City of Taylor OPEB: Taylor OPEB System
	Presque Isle County Road Commission Pension: Municipal Employees Retirement System
	City of Montrose OPEB: Union and OPEB: Non-Union
	City of Crystal Falls OPEB: City of Crystal Falls OPEB
	Bloomfield Township Public Library OPEB: Bloomfield Township Other Post-Employment Benefits Program
	Ottawa County Road Commission OPEB: Retiree Healthcare Benefit Plan
	Montcalm County Road Commission Pension: Montcalm County Road Commission - MERS
	Montcalm County Road Commission OPEB: Montcalm County Road Commission Retiree Health Insurance
	Lansing City Housing Commission OPEB: None
	Capital Area Transportation Authority OPEB: Retiree Healthcare Benefit Plan
	City of Center Line Pension: MERS – City of Center Line
	City of Center Line OPEB: OPEB Trust
	Jackson District Library OPEB: Jackson District Library Retiree Medical Plan
	Ontonagon County Road Commission: Pension: MERS

	Resolution 2019-2 Approvals and Disapprovals of Corrective Action Plans
	MSB Appendix A for Resolution 2019-2
	City of Hastings OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	Village of Union City OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Davison Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Davison OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	Interurban Transit Partnership Pension Amalgamated Trust Treasury Recommendation
	Interurban Transit Partnership Pension Plan Treasury Recommendation
	Luce County Pension Treasury Recommendation
	Luce County OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	Mackinac County Road Commission OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	New Baltimore OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Warren City Employees' OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Warren Police and Fire OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	Newaygo County Road Commission OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Oak Park Employees Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Oak Park Public Safety Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Oak Park General Employees OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Oak Park Public Safety OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Oak Park District Court OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	St. Clair County Road Commission OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Milan Pension Treasury Recommendation
	Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority Pension Treasury Recommendation
	Redford Charter Township General Employees OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	Redford Charter Township Police and Fire OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Highland Park General Employees Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Highland Park Police and Fire Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Highland Park Public Safety Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Lincoln Park MERS Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Lincoln Park Police and Fire Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Lincoln Park Police and Fire OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Wayne Pension Treasury Recommendation
	City of Wayne OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Woodhaven OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	City of Wyandotte OPEB Treasury Recommendation
	Grosse Pointes Clinton Refuse Disposal Authority Pension Treasury Recommendation
	Cadillac City Housing Commission OPEB Treasury Recommendation


	Resolution 2019-3 Corrective Action Plan Noncompliance
	Exhibit A: Deliquent Corrective Action Plans




